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has failed, and that for the same reasons that 
disentitled it to rely upon the exclusionary 
clause 6. 

I have already alluded to the trial Judge's find-
ing that the insured in deliberately raising the 
lawn mower "knew or ought to have known that 
this act on his part was a very dangerous one". In 
applying this finding, as he did, to the excepting 
clause in s. 2, the trial Judge exhibited the very 
fallacy to which I referred in dealing with the 
exclusionary clause of the policy. The New Bruns-
wick Court of Appeal properly disposed of the 
matter by pointing out that injuries which arise 
out of the commission of a criminal act are not, by 
reason of that fact alone, loss or damage that was 
intentionally brought about. 

In my opinion, the insurer has not brought itself 
within the exclusion of the policy nor within the 
exclusion of s. 2, and I would, accordingly, dismiss 
the appeal with costs. 

The judgment of Martland, Judson, Ritchie, 
Spence, Dickson and de Grandpré JJ. was deliv-
ered by 

RITCHIE J.—This is an appeal by the Co-opera-
tive Fire & Casualty Company from a judgment 
of the Appeal Division of the Supreme Court of 
New Brunswick allowing an appeal from a judg-
ment of Mr. Justice Pichette of the Queen's Bench 
Division, whereby he had dismissed the claim of 
the respondent for indemnity under the terms of a 
policy of insurance issued by the appellant. The 
circumstances giving rise to this appeal are some-
what extraordinary and it is perforce necessary to 
recite them at some length. 

The respondent, Edmond Saindon, occupied a 
trailer which was set on a plot of land at Clair, 
New Brunswick, and in the afternoon of July 22, 
1972, he was using a gasoline driven power lawn 
mower to mow a strip of lawn lying between a 
fence which enclosed his trailer and a gravel road- 

injuria. Il incombe à l'assureur sous le régime de 
l'art. 2, non moins qu'il ne lui incombe sous le 
régime de la clause d'exclusion 6 de la police, de 
prouver qu'il y a eu semblable perte ou dommage. 
A cet égard il n'a pas réussi, et cela pour les 
mêmes raisons que celles qui l'empêchent de se 
fonder sur la clause d'exclusion 6. 

J'ai déjà évoqué la conclusion du premier juge 
selon laquelle l'assuré en levant délibérément la 
tondeuse «savait ou aurait dû savoir que ce geste 
de sa part était très dangereux». En appliquant 
cette conclusion, comme il l'a fait, à la clause 
d'exception qui se trouve à l'art. 2, le premier juge 
a précisément commis l'erreur dont j'ai fait men-
tion en traitant de la clause d'exclusion de la 
police. La Cour d'appel du Nouveau-Brunswick a 
eu raison de trancher la question en faisant remar-
quer que les blessures qui découlent de la perpétra-
tion d'un acte criminel ne sont pas, de ce seul fait, 
une perte ou un dommage provoqués intentionnel-
lement. 

À mon avis, l'assureur n'a pas prouvé qu'il 
pouvait se prévaloir de l'exclusion de la police, ou 
de l'exclusion de l'art. 2, et, par conséquent, je 
rejetterais l'appel avec dépens. 

Le jugement des juges Martland, Judson, Rit-
chie, Spence, Dickson et de Grandpré a été rendu 
par 

LE JUGE RITCHIE—Le présent pourvoi est 
interjeté par la Co-operative Fire & Casualty 
Company à l'encontre d'un arrêt de la Division 
d'appel de la Cour suprême du Nouveau-Bruns-
wick qui a accueilli un appel d'un jugement du 
juge Pichette de la Division du Banc de la Reine 
rejetant la demande d'indemnité faite par l'intimé 
sous le régime d'une police d'assurance émise par 
l'appelante. Les circonstances qui ont donné lieu à 
cet appel sortent quelque peu de l'ordinaire, et il 
est forcément nécessaire de les relater assez 
longuement. 

L'intimé, Edmond Saindon, habitait une rou-
lotte placée sur un terrain situé à Clair (Nouveau-
Brunswick) et dans l'après-midi du 22 juillet 1972, 
il s'occupait, à l'aide d'une tondeuse à gazon mue 
par un moteur à essence, de tondre une bande de 
gazon située entre une clôture qui entourait sa 
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way on the other side of which was a dwelling 
house owned and occupied by Armand Sirois. 
During the course of the afternoon while the 
respondent was still cutting the lawn, he observed 
Sirois in the doorway of the garage at the rear of 
his house and immediately accused him of cutting 
the cherry tree branches on his property. Sirois 
replied that he had not done anything of the kind 
but he inquired of his son who admitted that he 
had cut off some branches. The father and son 
returned to the backyard of their property whereu-
pon the respondent suddenly walked across to 
them, pushing the lawn mower which was still 
running and when he got to the middle of the 
roadway separating the properties, he picked up 
the lawn mower shoulder high and moved across 
the roadway to the grass by the side of the Sirois 
dwelling and directed it towards Sirois' face, at 
which time the latter says: 

... Edmund Saindon was close to me. I was scared. He 
turned around. I put my hands to try to protect myself 
and I had my hands cut. 

The result of this incident was that the revolving 
blades of the lawnmower struck both Sirois' hands, 
severing the fingers from his left hand and injuring 
his right wrist. Having caused this damage, Sain-
don returned with his lawnmower and continued to 
mow the lawn as he said he only had a little strip 
to finish. Saindon's explanation of his extraordi-
nary activities was that he raised the lawnmower 
into Sirois' face in order to scare him. Sirois 
brought an action against Saindon which was tried 
before Mr. Justice Pichette who awarded him 
$39,942.40 by way of special and general 
damages. 

Saindon joined the Co-operative Fire and Casu-
alty Company as a third party claiming indemnity 
under their Comprehensive Personal Liability 
Policy covering his premises in the Village of 
Clair. 

The indemnity thus provided was described in 
the following terms in the policy: 
COVERAGE A—(1) Comprehensive Personal Liabili-
ty: To pay on behalf of the Insured all sums which the  

roulotte et un chemin de gravier de l'autre côté 
duquel se trouvait une maison habitée par son 
propriétaire, Armand Sirois. Au cours de l'après-
midi, alors qu'il était encore occupé à tondre la 
pelouse, l'intimé remarqua Sirois dans l'encadre-
ment de la porte de son garage, à l'arrière de sa 
maison, et l'accusa sur-le-champ de couper les 
branches de cerisier sur sa propriété. Sirois répon-
dit qu'il n'avait rien fait de tel, mais il s'enquit 
auprès de son fils, qui admit avoir coupé quelques 
branches. Le père et le fils retournèrent dans la 
cour arrière de leur propriété, sur quoi l'intimé 
marcha soudainement vers eux en poussant la 
tondeuse à gazon qui était encore en marche et, 
rendu au milieu du chemin séparant les deux 
propriétés, souleva la tondeuse à la hauteur des 
épaules puis, traversant le chemin, s'avança sur 
l'herbe à côté de la demeure des Sirois et tourna la 
tondeuse en direction du visage de Sirois; ce der-
nier déclare qu'à ce moment-là: 
[TRADUCTION] ... Edmond Saindon était près de moi. 
J'avais peur. Il pivota sur lui-même. J'ai essayé de me 
protéger avec les mains et je me suis fait couper les 
mains. 

Le résultat de cet incident fut que les lames 
tournoyantes de la tondeuses frappèrent les deux 
mains de Sirois, sectionnant les doigts de la main 
gauche et blessant le poignet droit. Après avoir 
causé ces blessures, Saindon s'en retourna avec sa 
tondeuse et continua de tondre la pelouse puisque, 
dit-il, il ne lui restait qu'une étroite bande à termi-
ner. L'explication fournie par •Saindon au sujet de 
son étrange conduite est qu'il a soulevé la tondeuse 
vers le visage de Sirois afin de l'effrayer. Sirois 
intenta contre Saindon une poursuite qui fut jugée 
par le juge Pichette; celui-ci accorda à Sirois 
$39,942.40 à titre de dommages-intérêts généraux 
et spéciaux. 

Saindon mit en cause la Co-operative Fire & 
Casualty Company et lui réclama une indemnité 
en vertu de sa police d'assurance générale de res-
ponsabilité personnelle protégeant sa propriété 
dans le village de Clair. 

La police d'assurance décrit en ces termes l'in-
demnité prévue dans ce cas: 
[TRADUCTION] COUVERTURE A—(1) Assurance 
générale de responsabilité personnelle: Payera au nom 
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Insured shall become obligated to pay by reason of the 
liability imposed by law upon the Insured, or the liabili-
ty of others, assumed by the Insured under any written 
agreement relating to the premises, for damages, includ-
ing damages for care and loss of services, because of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

The learned trial judge, in dismissing the claim 
against the insurer, made the following findings: 

In this case, the Defendant admits that the raising by 
him of the lawnmower in motion in the face of the 
Plaintiff was a deliberate intentional act.... True it is 
he said he did so to scare the Plaintiff but the fact 
remains that the Defendant knew or ought to have 
known that this act on his part was a very dangerous 
one. In my opinion his conduct was criminal. The proper 
interpretation of this section of our Insurance Act has 
always been to the effect that where injuries are caused 
to a Third Party by a deliberate calculated act, the 
Assured cannot recover indemnity from his Insurer. On 
this ground of its Defence, the Third Party is, in my 
opinion, entitled to succeed. 

The provisions of the Insurance Act to which the 
learned trial judge referred are those contained in 
s.2 of the Insurance Act, being c.6 of the Acts of 
New Brunswick 1968, which provides, in part, as 
follows: 

Public Policy Rule 

2. Unless the contract otherwise provides, a violation of 
any criminal or other law in force in the Province or 
elsewhere shall not, ipso facto, render unenforceable a 
claim for indemnity under a contract of insurance 
except where the violation is committed by the insured, 
or by another person with the consent of the insured, 
with intent to bring about loss or damage; .. . 

One of the exclusions (No. 6) governing the 
insurance coverage in question, provided that the 
coverage did not apply "to bodily injury or person-
al damage caused intentionally by or at the direc-
tion of an insured", and in finding that the insurer 
was relieved of liability by virtue of this provision, 
the learned trial judge said: 

There can be no doubt in my mind that the Defendant 
deliberately raised the lawn mower in the face of the  

de l'assuré toute somme que l'assuré sera obligé de payer 
en raison de la responsabilité imposée à l'assuré par la 
loi, ou de la responsabilité d'autres personnes assumée 
par l'assuré en vertu de tout engagement écrit ayant 
trait à la propriété de l'assuré, pour tout dommage, y 
compris le dommage découlant de soins ou de pertes de 
services, dû à des blessures corporelles ou à des domma-
ges à la propriété. 

En rejetant la réclamation faite contre l'assu-
reur, le savant juge de première instance tira les 
conclusions suivantes: 

[TRADUCTION] Dans cette affaire, le défendeur admet 
qu'en soulevant la tondeuse en marche en direction du 
visage du demandeur, il a posé un geste réfléchi et 
intentionnel. ... Il est vrai qu'il a dit avoir fait cela dans 
le but d'effrayer le demandeur, mais il n'en est pas 
moins vrai que le défendeur savait ou aurait dû savoir 
que ce geste de sa part était très dangereux. A mon avis, 
sa conduite était criminelle. La juste interprétation de 
cet article de notre Loi sur l'assurance a toujours été que 
lorsque des blessures sont causées à un tiers par un acte 
intentionnel et réfléchi, l'assuré n'a pas droit à une 
indemnisation de son assureur. A mon avis, sur ce motif 
de sa défense, la mise-en-cause doit avoir gain de cause. 

Les .dispositions de la Loi sur les assurances 
auxquelles le savant juge de première instance fait 
allusion sont contenues dans l'art. 2 de la Loi sur 
les assurances, c. 6 des Lois de 1968 du Nouveau-
Brunswick, article qui se lit, en partie, comme suit: 

Règle d'ordre public 

2. Sauf disposition contraire dans le contrat, la violation 
de toute loi criminelle ou autre, en vigueur dans la 
province ou ailleurs, ne rend pas ipso facto inexécutoire 
une demande de règlement aux termes d'un contrat 
d'assurance, sauf lorsque la violation est commise par 
l'assuré ou par toute autre personne avec son consente-
ment, avec l'intention de provoquer une perte ou un 
dommage; .. . 

L'une des clauses d'exclusion régissant cette 
police d'assurance stipule que la couverture ne 
s'applique pas [TRADUCTION] «au préjudice corpo-
rel ou personnel causé intentionnellement sur l'or-
dre d'un assuré ou par lui», et en concluant que 
l'assureur était dégagé de sa responsabilité en 
vertu de cette clause, le savant juge de première 
instance a déclaré: 

[TRADUCTION] Il ne peut y avoir aucun doute dans 
mon esprit que le défendeur a délibérément soulevé la 
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Defendant. On this third ground the Third Party, is, in 
my opinion, also entitled to succeed. 

In reversing the judgment at trial, Mr. Justice 
Limerick, speaking on behalf of the Court of 
Appeal, observed that in his opinion the exclusion 
above referred to only applied when the personal 
injury was intended and that it did not apply to the 
facts of this case, and at the conclusion of his 
reasons for judgment, after citing s.2 of the Insur-
ance Act, supra, he made the following findings: 

As the injury to the Plaintiff was not intentionally 
inflicted, but was the unforeseen result of a criminal act, 
the effect of section 2 above is to negate the `Public 
Policy Rule' and as the insurer in the contract excludes 
only personal injuries intentionally inflicted and does not 
exclude injuries otherwise arising out of the commission 
of a criminal act, the insurer is not relieved of its 
liability on the ground of public policy. 

The finding of the Appeal Division that the 
respondent had not intentionally inflicted the 
damage sustained by Sirois is based on its accept-
ance of the respondent's evidence to the effect that 
he had only intended to scare his victim and that 
the lawnmower tipped exposing the blades as the 
respondent lifted it up close to Sirois' face. 

The respondent's action did indeed have the 
result of "scaring" Sirois to such extent that he 
raised his hands in an automatic gesture to shield 
his face. The fact that the lawnmower tipped when 
put to such an unnatural use was an eminently 
foreseeable development and one which the 
respondent ought to have known to be a part of the 
danger to which he was exposing his neighbour. 
The immediate cause of Sirois' injury was a com-
bination of his gesture of self protection and the 
tipping of the lawnmower but, in my opinion, these 
two circumstances flowed directly from the 
respondent's deliberate act in raising the lawn-
mower as he did, which was the dominant cause of 
the occurrence. I agree with the learned trial judge 
that this constituted criminal conduct which 
caused damage and the fact that the "scare" 
intended by the respondent had more serious  

tondeuse â gazon vers le visage du défendeur. A mon 
avis, la mise-en-cause doit également avoir gain de cause 
sur ce troisième motif. 

Infirmant le jugement du tribunal de première 
instance, M. le juge Limerick, parlant au nom de 
la Cour, fait observer qu'à son avis la clause 
d'exclusion mentionnée ci-dessus ne s'applique que 
lorsque les blessures corporelles sont causées inten-
tionnellement et qu'elle ne s'applique pas aux faits 
de cette affaire, et en conclusion des motifs de son 
jugement, après avoir cité l'art. 2 de la Loi sur les 
assurances, précité, il tire les conclusions sui-
vantes: 

[TRADUCTION] Étant donné que la blessure subie par 
le demandeur ne fut pas infligée intentionnellement, 
mais fut le résultat imprévisible d'un acte criminel, 
l'article 2 ci-dessus a pour effet de rendre inopérante la 
Règle d'ordre public, et étant donné que l'assureur 
n'exclut dans son contrat que les blessures personnelles 
infligées intentionnellement et n'exclut pas Ies blessures 
résultant autrement de la perpétration d'un acte crimi-
nel, l'assureur n'est pas dégagé de sa responsabilité en 
excipant la Règle d'ordre public. 

La conclusion de la Division d'appel, selon 
laquelle l'intimé n'a pas intentionnellement infligé 
le dommage subi par Sirois, est fondé sur l'accep-
tation du témoignage de l'intimé, à l'effet qu'il a 
seulement voulu effrayer sa victime et que la ton-
deuse a basculé, exposant les lames, au moment où 
l'intimé la soulevait tout près du visage de Sirois. 

Le geste de l'intimé eut réellement pour résultat 
d'«effrayer» Sirois, à tel point qu'il leva les bras 
dans un geste instinctif pour protéger son visage. 
Le fait que la tondeuse a basculé lorsqu'utilisée de 
façon si peu naturelle constituait une éventualité 
éminemment prévisible et l'intimé aurait dû savoir 
qu'elle faisait parti des dangers auxquels il expo-
sait son voisin. La cause immédiate de la blessure 
subie par Sirois est une conjugaison de son geste 
de protection et du basculement de la tondeuse 
mais, à mon avis, ces deux circonstances découlent 
directement du geste délibéré posé par l'intimé en 
soulevant la tondeuse comme il l'a fait, geste qui 
fut la cause dominante de l'incident. Je suis d'ac-
cord avec le savant juge de première instance qu'il 
s'agissait là d'une conduite criminelle qui a causé 
des dommages, et le fait que la «peur» voulue par 
l'intimé a eu des conséquences plus graves que 
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consequences than he may have anticipated does 
not alter the fact that it was his threatening ges-
ture which caused the damage. I am accordingly 
of opinion that the respondent's actions were in 
breach of the public policy rule as expressed in s.2 
of the New Brunswick Insurance Act. 

In the course of the argument before us counsel 
for the appellant referred to the judgment of the 
Court of Appeal in England in Gray et al. v. 
Barr" (Prudential Insurance Company Limited, 
Third Party) which while in no way binding on 
this Court, nevertheless appears to me to be most 
apt and persuasive in the circumstances. In that 
case the appellant, who was covered by an insur-
ance policy with the respondent indemnifying him 
for all sums which "he shall become legally liable 
to pay as damages in respect of bodily injuries to 
any person caused by accident", had entered a 
farm house with a loaded shot gun and fired a shot 
into the ceiling with the intention of frightening 
the occupant who then grappled with him as a 
result of which the insured fell down stairs break-
ing the stock of the gun as he fell and involuntarily 
firing the second barrel which killed the occupant. 
The insured's claim against his insurer was based 
on the contention that the occupant's death was 
accidently caused and in the course of his reasons 
for judgment Lord Denning, M.R. posed the ques-
tion in the following terms: 

But which of these acts was the cause of the death? 
Was it the deliberate act of Mr. Barr approaching Mr. 
Gray with a loaded gun? Or was it the fall and subse-
quent discharge of the gun? The immediate cause was 
the second act when the gun was accidentally dis-
charged: but the dominant cause was the first act when 
Mr. Barr went up the stairs with a loaded gun... . 

Lord Denning resolved this question in terms of 
what was the "proximate cause" and adopted what 
was said by Lord Shaw in Leyland Shipping Co. v. 
Norwich Union Fire Insurance Society, 12  at p. 
369: 

11  [1971] 2 All E. R. 949. 
12 [1918] A.C. 350. 

celles qu'il avait prévues ne change rien au fait que 
c'est son geste de menace qui a causé le dommage. 
En conséquence, je suis d'avis que les actes de 
l'intimé constituaient une violation de la Règle 
d'ordre public énoncée à l'art. 2 de la Loi sur les 
assurances du Nouveau-Brunswick. 

Au cours de sa plaidoirie, l'avocat de l'appelante 
nous a cité un arrêt de la Cour d'appel d'Angle-
terre, rendu dans l'affaire Gray et al v. Barr" 
(Prudential Insurance Company Limited, mise-en 
cause), arrêt qui, bien qu'il ne lie aucunement 
cette Cour, me semble néanmoins tout à fait juste 
et persuasif devant les faits. Dans cette affaire-là, 
l'appelant, qui était protégé par une police d'assu-
rance émise par l'intimée pour l'indemniser de 
toute somme [TRADUCTION] «qu'il deviendra 
obligé par la loi de payer à titre de dommages-
intérêts pour les blessures corporelles infligées 
accidentellement à toute personne», avait pénétré 
dans une maison de ferme armé d'un fusil chargé 
et avait tiré une balle dans le plafond avec l'inten-
tion d'effrayer l'occupant; celui-ci en était alors 
venu aux prises avec l'appelant avec le résultat que 
l'assuré avait dégringolé l'escalier, brisant en tom-
bant la crosse du fusil et tirant involontairement le 
second coup qui tua l'occupant. La réclamation 
déposée par l'assuré contre son assureur était 
fondée sur l'avancé que la mort de l'occupant avait 
été causée accidentellement et dans les motifs de 
son jugement, Lord Denning définit la question 
dans les termes suivants: 

[TRADUCTION] Mais lequel de ces actes fut la cause 
du décès? Le geste délibéré de M. Barr marchant sur M. 
Gray avec un fusil chargé? Ou la chute et la décharge 
du fusil qui s'ensuivit? La cause immédiate fut le second 
acte, lorsque le fusil fut accidentellement déchargé; mais 
la cause dominante fut le premier acte, lorsque M. Barr 
monta l'escalier avec un fusil chargé... . 

Lord Denning résout cette question en fonction de 
ce qui constituait la «cause prochaine» et fait siens 
les termes employés par lord Shaw dans l'arrêt 
Leyland Shipping Co. v. Norwich Union Fire In-
surance Society 12,  à la p. 369: 

11  [1971] 2 All E.R. 949. 
12  [1918] A.C. 350. 
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What does `proximate' here mean? To treat proxi-
mate as if it was the cause which is proximate in time 
is ... out of the question. The cause which is truly 
proximate is that which is proximate in efficiency. That 
efficiency may have been preserved although other 
causes may meantime have sprung up which have yet 
not destroyed it, or truly impaired it, and it may culmi-
nate in a result of which it still remains the real efficient 
cause to which the event can be ascribed. 

On this quotation Lord Denning commented: 

Ever since that case in 1918 it has been settled in 
insurance law that the `cause' is that which is the 
effective or dominant cause of the occurrence, or, as it is 
sometimes put, what is in substance the cause, even 
though it is more remote in point of time, such cause to 
be determined by common sense:.. . 

And in the same case the learned Master of the 
Rolls, dealing with the question of public policy, 
adopted the following language which had been 
employed by the learned trial judge: 

The logical test, in my judgment, is whether the 
person seeking the indemnity was guilty of deliberate, 
intentional and unlawful violence or threats of violence. 
If he was, and death resulted therefrom, then, however 
unintended the final death of the victim may have been, 
the court should not entertain a claim for indemnity. 

I adopt as being particularly pertinent to the 
circumstances here disclosed the following lan-
guage employed by Lord Phillimore in the same 
case at p. 969: 

No doubt the word `accident' involves something fortui-
tous or unexpected, but the mere fact that a wilful and 
culpable act—which is both reckless and unlawful—has 
a result which the actor did not intend surely does not, if 
that result was one which he ought reasonably to have 
anticipated, entitle him to say that it was an accident. 

It is true that in Gray's case the liability of the 
insurance company depended on whether or not 
the fatal shot was fired by "accident" within the 
meaning of its policy, whereas the liability of the 
appellant in this case depends on whether the 
damage sustained by Sirois was "caused intention-
ally by or at the direction of the insured", but in 

[TRADUCTION] Que signifie en l'espèce le mot «pro-
chaine»? Il est hors de question... de considérer que la 
cause prochaine est celle qui est la plus rapprochée dans 
le temps. La cause qui est réellement prochaine est celle 
qui est prochaine en efficacité. Cette efficacité peut 
avoir été conservée même si d'autres causes peuvent 
avoir surgi entretemps sans toutefois la détruire ou 
réellement l'affaiblir, et elle peut aboutir à un résultat 
dont elle demeure toujours la véritable cause efficiente, 
celle à laquelle l'événement peut être attribué. 

Lord Denning commente ce passage en ces termes: 

Depuis cet arrêt de 1918, il a toujours été décidé en 
matière réelle d'assurances que la `cause' est celle qu'on 
peut considérer la cause efficiente ou dominante de 
l'événement ou, comme on l'énonce parfois, ce qui en 
substance constitue la cause, même si elle est plus 
éloignée dans le temps, ladite cause devant être détermi-
née par le bons sens; ... 

Et dans la même affaire, le savant Maître des 
rôles, traitant de la question de l'ordre public, 
adopte l'énoncé suivant formulé par le savant juge 
de première instance: 

[TRADUCTION] A mon avis, la question est de savoir si 
la personne qui réclame une indemnité s'est rendue 
coupable de violence ou menace de violence délibérée, 
intentionnelle et illégale. Si elle est coupable d'un tel 
acte, et que la mort en soit résulté, si peu préméditée 
qu'ait finalement été la mort de la victime, alors la cour 
ne doit pas faire droit à la réclamation d'indemnité. 

Les paroles suivantes employées par lord Philli-
more dans la même cause à la p. 969, sont particu-
lièrement pertinentes dans les circonstances pré-
sentes, et je les fait miennes: 

[TRADUCTION] Il n'y a pas de doute que le mot 'acci-
dent' comporte quelque chose de fortuit ou d'inattendu, 
mais le simple fait qu'un acte volontaire et coupable—
qui est à la fois insouciant et illégal—produit un résultat 
qui n'était pas dans l'intention de l'auteur de cet acte, 
n'autorise sûrement pas celui-ci, si ce résultat en est un 
qu'il aurait dû raisonnablement prévoir, à affirmer qu'il 
s'agit d'un accident. 

Il est vrai que dans l'affaire Gray la responsabi-
lité de la compagnie d'assurances dépendait de la 
question de savoir si le coup de feu mortel avait été 
tiré «accidentellement» au sens de sa police, tandis 
qu'en l'espèce la responsabilité de l'appelant est 
fonction de la question de savoir si le dommage 
subi par Sirois a été «causé intentionnellement sur 



[1976] 1 R.C.S. 	CO-OPERATIVE FIRE & CAS. CO. C. SAINDON Le Juge Ritchie 	 749 

my view the issue must be determined on the 
ground that under the circumstances of this case, 
the intentional act of the respondent in raising the 
lawnmower as he did was the "cause" of the 
accident as that word is generally understood in 
the interpretation of policies of insurance. 

As I consider that the language of exclusion 6 in 
the policy relieves the appellant from liability, the 
following excerpt from the judgment of Judson J. 
in Ford Motor Co. of Canada Ltd. v. Prudential 
Assurance Co. Ltd. et a1.13, has direct application. 
After reviewing a number of cases, Judson J. said, 
at p. 545: 

The principle to be deduced is no more than this—that 
liability for the consequences of what the Court holds to 
be the proximate cause of the loss may be negatived by a 
properly framed clause of exclusion and it seems to me 
that if it is found, as a matter of construction, that the 
causes specified in the clause of exclusion apply, then it 
is of no significance whether these are referred to as 
proximate causes or simply causes. 

It will be seen that I take the view that the 
personal damage sustained by Sirois was intention-
ally caused within the meaning of exclusion No. 6 
in the policy and also that the insured's actions 
constituted a violation of the criminal law commit-
ted by him with intent to bring about loss or 
damage, although the precise damage was not 
anticipated. 

Having regard to the conclusion which I have 
reached as to the effect of s. 3 of the Insurance Act 
and exclusion No. 6 of the policy, I do not find it 
necessary to deal with the appellant's denial of 
liability on the ground that the incident did not 
occur within the boundaries of the property 
described in its comprehensive personal liability 
policy and I make no finding in this regard. 

For all these reasons I would allow this appeal, 
set aside the judgment of the Appeal Division of 

13  [1959] S.C.R. 539. 

l'ordre de l'assuré ou par lui»; mais, à mon avis, la 
question en litige doit être décidée sur le motif 
que, dans les circonstances entourant cette affaire, 
l'acte intentionnel posé par l'intimé en soulevant la 
tondeuse comme il l'a fait a été la «cause» de 
l'accident, selon le sens que l'on donne générale-
ment à ce mot dans l'interprétation des polices 
d'assurance. 

Étant donné que je considère que la clause 
d'exclusion n° 6 de la police dégage l'appelante de 
sa responsabilité, l'extrait suivant des motifs du 
juge Judson dans l'affaire Ford Motor Co. of 
Canada c. Prudential Assurance Co. Ltd. et a1. 13, 
s'applique directement. Après avoir examiné un 
certain nombre d'arrêts, le juge Judson déclare, à 
la p. 545: 
[TRADUCTION] Le principe à suivre se résume à ceci: la 
responsabilité pour les conséquences de ce que la Cour 
considère comme la cause prochaine de la perte peut 
être annulée par une clause d'exclusion adéquatement 
formulée et, à mon avis, s'il s'avère, comme question 
d'interprétation, que les causes spécifiées dans la clause 
d'exclusion s'appliquent alors il importe peu que ces 
causes soient désignées comme causes prochaines ou 
causes tout court. 

On voit que je suis d'avis que le dommage 
personnel subi par Sirois a été causé intentionnel-
lement, au sens de la clause d'exclusion n° 6 de la 
police, et aussi que les actes de l'assuré consti-
tuaient de sa part une violation d'une loi crimi-
nelle, commise avec l'intention de provoquer une 
perte ou un dommage, bien que le dommage précis 
n'ait pas été prévu. 

Compte tenu de la conclusion à laquelle je suis 
arrivé en ce qui concerne l'effet de l'art. 3 de la Loi 
sur les assurances et de la clause d'exclusion n° 6 
de la police, il ne m'apparaît pas nécessaire de 
traiter de la dénégation de responsabilité de l'appe-
lante fondée sur le motif que l'incident n'a pas eu 
lieu à l'intérieur des limites de la propriété décrite 
dans sa police d'assurance générale de responsabi-
lité personnelle, et je ne tire aucune conclusion à 
cet égard. 

Pour tous ces motifs, je suis d'avis d'accueillir le 
pourvoi, d'infirmer l'arrêt de la Division d'appel de 

13 [1959] R.C.S. 539. 
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the Supreme Court of New Brunswick and restore 
the judgment rendered at trial by Mr. Justice 
Pichette. The appellant will have its costs in this 
Court and in the Appeal Division. 

Appeal allowed with costs, judgment at trial 
restored, LASKIN C.J. and PIGEON and BEETZ 
JJ., dissenting. 

Solicitors for the appellant: Stewart & Strat-
ton, Moncton. 

Solicitors for the respondent Saindon.• Rice & 
Angers, Edmundston. 

la Cour suprême du Nouveau-Brunswick et de 
rétablir le jugement rendu en première instance 
par le juge Pichette. L'appelante a droit à ses 
dépens en cette Cour et en Division d'appel. 

Appel accueilli avec dépens, jugement rendu en 
première instance rétabli, le juge en chef LASKIN 
et les juges PIGEON et BEETZ dissidents. 

Procureurs de l'appelante: Stewart & Stratton, 
Moncton. 

Procureurs de l'intimé Saindon: Rice & Angers, 
Edmunston. 
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The Canadian Transport Commission 
Appellant; 

and 

Worldways Airlines Ltd. Respondent. 

1975: March 24; 1975: April 22. 

Present: Laskin C.J. and Martland, Judson, Pigeon, 
Dickson, Beetz and de Grandpré JJ. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE FEDERAL COURT OF APPEAL 

Administrative law—Appeals—Judicial review—
Aeronautics—Natural justice Amendment of licen-
ces—`Public convenience and necessity"—Aeronautics 
Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. A-3, s. 16 para. (8)—Federal 
Court Act, R.S.C. 1970 (2nd Supp.), c. 10, s. 28—
National Transportation Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. N-17. 

Respondent was transferee of two licences authorizing 
the operation of two commercial air services, domestic 
charter and international charter. On May 5, 1972, new 
regulations established new groups for aircraft based on 
their maximum take-off weight on wheels and the Com-
mission advised Kenting, then holder of the two licences, 
that it was proposed to amend the licences to reflect the 
new groupings and that the new groupings were intend-
ed to cover all the aircraft then operated based on the 
current charter tariff on file with the Commission. At 
that time the Kenting aircraft were all within B, C, D 
and E groupings, however Kenting's solicitor sought the 
additional allocation of groups A, F, G and H on the 
basis that the company intended to use aircraft of that 
type within the reasonably foreseeable future. The Com-
mission through its Air Transport Committee on April 
30, 1973, amended the domestic licence substituting the 
new groupings (Groups A, B, C, D, E, F, G and H) but 
providing that Groups A, F, G and H were suspended 
for a period of one year or until such lesser time as the 
Licensee provided evidence that it was in a position to 
provide service in these groups and that failure to pro-
vide such evidence within one year would result in the 
cancellation of the authority. The Air Transport Com-
mittee thereafter on November 30, 1973, wrote Kenting 
re the international licence, proposing to amend it on a 
like basis but inviting comments from Kenting before so 
doing. Kenting did not reply to that letter but on 
December 4, 1973, gave notice to the Air Transport 
Committee of a proposed transaction between Kenting 
and a company to be formed (the present respondent), 
undertaking to advise the Committee of the name of the 
new company within ten days. On April 18, 1974, Kent-
ing applied for an extension of the one year period of 

La Commission canadienne des transports 
Appelante; 

et 

Worldways Airlines Ltd. Intimée. 

1975: le 24 mars; 1975: le 22 avril. 

Présents: Le juge en chef Laskin et les juges Martland, 
Judson, Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz et de Grandpré. 

EN APPEL DE LA COUR D'APPEL FÉDÉRALE 

Droit administratif—Appels—Examen judiciaire—
Aéronautique—Justice naturelle—Modification de per-
mis--aCommodité et besoins du publiera—Loi sur 
l'aéronautique, S.R.C. 1970, c. A-3, art. 16, par. (8)—
Loi sur la Cour fédérale, S.R.C. 1970 (2e  Supp.), c. 10, 
art. 28—Loi nationale sur les transports, S.R.C. 1970, 
c. N-17. 

L'intimée était cessionnaire de deux permis autorisant 
l'exploitation de deux services aériens commerciaux 
d'affrètement, l'un national et l'autre international. Le 5 
mai 1972, de nouveaux règlements établissaient des 
groupes nouveaux pour les aéronefs d'après le poids 
maximal autorisé au décollage sur roues et la Commis-
sion avisait Kenting, alors détentrice de deux permis, 
qu'elle se proposait de modifier les permis pour refléter 
les nouveaux groupements et que les nouveaux groupe-
ments avaient pour but de couvrir tous les aéronefs 
exploités alors, sur la base du tarif d'affrètement déposé 
à la Commission. A ce moment-là, les aéronefs de 
Kenting appartenaient tous aux groupes B, C, D et E 
mais l'avocat de Kenting demanda à ajouter l'autorisa-
tion d'exploiter des avions du groupe A, F, G et H parce 
que la compagnie avait l'intention d'utiliser des aéronefs 
de ces types dans un avenir assez proche. Le 30 avril 
1973, le Comité des transports aériens de la Commission 
modifia le permis national en remplaçant les anciens 
groupes par les nouveaux groupes (groupes A, B, C, D, 
E, F, G et H) mais statua que les groupes A, F, G et H 
étaient suspendus pour une période d'un an ou jusqu'au 
moment où le titulaire fournirait la preuve qu'il serait en 
mesure d'assurer le service dans ces groupes et que le 
défaut de se conformer à cette prescription dans ce délai 
entraînerait la suppression de l'autorisation. Par la suite, 
le 30 novembre 1973, le Comité des transports aériens 
écrivait à Kenting relativement au permis international, 
proposant de le modifier dans le même sens, mais 
demandait à Kenting ses commentaires avant de le faire. 
Kenting ne répondit pas à cette lettre, mais le 4 décem-
bre 1973 elle envoya au Comité un avis d'une opération 
envisagée entre Kenting et une compagnie à être consti-
tuée (la présente intimée), s'engageant à informer le 
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suspension and requested a decision on the matter of the 
transfer and on April 30, 1974, indicated that it was 
"ready, willing and able" to provide charter_ commercial 
air service utilizing group G type aircraft. After further 
correspondence, on May 30, 1974, the licences held by 
Kenting were amended cancelling the authority to oper-
ate aircraft in Groups A, F, G and H and limiting the 
licences to Groups B, C, D and E aircraft on the basis of 
"public convenience and necessity". On application to 
review under s. 28 of the Federal Court Act, and on 
appeal under s. 64(2) of the National Transportation 
Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. N-17, the Federal Court of Appeal 
were of the opinion that the 1974 Orders of the Com-
mission limiting the licences should be repealed, basing 
its judgment on three grounds, first, that the Air Trans-
port Committee erred in not determining that the can-
cellation was itself required by public convenience and 
necessity, second, that the Committee erred in not look-
ing at the entire evidence, and third, that the Committee 
violated a basic principle of natural justice in failing to 
give notice of the perceived facts and other reasons on 
which its proposed action would be based. 

Held: The appeal should be allowed. 

The Court of Appeal did not have the power to 
substitute its opinion for that of the Committee. The 
question . whether public convenience and necessity 
requires a certain action is not one of fact. It is the 
formulation of an opinion. The words of the Orders were 
those of the statute itself and there was no justification 
for the suggestion that the Orders were based on other 
than positive findings. 

That there was evidence to support the position of the 
Commission was apparent from the orders as well as 
from other circumstances. To reach a different opinion 
the Federal Court of Appeal apparently relied on state-
ments made before it by counsel for the Commission 
which statements should not have been given the effect 
of modifying the Orders under consideration by the 
Court. 

There was no basis for finding lack of proper notice. 
Kenting had notice not only of the proposed action but 
of the facts and other reasons forming the basis thereof 
and failed to provide the necessary evidence that it was 
in a position to supply its services in all groupings.  

Comité dans les dix prochains jours du nom de cette 
compagnie. Le 18 avril 1974, Kenting demanda une 
prolongation de la période d'un an de suspension et 
priait aussi le Comité de faire connaître sa décision à 
l'égard du transfert. Le 30 avril 1974, elle indiqua 
qu'elle était prête, disposée et apte à fournir des services 
aériens commerciaux d'affrètement utilisant des avions 
du type groupe G. Après d'autres échanges de corres-
pondance, le 30 mai 1974 les permis détenus par Ken-
ting étaient modifiés: l'autorisation d'exploiter des aéro-
nefs des groupes A, F, G et H est annulée et les permis 
se limitent aux aéronefs des groupes B, C, D et E, en se 
basant sur la commodité et les besoins du public. La 
Cour d'appel fédérale, saisie d'une demande d'examen 
en vertu de l'art. 28 de la Loi sur la Cour fédérale et 
d'un appel interjeté en vertu du par. (2) de l'art. 64 de la 
Loi nationale sur les transports, S.R.C. 1970, c. N-17, 
en est venue à la conclusion que les ordonnances rendues 
par la Commission en 1974 et limitant les permis 
devraient être révoqués, se fondant sur trois motifs: le 
premier, que le Comité des transports aériens avait 
commis une erreur en ne s'assurant pas que l'annulation 
était elle-même requise pour la commodité et les besoins 
du public; le deuxième, que le Comité avait commis une 
erreur en n'examinant pas toute la preuve et, le troi-
sième, que le Comité n'avait pas observé un principe de 
justice naturelle en ne signifiant pas d'avis de la situa-
tion telle qu'elle était comprise et des autres motifs sur 
lesquels l'action envisagée était fondée. 

Arrêt: Le pourvoi doit être accueilli. 

La Cour d'appel n'avait pas le pouvoir de substituer 
son opinion à celle du Comité. La question de savoir si la 
commodité et les besoins du public nécessitent l'accom-
plissement de certains actes, n'est pas une question de 
fait. C'est l'expression d'une opinion. Le texte des ordon-
nances reproduit le texte de la loi et la prétention 
qu'elles sont fondées sur des conclusions négatives ne 
sont pas justifiées. 

Il appert des ordonnances elles-mêmes et des circons-
tances que la preuve était suffisante pour fonder l'opi-
nion de la Commission. Pour conclure autrement, la 
Cour d'appel fédérale s'est apparemment appuyée sur 
un certain nombre de déclarations faites devant elle par 
l'avocat de la Commission. Ces déclarations ne pou-
vaient entraîner des modifications à des ordonnances 
soumises à l'examen de la Cour. 

Quant au défaut d'avis régulier, cette conclusion n'est 
pas fondée. Kenting connaissait non seulement les mesu-
res envisagées mais aussi les faits et autres motifs à 
l'appui et elle n'a pas fourni à la Commission la preuve 
nécessaire qu'elle était en mesure de fournir les services 
dans tous les groupes. 
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Union Gas Co. of Canada Ltd. v. Sydenham Gas & 
Petroleum Co. Ltd., [1957] S.C.R. 185; Memorial Gar-
dens Association (Canada) Limited v. Colwood Ceme-
tery Company et al., [1958] S.C.R. 353 referred to. 

APPEAL from a judgment of the Federal Court 
of Appeal setting aside orders of the Air Trans-
port Committee. Appeal allowed. 

S. Froomkin, for the appellant. 

B. A. Crane, for the respondent. 

The judgment of the Court was delivered by 

DE GRANDPRÉ J.—The appeal, authorized by 
special leave, raises various questions around the 
"public convenience and necessity" test prescribed 
by s. 16, para. 8 of the Aeronautics Act, R.S.C. 
1970, c. A-3, whereby the following power is given 
to the Canadian Transport Commission: 

The Commission may suspend, cancel or amend any 
licence or any part thereof where, in the opinion of the 
Commission, the public convenience and necessity so 
requires. 

The respondent is the transferee of two licences 
previously held by Kenting Aircraft Limited 
authorizing the operation of two commercial air 
services on a charter basis for domestic and inter-
national uses. The Air Carrier Regulations prior to 
the dates relevant to the present appeal did not 
restrict the licensee to any special type of aircraft. 
However, on May 5, 1972, new regulations estab-
lished new groups for aircraft based on their max-
imum authorized take-off weight on wheels and on 
September 8, 1972, a letter was addressed by the 
Commission to Kenting, the second paragraph of 
which read: 

It is now proposed to amend all Class 4 charter licences 
to reflect the new grouping(s). The new grouping(s) to 
be authorized by the above licence is (are) intended to 
cover all the aircraft now operated under its authority, 
based on your current charter tariff on file with the 
Canadian Transport Commission. On the reverse of this 
letter there is a table showing the aircraft types,listed in 

' [1974] 2 F.C. 597. 

Arrêts mentionnés: Union Gas Co. of Canada Ltd. c. 
Sydenham Gas and Petroleum Co. Ltd. [1957] R.C.S. 
185; Memorial Gardens Association (Canada) Limited 
c. Colwood Cemetery Company et al., [1958] R.C.S. 
353. 

POURVOI à l'encontre d'un jugement de la 
Cour d'appel fédérale' qui infirmait des ordonnan-
ces du Comité aérien des transports. Pourvoi 
accueilli. 

S. Froomkin, pour l'appelante. 

B. A. Crane, pour l'intimée. 

Le jugement de la Cour a été rendu par 

LE JUGE DE GRANDPRÉ—Ce pourvoi, formé 
sur permission spéciale, soulève diverses questions 
ayant trait à la norme de «la commodité et des 
besoins du public» prévue au par. 8 de l'art. 16 de 
la Loi sur l'aéronautique, S.R.C. 1970, c. A-3. Ce 
paragraphe confère à la Commission canadienne 
des transports les pouvoirs suivants: 

La Commission peut suspendre, annuler ou modifier la 
totalité ou toute partie d'un permis, si, à son avis, la 
commodité et les besoins de public l'exigent. 

L'intimée est cessionnaire de deux permis déte-
nus auparavant par Kenting Aircraft Limited 
autorisant l'exploitation de deux services aériens 
commerciaux d'affrètement, l'un national et l'au-
tre international. Les Règlements sur les transpor-
teurs aériens, antérieurs aux dates pertinentes en 
l'espèce, ne soumettaient le détenteur du permis à 
aucune restriction quant à un type particulier d'aé-
ronef. Toutefois, le 5 mai 1972, de nouveaux règle-
ments établissaient des groupes nouveaux pour les 
aéronefs d'après leur poids maximal autorisé au 
décollage sur roues. Le 8 septembre 1972, la Com-
mission envoyait une lettre à Kenting, dont voici le 
deuxième alinéa: 

[TRADUCTION] On propose maintenant de modifier tous, 
les permis relatifs aux services d'affrètement de la classe 
4 pour refléter les nouveaux groupements. Les nouveaux 
groupements qu'autorisera le permis susmentionné ont 
pour but de couvrir tous les aéronefs actuellement 
exploités en vertu de ce permis, sur la base de votre tarif 
d'affrètement actuel déposé à la Commission canadienne 

1  [1974] 2 C.F. 597. 
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your charter tariff and the new groups to which they 
belong. 

The table mentioned in this quotation was duly 
completed and executed by the company. As it 
indicated that at the time Kenting owned only five 
types of aircraft belonging to the new groupings 
known as B, C, D and E, Kenting's solicitor, on 
October 6, 1972, made representations in a 
lengthy letter to the effect that Kenting should 
nevertheless receive "the additional allocation of 
groups A, F, G and H" because, although Kenting 
did not at the time own aircraft belonging to these 
groups, it intended to use aircraft of that type 
"within the reasonable foreseeable future". No 
further representations were made before the 
Commission which, through its Air Transport 
Committee, issued, on Apil 30, 1973, its order 
A-371 dealing with the domestic licence: 

IN THE MATTER OF the operations of a commer-
cial air service by Kenting Aircraft Limited and of the 
provisions of Section 4 of the Air Carrier Regulations, 
as amended—Licence No. A.T.B. 793/56(C) 

File No. 2-K31-8A 
WHEREAS by Licence No. A.T.B. 793/56(C) Kent-

ing Aircraft Limited is authorized to operate the com-
mercial air services set out therein using Groups A and 
B aircraft (old grouping), from a base at Toronto, 
Ontario. 

WHEREAS by registered letter dated September 8th, 
1972, the Licensee was advised that the Air Transport 
Committee proposed to amend the said Licence pursu-
ant to the provisions of Section 4 of the Air Carrier 
Regulations, as amended, regarding the new grouping of 
aircraft based on the aircraft's maximum authorized 
take-off weight on wheels; 

WHEREAS by the said letter the Licensee was also 
requested to provide certain particulars regarding the 
type of aircraft in use and either owned or leased by the 
Licensee and was invited to make representations with 
respect to the proposed amendment to the said Licence; 
and 

WHEREAS the Committee, having noted that the 
Licensee filed representations by letter dated October 6, 
1972 in this respect and having considered the represen-
tations and all matters relevant to the proposed amend-
ment, finds that the public convenience and necessity  

des transports. Au verso de cette lettre, vous trouverez 
un tableau indiquant les différents types d'aéronefs ins-
crits sur votre tarif d'affrètement et les nouveaux grou-
pes auxquels ils appartiennent. 

Le tableau mentionné dans cet extrait a été 
rempli et signé par la compagnie. Comme le 
tableau démontrait qu'à ce moment-là Kenting 
était propriétaire de seulement cinq types d'aéro-
nefs appartenant aux nouveaux groupes désignés 
B, C, D et E, le 6 octobre 1972, l'avocat de 
Kenting a fait valoir, dans une longue lettre, que 
Kenting devrait néanmoins pouvoir [TRADUC-
TION] «ajouter l'autorisation d'exploiter des avions 
du groupe A, F, G et H» parce que, même si 
Kenting ne possédait pas alors d'aéronef de ces 
groupes, elle avait l'intention d'utiliser des aéro-
nefs de ces types [TRADUCTION] «dans un avenir 
assez proche». Aucune autre observation n'a été 
formulée à la Commission dont le Comité des 
transports aériens rendit, le 30 avril 1973, l'ordon-
nance A-371 concernant le permis national: 

RELATIVE à l'exploitation d'un service aérien com-
mercial par Kenting Aircraft Limited et aux prescrip-
tions de l'Article 4 du Règlement modifié sur les 
transporteurs aériens Permis n° A.T.B. 793/56(C) 

Dossier n° 2-K31-8A 
ATTENDU que le permis n° A.T.B. 793/56(C) auto-

rise Kenting Aircraft Limited à exploiter les services 
aériens commerciaux y mentionnés, au moyen d'aéro-
nefs des groupes A et B (ancien groupement), à partir 
d'une base située à Toronto, Ontario. 

ATTENDU que par lettre recommandée du 8 sep-
tembre 1972, le titulaire a été informé que le Comité des 
transports aériens projetait de modifier ledit permis 
conformément aux prescriptions de l'article 4 du Règle-
ment modifié sur les transporteurs aériens, pour ce qui 
concerne le nouveau classement des aéronefs selon leur 
poids maximal autorisé au décollage sur roues; 

ATTENDU que ladite lettre demandait également au 
titulaire de fournir certains détails sur les types d'aéro-
nefs possédés en propre ou pris en location qu'elle utilise, 
et de formuler éventuellement ses observations sur les 
modifications envisagées pour ledit permis; et 

ATTENDU que le Comité a noté que le titulaire a 
formulé des observations à cet égard par lettre du 6 
octobre 1972 et qu'après avoir examiné ces observations 
et toutes les questions relatives à la modification propo-
sée, le Comité estime que la commodité et les besoins du 
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requires the changing of the grouping of aircraft as 
described in the said Licence to Groups A, B, C, D, E, 
F, G, and H (new grouping) in pursuance of the provi-
sions of Section 4 of the Air Carrier Regulations, as 
amended; the Groups A, F, G and H authority to be 
concurrently suspended for a period of one year or until 
such time as the Licensee provides evidence that it is 
ready, willing and able to provide service in these sus-
pended groups, whichever is the lesser. If the Licensee 
fails to provide the above evidence within the period of 
one year from the date of this Order, the authority with 
respect to the suspended groups will be deleted from the 
Licence without further reference to the Licensee. 

IT IS ORDERED THAT: 
a) Licence No. A.T.B. 793/56(C) is hereby amended 
by deleting therefrom Groups A and B aircraft (old 
grouping) and substituting therefor Groups A, B, C, 
D, E, F, G and H aircraft (new grouping); 

b) Groups A, F, G and H of the said Licence are 
suspended for a period of one year or until such time 
as the Licensee provides evidence that it is ready, 
willing and able to provide service in these suspended 
groups, whichever is the lesser. 

c) Failure by the Licensee to comply with b) above 
within one year from the date of this Order will result 
in the immediate cancellation of the authority without 
further notice. 

This Order shall form part of Licence No. A.T.B. 
793/56(C) and shall remain attached thereto. 

It should be noted that at that time Kenting still 
did not own nor lease any aircraft belonging to the 
new groupings A, F, G and H. 

The domestic licence having thus been amended, 
the Air Transport Committee of the appellant 
Commission turned its attention to the internation-
al services of Kenting and on November 30, 1973, 
wrote that company as follows: 

As you are aware, Section 4 of the Air Carrier 
Regulations, dated May 5, 1972, Registration No. 
SOR/72-145, established new groups for aircraft based 
on their maximum authorized take-off weight on wheels 
for commercial air service operations. By this time your 
Class 4 Charter licence(s) has been or is in the process 
of being amended to reflect the new groupings.  

public exigent une modification en changeant la dési-
gnation des groupes d'aéronefs définis audit permis en 
celle d'aéronefs des groupes A, B, C, D, E, F, G et H 
(nouveau groupement), conformément aux prescriptions 
de l'article 4 du Règlement modifié sur les transporteurs 
aériens; l'autorisation d'exploiter des aéronefs des grou-
pes A, F, G et H sera suspendue concurremment pour 
une période de un an ou jusqu'au moment où le titulaire 
fournira la preuve qu'il est prêt, disposé et apte à assurer 
le service dans les groupes ayant fait l'objet de la 
suspension, en prenant en considération la période la 
plus courte. Si le titulaire néglige de fournir la preuve 
susmentionnée dans un délai d'un an à dater de la 
présente ordonnance, l'autorisation relative aux groupes 
suspendus sera supprimée du permis sans préavis. 

IL EST ORDONNÉ CE QUI SUIT: 
a) Le permis n° A.T.B. 793/56(C) est par les présen-
tes modifié en y supprimant les aéronefs des groupes 
A et B (ancien groupement) et en les remplaçant par 
les aéronefs des groupes A, B, C, D, E, F, G et H 
(nouveau groupement). 
b) Les groupes A, F, G et H dudit permis sont 
suspendus pour une période d'un an ou jusqu'au 
moment où le titulaire fournira la preuve qu'il est 
prêt, disposé et apte à assurer le service dans ces 
groupes suspendus, en prenant en considération la 
période la plus courte. 
c) Si, dans un délai d'un an à dater de la présente 
ordonnance, le titulaire néglige de se conformer à la 
prescription b) ci-dessus, l'autorisation sera immédia-
tement supprimée sans préavis, 

La présente ordonnance doit faire partie du permis n° 
A.T.B. 793/56(C) et y demeurer annexée. 

Il convient de signaler qu'à l'époque Kenting ne 
possédait ni ne louait d'aéronefs appartenant aux 
nouveaux groupes A, F, G et H. 

Après ces modifications au permis national, le 
Comité des transports aériens de la Commission a 
examiné ensuite les services internationaux de 
Kenting et le 30 novembre 1973, il écrivait à la 
compagnie ce qui suit: 

[TRADUCTION] Comme vous le savez sans doute, l'ar-
ticle 4 du Règlement sur les transporteurs aériens, en 
date du 5 mai 1972, enregistré sous le numéro 
DORS/72-145, a établi de nouveaux groupes d'avions 
fondés sur le poids maximal autorisé au décollage, sur 
roues, pour les opérations de services aériens commer-
ciaux. Votre permis d'affrètement de la classe 4 a été 
modifié ou est actuellement en cours de modification en 
conformité de cette nouvelle situation. 
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It is now proposed to amend your complementary 
Class 9-4 International Charter licence to correspond to 
the new groupings authorized by your Class 4 Charter 
licence from the same base. However, before doing so, 
the Committee would appreciate your comments on this 
proposal. You are requested to reply on or before Janu-
ary 7, 1974, 

It should be noted that the domestic and interna-
tional operations were under the same roof and 
carried out with the same aircraft. No reply was 
ever made as such to that letter of November 30, 
1973. 

However, on December 4, 1973, notice was 
given by Kenting's solicitor to the Air Transport 
Committee of a proposed transaction between 
Kenting and a company to be formed (which 
eventually became the present respondent). The 
last paragraph of that letter of December 4 reads: 

The purchasing company is now in the process of being 
incorporated and we will advise you within the next 10 
days as to the name of the said company. The details of 
incorporation have already been set out in the Applica-
tion together with the undertaking to file copies of the 
actual incorporation documents with you. 

By a telex dated April 18, 1974, Kenting's 
solicitor applied for an extension of the period of 
suspension mentioned in the Order of April 30, 
1973, and requested a decision in regard to the 
transfer mentioned in the letter of December 4, 
1973. 

The application for an extension was turned 
down and Kenting's solicitor was so advised by a 
telex dated April 24, 1974. The following day, 
Kenting, through its solicitor, requested advice as 
to the current status of its application relative to 
the transfer and followed this with a long telex 
dated April 30, 1974, underlining in particular the 
fact that Kenting and the company "are ready, 
willing and able, as of today, to provide charter 
commercial air services utilizing group G type 
aircraft". 

Nous nous proposons maintenant de modifier votre 
permis international d'affrètement, de la classe 9-4, pour 
le faire correspondre aux nouveaux groupements autori-
sés par votre permis d'affrètement de la classe 4, à partir 
de la même base. Cependant, avant de le faire, le 
Comité apprécierait vos commentaires sur une telle 
proposition. Nous vous demandons de répondre au plus 
tard le 7 janvier 1974. 

Il y a lieu de remarquer que les services nationaux 
et internationaux étaient exploités ensemble au 
moyen des mêmes aéronefs. Cette lettre du 30 
novembre 1973 resta sans réponse directe. 

Toutefois, le 4 décembre 1973 l'avocat de Ken-
ting envoya au Comité des transports aériens un 
avis d'une opération envisagée entre Kenting et 
une compagnie à être constituée (qui est devenue 
par la suite la présente intimée). Voici le dernier 
paragraphe de cette lettre du 4 décembre: 

[TRADUCTION] Les formalités de constitution de la com-
pagnie acheteuse sont maintenant en cours et nous vous 
informerons dans les 10 prochains jours du nom de cette 
compagnie. Les modalités de la constitution de la com-
pagnie ont déjà été énoncées dans la demande ainsi que 
l'engagement de notre part de vous faire parvenir des 
copies des documents relatifs à la constitution dès qu'elle 
sera effective. 

Dans un message télex en date du 18 avril 1974, 
l'avocat de Kenting demanda une prorogation de 
la période de suspension mentionnée dans l'ordon-
nance du 30 avril 1973. Il priait aussi le Comité de 
faire connaître sa décision à l'égard du transfert 
mentionné dans la lettre du 4 décembre 1973. 

La demande de prorogation fut rejetée et l'avo-
cat de Kenting en fut informé par un message 
télex daté du 24 avril 1974. Le lendemain, Ken-
ting, par l'intermédiaire de son avocat, demanda 
des renseignements sur l'état de sa demande rela-
tive au transfert et expédia ensuite un long mes-
sage télex, en date du 30 avril 1974, soulignant en 
particulier le fait que Kenting et la compagnie 
[TRADUCTION] «sont prêtes, disposées et aptes, dès 
aujourd'hui, à fournir des services aériens commer-
ciaux d'affrètement utilisant des avions du type 
groupe GA. 
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In May 1974, the Air Transport Committee 
wrote two letters to Kenting's solicitor. The first 
one dated May 2nd reads: 

I am instructed to advise you that your telex of April 30, 
1974, is under consideration by the Committee 

It has been noted, however, that in your letter of Decem-
ber 4, 1973 you undertook to advise the Committee 
`within the next 10 days' as to the name of the purchas-
ing company. As we do not appear to have received this 
information, you are requested to provide evidence that 
such a company is in existence, its name and the date of 
its incorporation. 

and the second one, May 16, is in the following 
terms: 

In reference to your letter of December 4, 1973, the 
Committee requests information regarding the existence 
of the new Company, its name and the date of 
incorporation. 

It is only on May 23 that the requested informa-
tion was supplied by Kenting through its solicitor. 

On May 31, 1974, the licences held by Kenting 
were amended. Order A-422 dealing with the 
domestic licence reads: 

IN THE MATTER of the operation of a commercial 
air service by Kenting Aircraft Ltd. and of the provi-
sions of Section 4 of the Air Carrier Regulations, as 
amended—Licence No. A.T.B. 793/56(C). 

File No. 2-K136-1A. 

WHEREAS by Order No. 1973-A-371 dated April 30, 
1973: 

`(a) Licence No. A.T.B. 793/56(C) is hereby amend-
ed by deleting therefrom Groups A and B aircraft 
(old grouping) and substituting therefor Groups A, B, 
C, D, E, F, G and H aircraft (new grouping); 

(b) Groups A, F, G and H of the said Licence are 
suspended for a period of one year or until such time 
as the Licensee provides evidence that it is ready, 
willing and able to provide service in these suspended 
groups, whichever is the lesser; 

(c) Failure by the Licensee to comply with (b) above 
within one year of the date of this Order will result in 
the immediate cancellation of the authority without 
further notice.' 

Au cours du mois de mai 1974, le Comité des 
transports aériens écrivit deux lettres à l'avocat de 
Kenting. La première, en date du 2 mai, se lit 
comme suit: 

[TRADUCTION] On me charge de vous informer que le 
Comité étudie votre message télex du 30 avril 1974. 

Dans votre lettre du 4 décembre 1973, vous vous êtes 
engagé à informer le Comité «dans les dix prochains 
jours» du nom de la compagnie acheteuse. Comme nous 
n'avons pas reçu ces renseignements, nous vous deman-
dons de fournir la preuve de l'existence de la compagnie 
et de nous donner son nom et la date de sa constitution. 

et la seconde, du 16 mai, mentionnait ceci: 

[TRADUCTION] Suite à votre lettre du 4 décembre 1973, 
le Comité demande des renseignements sur l'existence 
de la nouvelle compagnie, son nom et la date de sa 
constitution. 

Ce n'est que le 23 mai que Kenting, par l'intermé-
diaire de son avocat, fit parvenir les renseigne-
ments demandés. 

Le 31 mai 1974, les permis détenus par Kenting 
furent modifiés. Voici l'ordonnance A-422 ayant 
trait au permis national: 

RELATIVE à l'exploitation d'un service aérien com-
mercial par Kenting Aircraft Limited et aux prescrip-
tions de l'Article 4 du Règlement modifié sur les 
transporteurs aériens—Permis n° A.T.B. 793/56(C). 

Dossier n° 2-K136-1A 
ATTENDU que l'ordonnance n° 1973-A-371, en date 
du 30 avril 1973, prescrit ce qui suit: 

«(a) Le permis n° A.T.B. 793/56(C) est par les pré-
sentes modifié en y supprimant les aéronefs des grou-
pes A et B (ancien groupement) et en les remplaçant 
par les aéronefs des groupes A, B, C, D, E, F, G et H 
(nouveau groupement). 
(b) Les groupes A, F, G et H dudit permis sont 
suspendus pour une période d'un an ou jusqu'au 
moment où la titulaire fournira la preuve qu'elle est 
prête, disposée et apte à assurer le service dans ces 
groupes suspendus, en prenant en considération la 
période la plus courte. 
(c) Si, dans un délai d'un an à dater de la présente 
ordonnance, le titulaire néglige de se conformer à la 
prescription b) ci-dessus, l'autorisation sera immédia-
tement supprimée sans préavis.» 



758 	 C.T.C. V. WORLDWAYS AIRLINES LTD. de Grandpré J. 	 [1976] 1 S.C.R. 

WHEREAS by telex dated April 18th, 1974 the Licen-
see applied for an amendment of Order No. 1973-A-
371, extending the period of suspension of Groups A, F, 
G and H of the said Licence until September 30th, 
1974, which application was denied; 
WHEREAS by telex dated April 30th, 1974, the Licen-
see made further representations to the Committee; 
WHEREAS the Committee has considered the 
representations of the Licensee and finds that the public 
convenience and necessity requires amendment of 
Licence No. A.T.B. 793/56(C) by cancelling authority 
to operate Groups A, F, G and H aircraft under the said 
Licence. 
IT IS ORDERED THAT: 
Licence No. A.T.B. 793/56(C) is hereby amended by 
cancelling authority to operate Groups A, F, G and H 
aircraft under the said Licence. 

This Order shall form part of Licence No. A.T.B. 
793/56(C) and shall remain attached thereto. 

Order A-423 dealing with the international ser-
vices is in the following terms: 

IN THE MATTER OF the operation of a commer-
cial air service by Kenting Aircraft Ltd. and of the 
provisions of Section 4 of the Air Carrier Regulations, 
as amended—Licence No. A.T.B. 233/56(CF). 

File No. 2-K-136-2A 
WHEREAS by Licence No. A.T.B. 233/56(CF) Kent-
ing Aircraft Ltd. is authorized to operate the commer-
cial air service set out therein at a base at Toronto, 
Ontario. 
WHEREAS by registered letter dated November 30, 
1973 the Licensee was advised that the Air Transport 
Committee proposed to amend the said Licence pursu-
ant to the provisions of Section 4 of the Air Carrier 
Regulations, as amended, to correspond to the new 
groups authorized by the Licensee's Class 4 Charter 
licence from the same base; 

WHEREAS by the said letter, the Licensee was invited 
to make representations with respect to the proposed 
amendment to the said Licence; 
WHEREAS the Licensee did not file any representa-
tions in response to the said letter; 
WHEREAS by Licence No. A.T.B. 793/56(C), the 
Class 4 and Class 7 Licence of Kenting Aircraft Ltd. at 
Toronto, Ontario, as amended by Order No. 1974-A-
422, the Licensee is authorized to operate Groups B, C, 
D and E aircraft; 

ATTENDU que par télex daté du 18 avril 1974, la 
titulaire a demandé la modification de l'ordonnance n° 
1973-A-371 pour que la suppression des groupes A, F, G 
et H soit prorogée jusqu'au 30 septembre 1974, laquelle 
demande a été rejetée; 
ATTENDU que par télex daté du 30 avril 1974, la 
titulaire a présenté d'autres observations au Comité; 
ATTENDU que le Comité, ayant étudié les observations 
de la titulaire, dit que la commodité et les besoins du 
public exigent la modification du permis A.T.B. 793/ 
56(C) par l'annulation de l'autorisation d'exploiter les 
aéronefs des groupes A, F, G et H sous le couvert dudit 
permis. 
IL EST ORDONNE CE QUI SUIT: 
Le permis A.T.B. 793/56(C) est par les présentes modi-
fié par l'annulation de l'autorisation d'exploiter les aéro-
nefs des groupes A, F, G et H sous le couvert dudit 
permis. 
La présente ordonnance fera partie intégrante du permis 
A.T.B. 793/56(C) et y sera fixée à demeure. 

Voici l'ordonnance A-423 concernant les services 
internationaux: 

RELATIVE à l'exploitation d'un service aérien com-
mercial par Kenting Aircraft Limited et aux prescrip-
tions de l'Article 4 du Règlement modifié sur les 
transporteurs aériens—Permis A.T.B. 233/56(CF). 

Dossier n° 2-K-136-2A 
ATTENDU que le permis A.T.B. 233/56(CF) autorise 
Kenting Aircraft Ltd. à exploiter, à partir d'une base 
située à Toronto (Ontario), le service aérien commercial 
y indiqué. 
ATTENDU que par lettre recommandée du 30 novem-
bre 1973, la titulaire a été informée que le Comité des 
transports aériens projetait de modifier ledit permis, en 
conformité de l'article 4 du Règlement modifié sur les 
transporteurs aériens, pour qu'il corresponde aux nou-
veaux groupes que la titulaire est autorisée à exploiter, 
par son permis de classe 4 (affrètement), à partir de 
cette base; 
ATTENDU que ladite lettre invitait la titulaire à for-
muler des observations relatives à la modification propo-
sée audit permis; 
ATTENDU que la titulaire n'a déposé aucune observa-
tion en réponse à ladite lettre; 
ATTENDU que le permis A.T.B. 793/56(C) de classe 4 
et de classe 7 de Kenting Aircraft Ltd. pour la base de 
Toronto (Ontario), modifié par l'ordonnance n° 1974-A-
422, autorise la titulaire à exploiter les aéronefs des 
groupes B, C, D et E; 
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WHEREAS the Committee has considered all matters 
relevant to the proposed amendment, and finds that the 
public convenience and necessity requires amendment of 
Licence No. A.T.B. 233/56(CF) by cancelling Condi-
tion No. 7 and substituting therefor the following: 

'The Licensee is restricted in its operation to Groups 
B, C, D and E aircraft.' 
IT IS ORDERED THAT: 
Condition No. 7 of Licence No. A.T.B. 233/56(CF) 
is hereby cancelled and the following substituted 
therefor: 
'The Licensee is restricted in its operation to Groups 
B, C, D and E aircraft.' 
This Order shall form part of Licence No. A.T.B. 
233/56(CF) and shall remain attached thereto. 

On the same date, namely May 31, 1974, by Order 
A-424, the transfer from Kenting to the respond-
ent was approved (in the words of the Order `not 
disallowed'). 

Worldways appealed Orders 422 and 423 to the 
Federal Court of Appeal submitting that under s. 
28 of the Federal Court Act, as well as under s. 
64(2) of the National Transportation Act, R.S.C. 
1970, c. N-17, these two Orders should be 
reviewed and set aside. Of course, this result could 
only be achieved if the Commission, through its 
Air Transport Committee, had committed an error 
of law, had exceeded its jurisdiction, had made a 
finding of fact in a perverse or capricious manner 
or had failed to observe a principle of natural 
justice. The Federal Court of Appeal agreed with 
the submissions of Worldways and came to the 
conclusion that the Orders were voidable and 
should be repealed. 

This conclusion, if I read correctly the reasons 
for judgment delivered by Mahoney J., speaking 
for the Court, is based on three grounds: 

(1) in law, the Air Transport Committee erred in 
not determining that the cancellation was 
"itself required by public convenience and 
necessity"; 

(2) the Committee erred in not looking at the 
entire evidence; 

(3) the Committee violated a basic principle of 
natural justice in giving to Kenting a simple  

ATTENDU que le Comité, ayant examiné toutes les 
questions relatives à la modification proposée, dit que la 
commodité et les besoins du public exigent la modifica-
tion du permis A.T.B. 233/56(CF) en y annulant la 
condition n° 7 et en la remplaçant par la suivante: 

«dans son exploitation la titulaire est limitée aux 
aéronefs des groupes B, C, D et E» 
IL EST ORDONNE CE QUI SUIT: 
La condition n" 7 du permis A.T.B. 233/56(CF) est 
par les présentes annulée et remplacée par la suivante: 

«Dans son exploitation, la titulaire est limitée aux 
aéronefs des groupes B, C, D et E.» 
La présente ordonnance fera partie intégrante du 
permis A.T.B. 233/56(CF) et y sera fixée à demeure. 

Le même jour, soit le 31 mai 1974, l'ordonnance 
A-424 a reconnu le transfert de Kenting à l'inti-
mée («il n'est pas refusé» selon les mots de 
l'ordonnance). 

Worldways a interjeté appel devant la Cour 
d'appel fédérale et demandé l'examen et l'annula-
tion des ordonnances 422 et 423, tant en vertu de 
I'art. 28 de la Loi sur la Cour fédérale, qu'en vertu 
du par. (2) de l'art. 64 de la Loi nationale sur les 
transports, S.R.C. 1970, c. N-17. Naturellement, 
l'appelante ne pouvait avoir gain de cause que si la 
Commission, par son Comité des transports 
aériens, avait commis une erreur de droit, excédé 
sa compétence, tiré une conclusion de fait de façon 
absurde ou arbitraire ou n'avait pas observé un 
principe de justice naturelle. La Cour d'appel fédé-
rale a accepté les prétentions de Worldways et en 
est venue à la conclusion que les ordonnances 
étaient annulables et qu'elles devraient être 
révoquées. 

Si j'interprète bien les motifs du juge Mahoney, 
parlant au nom de la Cour, cette conclusion se 
fonde sur trois motifs: 

(1) le Comité des transports aériens a commis une 
erreur en droit en ne s'assurant pas que l'an-
nulation était [TRADUCTION] «elle-même 
requise pour la commodité et -les besoins du 
public»; 

(2) le Comité a commis une erreur en n'exami-
nant pas toute la preuve; 

(3) le Comité n'a pas observé un principe de 
justice naturelle en signifiant à Kenting un 
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notice of its proposed action but no notice of 
the "perceived " facts and other reasons on 
which the proposed action will be based". 

With respect, I cannot share the view of the 
Federal Court of Appeal and I would set aside its 
conclusion. 

This Court has had occasion to determine in 
many cases the principles to be applied in a matter 
of this type. It will be sufficient here to refer to 
Union Gas Co. of Canada Ltd. v. Sydenham Gas 
& Petroleum Co. Ltd. 2  where we find, in the 
reasons of Kerwin C.J., at p. 188: 
The Court of Appeal apparently considered that it had 
power to substitute its opinion for that of the Board, 
treating the question of public convenience and necessity 
as a question of fact. I am unable to agree with that 
view. 

The same thought was expressed by Rand J. (p. 
190): 
What the Court did was to exercise an administrative 
jurisdiction and to substitute its judgment on the 
application for that of the Board. In this I think it 
exceeded its 'powers. We were referred to no precise or 
material issue in the appeal on any question of fact or 
law on which the Court was asked to or did make a 
finding or a ruling. It was argued, and it seems to have 
been the view of the Court, that the determination of 
public convenience and necessity was itself a question of 
fact, but with that I am unable to agree: it is not an 
objective existence to be ascertained; the determination 
is the formulation of an opinion, in this case, the opinion 
of the Board and of the Board only. In the notice of 
appeal references to certain findings were made, but 
what the present respondent sought and obtained was a 
judgment on the entire controversy. That remedy was, in 
my opinion, misconceived and the judgment likewise. 

In Memorial Gardens Association (Canada) Lim-
ited v. Colwood Cemetery Company et al.' Abbott 
J., speaking for the majority of the Court, had this 
to say at p. 357: 
As this Court held in the Union Gas case (supra), the 
question whether public convenience and necessity 
requires a certain action is not one of fact. It is predomi-
nantly the formulation of an opinion. Facts must, of 

2  [1957] S.C.R. 185. 
3  [1958] S.C.R. 353.  

simple avis de l'action envisagée, sans lui 
signifier d'avis portant «sur la situation telle 
qu'elle est comprise et les autres motifs sur 
lesquels l'action envisagée est fondée». 

Respectueusement, je ne puis souscrire à l'opi-
nion de la Cour d'appel fédérale et j'infirmerais sa 
conclusion. 

A plusieurs reprises, cette Cour a eu l'occasion 
de préciser les principes applicables à une affaire 
de cette nature. Il suffit en l'espèce de mentionner 
l'arrêt Union Gas Co. of Canada Ltd. c. Sydenham 
Gas & Petroleum Co. Ltd. 2. où le juge en chef 
Kerwin dit à la p. 188: 

[TRADUCTION] Apparemment, la Cour d'appel a conclu 
qu'elle avait le pouvoir de substituer son opinion à celle 
du Comité, traitant la question de la commodité et des 
besoins du public comme une question de fait. Je ne puis 
souscrire à cette opinion. 

Le juge Rand a exprimé le même point de vue (à 
la p. 190): 

[TRADUCTION] La Cour a exercé une compétence admi-
nistrative et a substitué sa décision sur la demande à 
celle du Comité. A mon avis, elle a alors excédé sa 
compétence. L'appel ne fait l'objet d'aucune question 
précise ou d'importance en matière de fait ou de droit 
sur laquelle la Cour devait se prononcer ou s'est effecti-
vement prononcée. On a prétendu, et la Cour a semblé 
d'accord, que l'appréciation de la commodité et des 
besoins du public est elle-même une question de fait, 
mais je ne puis souscrire à cette opinion: il ne s'agit pas 
de déterminer si objectivement telle situation existe. La 
décision consiste à exprimer une opinion, en l'espèce, 
l'opinion du Comité et du Comité seulement. Dans l'avis 
d'appel, on renvoie à certaines conclusions mais ce que 
l'intimée, demandait et a obtenu, c'est un jugement sur 
l'ensemble du litige. A mon avis, le redressement 
accordé aussi bien que le jugement résultent d'une mau-
vaise compréhension de la question en litige. 

Dans l'arrêt Memorial Gardens Association (Can-
ada) Limited c. Colwood Cemetery Company 
et al.' le juge Abbott, au nom de la majorité de 
cette Cour, déclarait ceci, à la p. 357: 

[TRADUCTION] Comme cette Cour l'a décidé dans l'af-
faire Union Gas (supra), la question de savoir si la 
commodité et les besoins du public nécessitent l'accom-
plissement de certains actes, n'est pas une question de 

2 [1957] R.C.S. 185. 
3  [1958] R.C.S. 353. 
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course, be established to justify a decision by the Com-
mission but that decision is one which cannot be made 
without a substantial exercise of administrative discre-
tion. In delegating this administrative discretion to the 
Commission the Legislature has delegated to that body 
the responsibility of deciding, in the public interest, the 
need and desirability of additional cemetery facilities, 
and in reaching that decision the degree of need and of 
desirability is left to the discretion of the Commission. 

In the case at bar, the words of the Orders are 
those of the statute itself and I cannot find any 
justification for the suggestion that the Orders are 
based on negative findings and not on positive 
ones. 

That there was evidence to support the opinion 
of the Commission is apparent from the Orders 
themselves, as well as from the circumstances sum-
marized above. To reach a different opinion, the 
Federal Court of Appeal relied in particular on a 
number of assertions that were apparently made 
before it by counsel for the Commission. In my 
view, statements by counsel in their arguments 
before a Court, even when they act on behalf of an 
administrative tribunal, cannot be given the effect 
of modifying the Orders under consideration by 
the Court. 

As to the third ground, namely the lack of 
proper notice, I fail to appreciate its basis. The 
documents exchanged between the parties make it 
clear that under its new regulations prescribing 
new groupings, the Commission would look at the 
situation then prevailing to determine what type of 
operations would be authorized. Following this 
study, the licensee had more than a year to present 
the facts that would permit the Commission to 
reassess the situation and it failed to do so within 
the prescribed period. In my view, Kenting had 
complete notice not only of the proposed action but 
of the facts and other reasons forming the basis 
thereof and it failed to provide the Commission 
with the necessary evidence that it was ready, able 
and willing to supply its services in all groupings. 

For these reasons, I cannot find that the Orders 
of the appellant Commission should be set aside. 
The appeal should be allowed with costs through- 

fait. C'est avant tout l'expression d'une opinion. Il faut 
évidemment que la décision de la Commission se fonde 
sur des faits mis en preuve, mais cette décision ne peut 
être prise sans que la discrétion administrative y joue un 
rôle important. En conférant à la Commission ce pou-
voir discrétionnaire, la Législature a délégué à cet orga-
nisme la responsabilité de décider, dans l'intérêt du 
public, du besoin et de l'opportunité de créer d'autres 
cimetières, et ces facteurs sont laissés à l'appréciation de 
la Commission. 

Dans la présente cause, le texte des ordonnances 
reproduit le texte de la loi et je ne vois pas 
comment se justifie la prétention que les ordonnan-
ces sont fondées sur des conclusions négatives et 
non sur des conclusions positives. 

Il appert des ordonnances elles-mêmes et des 
circonstances résumées ci-dessus, que la preuve est 
suffisante pour fonder l'opinion de la Commission. 
Dans son arrêt infirmatif, la Cour d'appel fédérale 
s'appuie en particulier sur un certain nombre de 
déclarations faites apparemment devant la Cour 
par l'avocat de la Commission. A mon avis, les 
déclarations des avocats pendant leur plaidoirie, 
même si .ces avocats représentent des tribunaux 
administratifs, ne peuvent entraîner des modifica-
tions à des ordonnances soumises à l'examen de la 
Cour. 

Quant au troisième motif, c'est-à-dire le défaut 
d'avis régulier, je n'en vois pas le fondement. Les 
documents échangés entre les parties indiquent 
clairement que la Commission, conformément à 
ses nouveaux règlements décrétant des groupes 
nouveaux, procéderait à l'examen de la situation 
existant alors pour décider de la nature des servi-
ces à autoriser. Le détenteur du permis avait 
encore par la suite un an pour soumettre à la 
Commission des faits qui auraient permis à cette 
dernière de réexaminer la situation, mais il ne l'a 
pas fait dans le délai prescrit. A mon avis, Kenting 
connaissait non seulement les mesures envisagées 
mais aussi les faits et autres motifs à l'appui et elle 
n'a pas fourni à la Commission la preuve néces-
saire qu'elle était prête, disposée et apte à fournir 
les services dans tous les groupes. 

Pour ces motifs, je ne puis conclure que les 
ordonnances de la Commission appelante devraient 
être infirmées. Je suis d'avis d'accueillir le pourvoi 
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out; these costs should not include disbursements 
nor fees in connection with the appeal case which 
was not prepared in accordance with the rules of 
this Court. 

Appeal allowed with costs. 

Solicitor for the appellant: Deputy Attorney 
General of Canada, Ottawa. 

Solicitors for the respondent: Gowling & Hen-
derson, Ottawa.  

avec dépens dans toutes les cours; ces dépens ne 
comprennent pas les déboursés ni les honoraires 
relatifs au dossier imprimé qui n'a pas été préparé 
conformément aux règles de cette Cour. 

Appel accueilli avec dépens. 

Procureur de l'appelante: Sous-Procureur 
général du Canada, Ottawa. 

Procureurs de l'intimée: Gowling & Henderson, 
Ottawa. 
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Joseph Marcoux and Albert Solomon 
Appellants; 

and 

Her Majesty the Queen Respondent. 

1974: October 30; 1975: March 7. 

Present: Laskin C.J. and Martland, Judson, Ritchie, 
Spence, Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz and 
de Grandpré JJ. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR 

ONTARIO 

Criminal law — Evidence — Admissibility—Self-in-
crimination—Identification—Admissibility of evi-
dence of refusal of identification line-up. 

At the trial of the accused before judge and jury on 
the charge of breaking and entering and theft the iden-
tification of Marcoux was the critical issue. After the 
arrest of the accused, Marcoux had been asked whether 
he would participate in a line-up. He had refused. Later 
that morning the alleged victim was shown two men 
walking down a hallway and identified one of them, 
Marcoux, as the person he had seen earlier in his hotel 
bedroom. The trial judge admitted evidence that Mar-
coux had refused to participate in a line-up and the 
appellants were convicted. The case went to appeal on 
the grounds that the evidence that Marcoux refused to 
participate in the line-up was inadmissible and that the 
trial judge should have instructed the jury that they 
could draw no adverse inference from such refusal. The 
Court of Appeal was of the opinion that the appeal 
should fail. 

Held: The appeal should be dismissed. 

The exhibition of the person of an accused at a police 
line-up for observation by an alleged victim is not itself a 
violation of the privilege against self incrimination. It 
should not be overlooked that the use of force to compel 
participation in a line-up may raise a question as to the 
powers of the police in relation to detained persons. 
Reasonable compulsion to this end is an incident to the 
police power to arrest and investigate. The evidence of 
Marcoux's refusal to take part in a line-up was admis-
sible in the present case, not for the purpose of proving 
guilt, but to explain the failure to hold an identification 
parade and the necessity, as a result, to have the witness 
confront Marcoux. The trial judge did not err in men-
tioning to the jury the accused's refusal to participate in 

Joseph Marcoux et Albert Solomon 
Appelants; 

et 

Sa Majesté la Reine Intimée. 

1974: le 30 octobre; 1975: le 7 mars. 

Présents: Le juge en chef Laskin et les juges Martland, 
Judson, Ritchie, Spence, Pigeon, Dickson, 
Beetz et de Grandpré. 

EN APPEL DE LA COUR D'APPEL DE L'ONTARIO 

Droit criminel—Preuve—Recevabilité—Auto-incri-
mination—Identification—Recevabilité de la preuve du 
refus de participer à une parade d'identification. 

Au procès des accusés devant juge et jury pour intro-
duction par effraction et vol, l'identification de Marcoux 
a été la question décisive. Après l'arrestation des accu-
sés, on a demandé à Marcoux de participer à une parade 
d'identification. Il a refusé. Plus tard au cours de 
l'avant-midi, la prétendue victime à qui l'on montrait 
deux hommes marchant dans un corridor, identifia l'un 
d'eux, soit Marcoux, comme la personne qu'il avait vue 
plus tôt dans sa chambre à l'hôtel. Le juge de première 
instance a jugé recevable la preuve du refus de Marcoux 
de participer à une parade d'identification et les appe-
lants ont été déclarés coupables. Un appel a été interjeté 
pour les motifs que la preuve que Marcoux avait refusé 
de participer à la parade d'identification était irreceva-
ble et que le juge de première instance aurait dû men-
tionner dans ses directives au jury qu'il ne pouvait tirer 
de ce refus de conclusion défavorable à l'accusé. La 
Cour d'appel a décidé de ne pas accueillir l'appel. 

Arrêt: Le pourvoi doit être rejeté. 

Faire participer un prévenu à une parade d'identifica-
tion aux fins d'observation par une présumée victime ne 
constitue pas en soi une violation de privilège contre 
l'auto-incrimination. Il ne faut pas oublier que l'emploi 
de la force pour contraindre à participer à une parade 
d'identification peut soulever une question quant aux 
limites des pouvoirs de la police à l'égard des personnes 
détenues. A cette fin, l'exercice d'une contrainte raison-
nable est accessoire au pouvoir de la police de faire 
enquête et d'effectuer des arrestations. La preuve du 
refus par Marcoux de participer à une parade d'identifi-
cation était recevable en l'espèce, non en vue de prouver 
la culpabilité, mais pour expliquer le défaut de procéder 
à une parade d'identification et la nécessité, comme 
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a line-up. 

Evidence of the offer and refusal of a line-up will not, 
however, be relevant and admissible in every case in 
which the identification of an accused is in issue. 
Admissibility depends on the circumstances of the case. 
If at trial, the Crown has to explain the omission of a 
line-up or accept the possibility of the jury drawing an 
adverse inference then it would seem that evidence of 
refusal is both relevant and admissible. In other circum-
stances such evidence should not normally be tendered 
as it might impinge upon the presumption of innocence 
and leave the jury with the impression. that there is a 
duty on the accused to prove his innocence. 

R. v. Judge of the General Sessions of the Peace for 
the County of York, ex parte Corning Glass Works of 
Canada Ltd., [1971] 2 O.R. 3; Curr v. The Queen, 
[1972] S.C.R. 889; A.-G. (Que.) v. Begin, [1955] S.C.R. 
593; Validity of Section 92(4) of the Vehicles Act, 1957 
(Sask.), [1958] S.C.R. 608; Holt v. United States 
(1910), 218 U.S. 245; Schmerber v. California (1966), 
384 U.S. 757; United States v. Wade (1967), 388 U.S. 
218; R. v. Burns, [1965] 2 O.R. 563; R. v. Shaw (1964), 
48 W.W.R. 190; Rochin v. California (1952), 342 U.S. 
165; Dallison v. Caffery, [1965] 1 Q.B. 348; R. v. 
Brager (1965), 52 W.W.R. 509; People v. Ballott 
(1967), 20 N.Y. 2d 600; R. v. Seiga, [1961] Crim. L.R. 
541; R. v. John, (abridged) [1973] Crim. L.R. 113 
referred to. 

APPEAL from a judgment of the Court of 
Appeal for Ontario dismissing an appeal by the 
accused from their convictions by Graburn Co. Ct. 
J. sitting with a jury on a charge of breaking and 
entering and theft. Appeal dismissed. 

R. Carter, for the appellants. 

C. Scullion, for the respondent. 

The judgment of the Court was delivered by 

DICKSON J.—An important pre-trial step in 
many criminal prosecutions is the identification of 
the accused by the alleged victim. Apart from 
identification with the aid of a photograph or 

~ [1973] 3 O.R. 861. 

conséquence, d'avoir mis Marcoux en présence du 
témoin. Le juge de première instance n'a pas commis 
d'erreur en mentionnant au jury le refus du prévenu de 
participer à une parade d'identification. 

La preuve de l'offre et du refus d'une parade d'identi-
fication ne sera toutefois pas pertinente et recevable 
dans tous les cas où la question de l'identification du 
prévenu est en litige. La recevabilité dépendra des cir-
constances en cause. S'il arrive au procès que le minis-
tère public doit expliquer l'omission d'une parade d'iden-
tification ou accepter la possibilité que le jury en tire 
une conclusion défavorable, alors dans les circonstances, 
il semblerait que la preuve du refus soit à la fois 
pertinente et recevable. En d'autres circonstances, une 
telle preuve ne devrait pas être soumise car elle peut 
influer sur la présomption d'innoncence, le jury pouvant 
avoir l'impression que le prévenu a l'obligation de prou-
ver son innocence. 

Arrêts mentionnés: R. v. Judge of the General Ses-
sions of the Peace for the County of York, ex parte 
Corning Glass Works of Canada Ltd., [1971] 2 O.R. 3; 
Curr c. La Reine, [1972] R.C.S. 889; Proc. Gén. (Qué.) 
c. Bégin, [1955] R.C.S. 593; Le renvoi sur la validité de 
l'art. 92(4) du Vehicles Act, 1957 (Sask.), [1958] 
R.C.S. 608; Holt v. United States (1910), 218 U.S. 245; 
Schmerber v. California (1966), 384 U.S. 757; United 
States v. Wade (1967), 388 U.S. 218; R. v. Burns, 
[1965] 2 O.R. 563; R. v. Shaw (1964), 48 W.W.R. 190; 
Rochin v. California (1952), 342, U.S. 165; Dallison v. 
Caffery, [1965] 1 Q.B. 348; R. v. Brager (1965), 52 
W.W.R. 509; People v. Ballott (1967), 20 N.Y. 2d 600; 
R. v. Seiga, [1961] Crim. L.R. 541; R. v. John, 
(résumé) [1973] Crim. L.R. 113. 

POURVOI à l'encontre d'un arrêt de la Cour 
d'appel de l'Ontario' rejetant un appel des accusés 
de leurs déclarations de culpabilité prononcées par 
le juge Graburn siégeant avec jury, sous l'accusa-
tion d'introduction avec effraction et de vol. Pour-
voi rejeté. 

R. Carter, pour les appelants. 

C. Scullion, pour l'intimée. 

Le jugement de la Cour a été rendu par 

LE JUGE DICKSON—Dans de nombreuses pour-
suites criminelles, une étape importante avant le 
procès est l'identification de l'accusé par la présu-
mée victime. Mise à part l'identification à l'aide 

~ [1973] 3 O.R. 861. 
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photographs, the identification procedure adopted 
by the police officers will normally be one of two 
types: (i) the showup—of a single suspect; (ii) the 
line-up—presentation of the suspect as part of a 
group. In this case the accused Marcoux refused a 
line-up and a showup followed. 

The question is whether there was error on the 
part of the trial judge in admitting evidence of the 
refusal. The question also arises whether, the evi-
dence having been admitted, there was error in 
failing to instruct the jury that Marcoux had a 
legal right to refuse to participate in a line-up and 
no adverse inference could be drawn from refusal. 
The two accused were tried and convicted before a 
judge and jury at the City of Toronto on the 
charge of breaking and entering and theft of a 
wallet. The theory of the Crown was that Marcoux 
in early morning had entered a hotel room 
occupied by Gerard Fleskes and his wife, that 
Fleskes had awakened and had spoken, whereupon 
Marcoux fled, taking Fleskes' wallet, and escaped 
in a car in which the co-accused Solomon was 
waiting. A bellman at the hotel recorded the 
licence number of the departing car. The critical 
issue at trial was the identification of Marcoux by 
Fleskes. The two accused were arrested shortly 
after the theft and escorted to the police station 
where one of the investigating officers, Detective 
Starrett, asked Marcoux whether he would partici-
pate in a line-up. Marcoux's refusal was emphatic 
and unambiguous. Later in the morning Fleskes 
was shown two men walking down a hallway, one 
of whom, Marcoux, he identified as the person he 
had seen earlier in his hotel bedroom. Five minutes 
later Fleskes was taken to a room occupied by 
Marcoux and a police constable, and there con-
fronted Marcoux, and gave the classic response, 
"Yes, sir, that is him."  

d'une photographie ou de plusieurs, la méthode 
d'identification pratiquée par les policiers sera nor-
malement l'une des deux suivantes: (i) la confron-
tation de la victime avec un seul suspect (the 
showup); (ii) la parade d'identification où le sus-
pect est présenté à la victime parmi un groupe (the 
line-up). En l'espèce, l'accusé Marcoux a refusé 
de se soumettre à la parade d'identification et on a 
procédé selon la première méthode. 

La question en litige est de savoir si le juge de 
première instance a commis une erreur en jugeant 
recevable la preuve du refus. Il y a aussi la ques-
tion de savoir si, la preuve ayant été admise, il y a 
eu erreur en omettant de mentionner dans les 
directives au jury que Marcoux avait légalement le 
droit de refuser de participer à une parade d'iden-
tification et qu'aucune conclusion défavorable à 
l'accusé ne pouvait être tirée du refus. Le procès 
des deux accusés, inculpés d'introduction par 
effraction et de vol d'un portefeuille, s'est déroulé 
devant un juge et un jury à Toronto et ils ont été 
déclarés coupables. Le ministère public a prétendu 
que Marcoux s'était introduit tôt le matin dans 
une chambre d'hôtel occupée par Gérard Fleskes 
et sa femme, que Fleskes s'était réveillé et avait 
parlé, sur quoi Marcoux s'était enfui, emportant le 
portefeuille de Fleskes, dans une voiture dans 
laquelle le coaccusé Solomon l'attendait. Un chas-
seur de l'hôtel a noté le numéro d'immatriculation 
de la voiture des fuyards. La question décisive au 
procès a été l'identification de Marcoux par Fles-
kes. Les deux prévenus ont été arrêtés peu de 
temps après le vol et conduits au poste de police où 
l'un des enquêteurs, le détective Starrett, a 
demandé à Marcoux de participer à une parade 
d'identification. Marcoux a refusé de façon abso-
lue et catégorique. Plus tard au cours de l'avant-
midi, on a montré à Fleskes deux hommes qui 
marchaient dans un corridor, dont l'un d'eux était 
Marcoux qu'il identifia comme la personne qu'il 
avait vue plus tôt dans sa chambre. Cinq minutes 
après, on a conduit Fleskes dans une pièce où se 
trouvaient Marcoux et un constable. Là, confronté 
avec Marcoux, il donna la réponse classique, [TRA-
DUCTION] «Oui, monsieur, c'est lui». 

	

At the conclusion of the examination in chief of 	A la fin de l'interrogatoire principal de Fleskes, 

	

Fleskes, the trial took an unusual turn. Counsel for 	le procès a pris une tournure inhabituelle. L'avocat 
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the accused Solomon, who was not counsel before 
this Court, moved that the case be then taken from 
the jury on the ground the evidence of identifica-
tion was insufficient in law to justify continuance. 
Counsel questioned the probative value of Fleskes' 
evidence. He emphasized that the identification 
had taken place in response to a question by a 
police officer, "Is that the man?" and while Mar-
coux was in custody. The motion was denied as 
premature, and the trial continued. During his 
evidence in chief Detective Starrett told the jury 
he had asked Marcoux whether he would partici-
pate in a line-up, and Marcoux had refused. 
Detective Starrett was subjected to vigorous and 
lengthy cross-examination; in particular counsel 
faulted him for failure to conduct a line-up or 
identification parade in accordance with the regu-
lations and procedure of the Metropolitan Toronto 
Police. It was suggested that Starrett had broken 
"every rule that is in the book" in parading Mar-
coux, that it was not "a proper line-up at all in any 
manner, shape or form", that Marcoux should 
have been allowed to have a lawyer present to see 
that the line-up was conducted fairly, that twelve 
people are supposed to be in the line-up and not 
just one. At the conclusion of the Crown evidence, 
the motion for a directed verdict of acquittal was 
renewed. Counsel for Marcoux maintained that 
the instructions and pamphlets of the Metropolitan 
Toronto Police respecting identification parades 
had been "spat upon" and what had occurred at 
the police station was a "mockery". It was in the 
light of this unequivocal, if somewhat intemperate 
and, in the circumstances, unwarranted, attack on 
police procedures that the trial judge in the course 
of his charge to the jury said: 

I have one other matter of law that I wish to refer to 
before reviewing the evidence with you. There is no 
statutory authority to force an accused person or a 
suspect or a person at a police station into a line-up. It 
will be for you to decide on the totality of the evidence 
what significance you will attach to Mr. Marcoux's 
refusal to participate in a suggested line-up.  

de l'accusé Solomon, qui ne le représentait pas 
devant cette Cour, a demandé que la cause soit 
retirée du jury pour le motif que la preuve d'identi-
fication était en droit insuffisante pour justifier la 
poursuite du procès. L'avocat a mis en doute la 
valeur probante du témoignage de Fleskes. Il a 
insisté sur le fait que l'identification s'était faite en 
réponse à la question «est-ce lui?» posée par un 
policier et alors que Marcoux était détenu. La 
requête a été refusée comme étant prématurée et 
le procès s'est poursuivi. Au cours de son témoi-
gnage principal, le détective Starrett a dit au jury 
qu'il avait demandé à Marcoux s'il voulait partici-
per à une parade d'identification et que Marcoux 
avait refusé. Le détective Starrett a été soumis a 
un contre-interrogatoire long et serré; en particu-
lier l'avocat l'a blâmé de n'avoir pas fait de parade 
d'identification conformément aux règlements et à 
la procédure de la police de la région métropoli-
taine de Toronto. On a soumis que Starrett avait 
[TRADUCTION] «fait fi de tous les règlements en 
usage» en identifiant Marcoux, qu'il s'agissait 
[TRADUCTION] «d'une parade d'identification tout 
à fait irrégulière dans la façon, la manière ou le 
mode de procéder», qu'on aurait dû permettre à 
Marcoux d'avoir un avocat présent afin de s'assu-
rer que la parade d'identification soit faite équita-
blement, que douze personnes sont censées partici-
per à la parade d'identification et non seulement 
une. A la fin de la preuve de la Couronne, on a de 
nouveau demandé un verdict commandé d'acquit-
tement. L'avocat de Marcoux a soutenu que les 
directives et les brochures de la sûreté de la région 
métropolitaine de Toronto relatives aux parades 
d'identification avaient été ignorées et que ce qui 
s'était produit au poste de police était un «simula-
cre». C'est à la lumière de cette attaque directe, 
quoiqu'un peu excessive et, dans les circonstances, 
injustifiée, contre les méthodes de la police que le 
juge de première instance a déclaré dans ses direc-
tives au jury: 

[TRADUCTION] Il y a une autre question de droit que 
j'aimerais mentionner avant de procéder avec vous à 
l'examen de la preuve. Aucune loi n'oblige un prévenu, 
un suspect ou une personne détenue dans un poste de 
police, à participer à une parade d'identification. Il vous 
incombe de décider d'après l'ensemble de la preuve de 
l'importance à donner au refus de M. Marcoux de 
participer à la parade d'identification proposée. 
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As I have said, the appellants were convicted. 
The case went to appeal on the grounds that the 
evidence that Marcoux refused to participate in 
the police line-up was inadmissible, and the trial 
judge should have instructed the jury they could 
draw no adverse inference from such refusal. A 
majority in the Court of Appeal for Ontario 
(Schroeder J.A., Jessup J.A. concurring) were of 
opinion the appeals must fail. Schroeder J.A. said 
police line-ups were a regular part of police routine 
when a crime was being investigated in which 
identification was an issue, that the invitation was 
extended to Marcoux for no improper purpose and 
failure to make a line-up or identification parade 
available might well have been a matter of adverse 
comment on the part of counsel for the accused. 
The majority of the Court did not regard the 
evidence in question to be inadmissible; it was but 
a circumstance which, together with all other cir-
cumstances, the jury were entitled to take into 
consideration in determining the guilt or innocence 
of the accused. Brooke J.A. did not agree. The 
rationale of his dissent is, I think, encapsulated in 
the following passage of his judgment: 

The privilege against self-incrimination vested in the 
appellant the right to refuse to participate in the line-up. 
To allow a negative inference to be drawn from the 
exercise of that right would amount to a partial denial of 
the right itself. 

In my opinion (i) an accused's privilege against 
self-incrimination is not violated if, while in cus-
tody and under pretrial investigation, he is placed 
in a police line-up; (ii) an issue of police power in 
respect of detained persons may, however, arise if 
physical compulsion is necessary; (iii) evidence of 
refusal to take part in the police line-up was 
admissible in the circumstances of this case; (iv) 
this evidence formed part of the totality of the 
evidence from which the jury was required to draw 
an inference of innocence or of guilt. 

Comme je l'ai dit, les appelants ont été déclarés 
coupables. Un appel a été interjeté pour les motifs 
que la preuve que Marcoux avait refusé de partici-
per à la parade d'identification était irrecevable et 
que le juge de première instance aurait dû men-
tionner dans ses directives au jury qu'il ne pouvait 
pas tirer de ce refus de conclusion défavorable à 
l'accusé. Une majorité de la Cour d'appel de l'On-
tario (les opinions des juges d'appel Schroeder et 
Jessup étant concordantes), a décidé que les appels 
ne pouvaient être accueillis. Le juge d'appel 
Schroeder a déclaré que les parades d'identifica-
tion faisaient régulièrement partie du travail cou-
rant de la police lorsque celle-ci faisait enquête 
relativement à un crime où la question d'identifica-
tion était en jeu, que l'invitation faite à Marcoux 
n'était pas irrégulière et le défaut de donner l'occa-
sion de participer à une parade d'identification 
aurait très bien pu faire l'objet de commentaires 
défavorables de la part de l'avocat de l'accusé. La 
majorité de la Cour n'a pas considéré la preuve en 
question irrecevable; il ne s'agissait que d'une cir-
constance dont le jury, avec toutes les autres, avait 
le droit de tenir compte pour décider de la culpabi-
lité ou de l'innocence de l'inculpé. Le juge d'appel 
Brooke n'était pas d'accord. Le principe de sa 
dissidence est, je crois, bien résumé dans le passage 
suivant de son jugement: 

[TRADUCTION] En raison du privilège contre l'auto-
incrimination, l'appelant avait le droit de refuser de 
participer à la parade d'identification. Permettre de tirer 
une conséquence négative de l'exercice de ce droit équi-
vaudrait à un déni partiel du droit lui-même. 

A mon avis, (i) le privilège d'un inculpé contre 
l'auto-incrimination n'est pas violé s'il est placé 
dans une parade d'identification lorsqu'il est 
détenu et qu'il fait l'objet d'une enquête avant le 
procès; (ii) le pouvoir de la police à l'égard des 
personnes détenues peut toutefois être mis en ques-
tion si la contrainte physique s'avère nécessaire; 
(iii) la preuve du refus de participer à une parade 
d'identification était recevable dans les circons-
tances de l'affaire; (iv) cet élément de preuve 
constituait une partie de l'ensemble de la preuve en 
vertu de laquelle le jury devait tirer une conclusion 
d'innocence ou de culpabilité. 
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I 

The limit of the privilege against self-incrimina-
tion is clear. The privilege is the privilege of a 
witness not to answer a question which may 
incriminate him. That is all that is meant by the 
Latin maxim nemo tenetur seipsum accusare, 
often incorrectly advanced in support of a much 
broader proposition. The extent of the maxim is 
stated in Broom's Legal Maxims (10th ed.) as 
follows, pp. 660-661: 
It may be stated as a general rule that a witness in any 
proceeding is privileged from answering, not merely 
where his answer will criminate him directly but also 
where it may have a tendency to criminate him. 
(Italics added) 

See R. v. Judge of the General Sessions of the 
Peace for the County of York, ex parte Corning 
Glass Works of Canada'. This Court in Curr v. 
The Queen 3, held that the "history of the privilege 
as a Canadian derivative from the English 
common law is accurately reflected in the way it is 
expressed in s. 2(d)" of the Canadian Bill of 
Rights. Section 2 of the Bill of Rights provides 
that no law of Canada shall be construed or 
applied so as to: 

(d) authorize a court ... to compel a person to give 
evidence if he is denied ... protection against self-crimi-
nation or other constitutional safeguards .. . 

Laskin J., as he then was, said at p. 912: 

... I cannot read s. 2(d) as going any farther than to 
render inoperative any statutory or non-statutory rule of 
federal law that would compel a person to criminate 
himself before a court or like tribunal through the giving 
of evidence, without concurrently protecting him against 
its use against him. 

The privilege, historically and comprehensively 
analyzed in 8 Wigmore on Evidence (McNaughton 
revision 1961) art. 2250, pp. 284 et seq., devel-
oped in revulsion from the system of interrogation 
practised in the old ecclesiastical courts and the 
Star Chamber, i.e. summoning a person, without 

2  [1971] 2 O.R. 3. 
3  [1972] S.C.R. 889. 

I 

La limite du privilège contre l'auto-incrimina-
tion est claire. Le privilège est celui d'un témoin de 
ne pas répondre à une question qui peut l'incrimi-
ner. C'est là tout ce que signifie la maxime latine 
nemo tenetur seipsum accusare, que l'on avance 
souvent à tort pour étayer une proposition beau-
coup plus générale. La portée de la maxime est 
énoncée dans Broom's Legal Maxims (10e éd.) 
comme suit, aux pp. 660-661: 
[TRADUCTION] On peut énoncer comme principe géné-
ral qu'un témoin dans toute procédure a le droit de ne 
pas répondre, non seulement lorsque sa réponse l'incri-
minerait directement mais aussi lorsqu'elle pourrait 
tendre à l'incriminer. 
(J'ai mis des mots en italiques) 

Voir R. v. Judge of the General Sessions of the 
Peace for the County of York, ex parte Corning 
Glass Works of Canada'. Cette Cour, dans l'arrêt 
Curr c. La Reine', a statué que «l'évolution, au 
Canada, de ce privilège, qui est tirée de la common 
law anglaise, est bien représentée dans la façon 
dont il est énoncé à l'art. 2(d)» de la Déclaration 
canadienne des droits. L'article 2 de la Déclara-
tion des droits prévoit que nulle loi du Canada ne 
doit s'interpréter ni s'appliquer comme 

d) autorisant une cour ... à contraindre une personne 
à témoigner si on lui refuse ... la protection contre son 
propre témoignage ou l'exercice de toute garantie d'or-
dre constitutionnel ... 

Le juge Laskin, alors juge puîné, a déclaré à la p. 
912: 
... je ne puis interpréter l'art. 2(d) comme faisant plus 
que rendre inopérante toute règle de droit fédérale, 
énoncée dans une loi formelle ou non, qui obligerait 
quelqu'un à s'accuser devant une cour ou un tribunal 
semblable en fournissant une preuve, sans en même 
temps le protéger contre l'utilisation de cette preuve 
contre lui. 

Le privilège, dont une analyse historique et globale 
est faite dans 8 Wigmore on Evidence (McNaugh-
ton revision 1961) art. 2250, aux pp. 284 sqq., 
s'est développé par réaction à la méthode d'interro-
gatoire pratiquée devant les anciens tribunaux 
ecclésiastiques et devant la Chambre Étoilée, où 

2  [1971] 2 O.R. 3. 
3  [1972] R.C.S. 889. 
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giving him warning of the charge against him, and 
examining him on oath. The general rule evolved 
that no one was bound to answer any question if 
the answer would tend to expose him to a criminal 
charge. As applied to witnesses generally, the 
privilege must be expressly claimed by the witness 
when the question is put to him in the witness box, 
Canada Evidence Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. E-10, s. 5. 
As applied to an accused, the privilege is the right 
to stand mute. An accused cannot be asked, much 
less compelled, to enter the witness box or to 
answer incriminating questions. If he chooses to 
testify, the protective shield, of course, disappears. 
In short, the privilege extends to the accused qua 
witness and not qua accused, it is concerned with 
testimonial compulsion specifically and not with 
compulsion generally: Attorney-General of 
Quebec v. Begin4; In re Validity of Section 92(4) 
of the Vehicles Act 1957 (Sask.) 5; see also the 
helpful article "Is there a right against self-
incrimination in Canada" by Professor Ed. 
Ratushny, (1973) 19 McGill Law Journal 1. 

American jurisprudence on the Fifth Amend-
ment, which protects a person against being com-
pelled "to be a witness against himself", and 
Canadian jurisprudence on the privilege against 
self-incrimination, have followed parallel courses, 
limiting the application of the privilege to its his-
toric reach, i.e. protection against testimonial com-
pulsion. Such a limitation gives rise to a distinction 
between coerced oral or documentary disclosures 
which fall within the privilege, and what has been 
termed "real or physical" evidence, i.e. physical 
evidence taken from a person without his consent, 
which, broadly speaking, falls outside the privilege. 

The leading Américan case in which this distinc-
tion first appears is Holt v. United States6. There 
the question was whether evidence was admissible 
that the accused, prior to trial and over his protest, 

4  [1955] S.C.R. 593. 
5  [1958] S.C.R. 608. 
6  (1910), 218 U.S. 245. 

l'usage consistait à faire comparaître une per-
sonne, sans l'aviser de quoi elle était inculpée, et à 
l'interroger sous serment. La règle générale a 
évolué jusqu'à ce que personne ne soit obligé de 
répondre à une question si la réponse pouvait 
tendre à l'exposer à une inculpation de nature 
criminelle. Appliqué aux témoins en général, le 
privilège doit être expressément invoqué par le 
témoin lorsqu'il est à la barre et que la question lui 
est posée, Loi sur la preuve au Canada, S.R.C. 
1970, c. E-10, art. 5. Appliqué à un accusé, le 
privilège consiste dans le droit de s'abstenir de 
répondre. On ne peut demander à un accusé, 
encore moins l'obliger, de venir à la barre aux 
témoins ou de répondre à des questions incrimi-
nantes. S'il choisit de témoigner, il perd évidem-
ment cette protection. En résumé, le privilège s'ap-
plique à l'accusé en tant que témoin et non pas en 
tant qu'accusé; il s'applique particulièrement à la 
contrainte de témoigner et non pas à la contrainte 
en général: Procureur général du Québec c. 
Bégin4; Le renvoi sur la validité de l'article 92(4) 
du Vehicles Act 1957 (Sask.) 5; voir aussi l'intéres-
sant article du professeur Ed. Ratushny, «Is there 
a right against self-incrimination in Canada, 
(1973) 19 McGill Law Journal 1. 

Le droit américain sur le cinquième amende-
ment, qui protège une personne contre la con-
trainte [TRADUCTION] "de témoigner contre elle-
même", et le droit canadien sur le privilège contre 
l'auto-incrimination ont suivi un cheminement 
parallèle en limitant l'application du privilège à sa 
portée historique, c.-à-d. assurer une protection 
contre la contrainte de témoigner. Une telle re-
striction fait naître une distinction entre des révé-
lations verbales ou écrites obtenues de force les-
quelles tombent sous le coup du privilège et ce 
qu'on a appelé la preuve "réelle ou matérielle", 
c.-à-d. une preuve matérielle qui a été obtenue 
d'une personne sans son consentement et qui, géné-
ralement parlant, n'est pas visée par le privilège. 

Aux États-Unis, le cas d'espèce qui fait autorité 
et qui le premier a fait cette distinction est l'arrêt 
Holt v. United States6. En cette affaire-là, la 
question était de savoir si la preuve que l'accusé, 

4  [1955] R.C.S. 593. 
5  [1958] R.C.S. 608. 
6  (1910), 218 U.S. 245. 
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put on a blouse that fitted him. It was contended 
that compelling the accused to submit to the 
demand that he model the blouse violated the 
privilege against self-incrimination. Mr. Justice 
Holmes, speaking for the Court, rejected the argu-
ment as "based upon an extravagant extension of 
the Fifth Amendment," and went on to say, pp. 
252-253: 

(T)he prohibition of compelling a man in a criminal 
court to be witness against himself is a prohibition of the 
use of physical or moral compulsion to extort communi-
cations from him, not an exclusion of his body as 
evidence when it may be material. The objection in 
principle would forbid a jury to look at a prisoner and 
compare his features with a photograph in proof. 

The Supreme Court of the United States in 
Schmerber v. California ', held that, p. 761: 

...the privilege protects an accused only from being 
compelled to testify against himself, or otherwise pro-
vide the State with evidence of a testimonial or com- 
municative nature 	 

and in the more recent case of United States v. 
Wade8, considered whether a suspect's privilege 
against self-incrimination had been violated when 
he was forced to stand in a line-up, wear stripes on 
his face and speak certain words. The majority of 
the court held that neither the line-up itself nor 
anything shown by the record that Wade was 
required to do in the line-up violated his privilege 
against self-incrimination. 

An accused cannot be forced to disclose any 
knowledge he may have about an alleged offence 
and thereby supply proof against himself but (i) 
bodily condition, such as features, exhibited in a 
courtroom or in a police line-up, clothing, finger-
prints, photographs, measurements (see the Iden-
tification of Criminals Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. I-1), 
and (ii) conduct which the accused cannot control, 
such as compulsion to submit to a search of his  

avant son procès et malgré ses protestations, avait 
revêtu une vareuse qui était de sa taille, était 
recevable. On a prétendu que le fait de contraindre 
l'inculpé à se soumettre à l'ordre d'essayer la 
vareuse, était une violation du privilège contre 
l'auto-incrimination. M. le juge Holmes, parlant 
au nom de la Cour, a rejeté l'argument comme 
[TRADUCTION] "fondé sur une étendue exagérée 
du cinquième amendement," et il a continué en ces 
termes, aux pp. 252 et 253: 

[TRADUCTION] L'interdiction de contraindre une per-
sonne devant un tribunal pénal de témoigner contre 
elle-même est une interdiction d'employer la contrainte 
physique ou morale afin de lui extorquer des communi-
cations, mais elle n'empêche pas de recourir à sa per-
sonne physique comme preuve lorsque la chose peut être 
pertinente. En principe, l'objection interdirait au jury de 
regarder un accusé et de comparer ses traits avec ceux 
reproduits sur une photographie mise en preuve. 

La Cour suprême des États-Unis dans l'arrêt 
Schmerber v. California7, a décidé que, à la p. 
761: 

[TRADUCTION] ... le privilège protège le prévenu uni-
quement contre l'obligation de témoigner contre lui-
même, ou d'autrement fournir à l'État une preuve, sous 
forme de témoignage ou de communication .. . 

et dans l'arrêt plus récent de United States v. 
Wade8,  elle a examiné si le privilège d'un suspect 
contre l'auto-incrimination avait été violé lorsqu'il 
avait été obligé de participer à une parade d'identi-
fication, de mettre des bandes sur son visage et de 
prononcer certaines paroles. La majorité de la 
Cour a décidé que ni la parade d'identification en 
soi, ni rien que Wade, selon le dossier, avait été 
obligé de faire au cours de la parade, n'avait violé 
son privilège contre l'auto-incrimination. 

Un prévenu ne peut être contraint de divulguer 
quelque fait qu'il peut connaître relativement à 
une infraction présumée et fournir ainsi une 
preuve contre lui-même mais le principe n'est pas 
violé par (i) les traits physiques, tel que son aspect, 
dans la salle d'audience ou dans une parade d'iden-
tification, ses vêtements, ses empreintes digitales, 
ses photographies, ses mensurations (voir la Loi 
sur l'identification des criminels S.R.C. 1970, c. 

7 (1966), 384 U.S. 757. 7 (1966), 384 U.S. 757. 
s (1967), 388 U.S. 218. e (1967), 388 U.S. 218. 
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clothing for concealed articles or his person for 
body markings or taking shoe impressions or com-
pulsion to appear in Court do not violate the 
principle. As Wigmore, supra has observed, Art. 
2265, p. 386: "When the person's body, its marks 
and traits, itself is in issue, there is ordinarily no 
other or better evidence available for the prosecu-
tor." Difficult questions have arison when pre-trial 
police procedures went beyond mere physical 
examination to the taking of blood and other 
bodily fluids for the purpose of analysis and use in 
evidence (see R. v. Burns9, and s. 237(2) of the 
Criminal Code)—or when considering the right of 
the police to require performance of physical tests 
to determine whether a person is impaired (R. v. 
Shaw 10) or in extracting physical evidence from a 
person's body without his consent (Rochin v. 
California". See also "Self-Incrimination by the 
Accused in English Law" by Professor G.D. 
Nokes, 2 U.B.C. Law Review 316.) But those 
cases are not this case. I am in no doubt that the 
exhibition of the person of an accused at a line-up 
for observation by an alleged victim is not itself a 
violation of the privilege against self-incrimination. 

II 

Apart altogether from the concept of the privi-
lege against self-incrimination, it should not be 
overlooked that the application of force to compel 
an accused or a suspect to take part in a line-up 
may raise a question as to the limits on the powers 
of the police in relation to detained persons. 
Reasonable compulsion to this end is in my opinion 
an incident to the police power to arrest and 
investigate, and no more subject to objection than 
compelling the accused to exhibit his person for 
observation by a prosecution witness during a trial. 

9  [1965] 2 O.R. 563. 
10 (1964), 48 W.W.R. 190. 
11 (1952), 342 U.S. 165. 

I-1), et (ii) les actes que le prévenu doit faire, 
comme le contraindre à se soumettre à une fouille 
de ses vêtements à la recherche d'objets cachés ou 
à un examen de sa personne pour y trouver des 
cicatrices ou à la prise d'empreinte de ses souliers 
ou le contraindre de comparaître devant le tribu-
nal. Comme Wigmore le fait remarquer à l'art. 
2265, p. 386: [TRADUCTION] «Lorsque le physique 
d'une personne, avec ses traits et caractéristiques, 
est lui-même en cause, le poursuivant n'a ordinai-
rement aucune autre preuve ni de meilleures preu-
ves». Des questions difficiles ont été soulevées lors-
que les procédures policières avant le procès ont 
dépassé le simple examen physique pour aller jus-
qu'à la prise de sang et autres substances en vue 
d'en faire l'analyse et de les présenter en preuve 
(voir R. v. Burns9, et le par. 2 de l'art. 237 du 
Code criminel)—ou lorsqu'on considère le droit de 
la police d'exiger qu'une personne subisse des 
épreuves physiques en vue de déterminer si elle est 
en état d'ébriété (R. v. Shaw) 10  ou lorsqu'on pré-
lève des éléments de preuve du corps d'une per-
sonne sans son consentement (Rochin v. Cali-
fornia11. Voir aussi (Self-Incrimination by the 
Accused in English Law» par le professeur G. D. 
Nokes, 2 U.B.C. Law Review 316). Mais ces 
arrêts ne sont pas similaires au cas en l'espèce. Je 
n'ai aucun doute que faire participer un prévenu à 
une parade d'identification aux fins d'observation 
par une présumée victime ne constitue pas en soi 
une violation du privilège contre l'auto-incrimina-
tion. 

II 

Mettant tout à fait de côté le concept du privi-
lège contre l'auto-incrimination, il ne faut pas 
oublier que l'emploi de la force pour contraindre 
un prévenu ou un suspect à participer à une parade 
d'identification peut soulever une question quant 
aux limites des pouvoirs de la police à l'égard des 
personnes détenues. A cette fin, l'exercice d'une 
contrainte raisonnable est à mon avis accessoire au 
pouvoir de la police de faire enquête et d'effectuer 
des arrestations, et elle n'est pas plus susceptible 
de soulever des objections que le fait d'obliger un 

9  [1965] 2 O.R. 563. 
10 (1964), 48 W.W.R. 190. 
11 (1952) 342 U.S. 165. 
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The powers of peace officers with respect to per-
sons under arrest were dealt with by the Court of 
Appeal in England in Dallison v. Caffery 12  where 
Denning M.R. stated at p. 367: 

When a constable has taken into custody a person 
reasonably suspected of felony, he can do what is 
reasonable to investigate the matter, and to see whether 
the suspicions are supported or not by further evidence. 
... The constable can put the suspect up on an identifi-
cation parade to see if he is picked out by witnesses. So 
long as such measures are taken reasonably, they are an 
important adjunct to the administration of justice. 

The extent of the right of the police to force a 
suspect to take part in a line-up against his will 
does not, of course, squarely arise in this case, as 
the police accepted Marcoux's refusal, and indeed 
the question will usually be of very little practical 
importance, as the introduction of a struggling 
suspect into a line-up might make a farce of any 
line-up procedure. Additionally, as Professor Glan-
ville Williams has observed in 1963 Criminal Law 
Review, pp. 479, 480: 

... if the suspect objects the police will merely have him 
"identified" by showing him to the witness and asking 
the witness whether he is the man. Since this is obvious-
ly far more dangerous to the accused than taking part in 
a parade, the choice of a parade is almost always 
accepted. 

In Attorney-General for Quebec v. Begin, supra, 
Fauteux J. said that to his knowledge there has 
never been exclusion as inadmissible from the 
evidence at trial of the report of facts definitively 
incriminating the accused and which he supplies 
involuntarily as for example, inter alia, his iden-
tification when for this purpose he is lined up with 
other persons. His words were, p. 602: 

Also to my knowledge there has never been, for these 
reasons, exclusion, as inadmissible, from the evidence at 
the trial, of the report of facts definitely incriminating 

12 [1965] 1 Q.B. 348. 

prévenu à se montrer pour qu'un témoin de la 
poursuite puisse l'observer au cours d'un procès. 
Les pouvoirs des agents de la paix à l'égard des 
personnes en état d'arrestation ont été traités par 
la cour d'appel d'Angleterre dans Dallison v. Caf-
fery 12, où le maître des rôles Denning a déclaré, à 
la p. 367: 

[TRADUCTION] Lorsqu'un agent de la paix a appré-
hendé une personne raisonnablement suspecte d'un 
crime, il peut faire ce qui est raisonnable pour procéder 
à l'enquête et pour voir si les soupçons sont confirmés ou 
non par d'autres éléments de preuve....L'agent de la 
paix peut faire participer le suspect à une parade d'iden-
tification pour voir s'il sera désigné par des témoins. 
Dans la mesure où de tels moyens sont employés de 
façon raisonnable, ils constituent un auxiliaire important 
à l'administration de la justice. 

Naturellement, l'étendue du droit de la police 
d'obliger un suspect à prendre part à une parade 
d'identification malgré lui, n'est pas carrément 
soulevé en l'espèce puisque la police a accepté le 
refus de Marcoux, et en fait, la question a ordinai-
rement très peu d'importance en pratique car faire 
participer de force à la parade d'identification un 
suspect réticent pourrait tourner la procédure en 
dérision. De plus, comme le professeur Glanville 
Williams l'a fait remarquer dans 1963 Criminal 
Law Review, aux pp. 479 et 480: 
[TRADUCTION] ... si le suspect s'y oppose, la police le 
fera simplement «identifier» en le montrant au témoin et 
en demandant à ce dernier si le prévenu est l'homme en 
question. Comme cette pratique est évidemment beau-
coup plus dangereuse pour le prévenu que celle de 
participer à une parade d'identification, celui-ci accep-
tera presque toujours cette dernière. 

Dans l'arrêt Procureur général du Québec c. 
Bégin, supra, le juge Fauteux dit que, selon lui, on 
n'a jamais exclu, comme inadmissible, de la preuve 
au procès, le rapport de faits incriminant définiti-
vement l'accusé et que lui-même supplée involon-
tairement, tel que par exemple, entre autres, son 
identification lorsqu'à ces fins il est mis en ligne 
parmi d'autres personnes. Il a employé ces termes, 
à la p. 602: 

Je ne sache pas non plus qu'on ait jamais, pour ces 
motifs, exclu, comme inadmissible, de la preuve au 
procès, le rapport de faits incriminant définitivement 

12 [1965] 1 Q.B. 348. 
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the accused and which he supplies involuntarily, as for 
example:- his bearing, his walk, his clothing, his manner 
of speaking, his state of sobriety or intoxication; his 
calmness, his nervousness or hesitation, his marks of 
identity, his identification when for this purpose he is 
lined up with other persons; the presence on him of 
stolen objects or objects the possession of which, being 
forbidden to the public, constitutes a breach of the law 
and affords ground for criminal prosecution, such as 
narcotics, spirituous liquors unlawfully manufactured or 
imported, and others. Without doubt, the method used 
for obtaining this kind of evidence may, in certain cases, 
be illegal and may even give occasion for recourse to 
civil or even criminal action against those who have used 
it, but there is no longer any discussion of the proposi-
tion declaring that in such cases the illegality affecting 
the method of obtaining the evidence does not affect, per 
se, the admissibility of this evidence at the trial. 

III 

As to the admissibility of evidence of refusal by 
Marcoux to participate in a line-up, it is only 
necessary to observe that the trial tactics of 
defence counsel made this evidence admissible 
beyond any question; admissible, not for the pur-
pose of proving guilt, but to explain the failure to 
hold an identification parade and the necessity, as 
a result, to have Fleskes confront Marcoux, a 
procedure which counsel for Marcoux so roundly 
criticized. See R. v. Brager 13  at p. 511. 

As Professor Williams notes in the . article to 
which I have referred, p. 481: 

The Courts have come to expect that evidence of iden-
tification should be subjected to the test of a parade, 
especially where mere confrontation of a witness with 
the suspect during investigations might not produce 
reliable results, either because the witness had only a 
fleeting glimpse of the culprit or because his memory 
seems not sufficiently definite about the culprit's 
appearance. 

New York cases since People v. Ballotti4  have 
found the failure to employ a line-up by the police, 
absent imperative circumstances, violative of due 
process—see "Pretrial Identification", (1971) 55  

l'accusé et que lui-même supplée involontairement, tel 
que par exemple:—sa tenue, sa démarche, son vêtement, 
sa façon de parler, son état de sobriété ou d'ébriété; son 
calme, son énervement ou son hésitation, ses marques 
d'identité, son identification lorsqu'à ces fins il est mis 
en ligne parmi d'autres personnes; la présence sur lui-
même d'objets volés ou d'objets dont la possession uni-
quement constitue une infraction à la loi et donne lieu à 
des poursuites criminelles, telle la possession de narcoti-
ques, de spiritueux illégalement manufacturés ou impor-
tés, et autres. Sans doute, la méthode employée pour 
l'obtention de certaines de ces preuves peut, dans cer-
tains cas, être illégale et même donner lieu à des recours 
d'ordre civil ou même criminel, contre ceux qui l'ont 
utilisée, mais on ne discute plus de la proposition voulant 
qu'en ces cas, l'illégalité entachant la méthode d'obten-
tion de la preuve n'affecte pas, per se, l'admissibilité de 
cette preuve au procès. 

III 

Quand à la recevabilité de la preuve du refus par 
Marcoux de participer à une parade d'identifica-
tion, il est seulement nécessaire de faire remarquer 
que les tactiques de l'avocat de la défense au 
procès ont rendu cette preuve recevable hors de 
tout doute; recevable, non en vue de prouver la 
culpabilité, mais pour expliquer le défaut de procé-
der à une parade d'identification, et la nécessité, 
comme conséquence, d'avoir mis Marcoux en pré-
sence de Fleskes, une méthode que l'avocat de 
Marcoux a critiqué si vertement. Voir R. v. Bra-
ger, 13  à la p. 511. 

Comme le professeur Williams le mentionne à 
l'article auquel j'ai renvoyé, à la p. 481: 

[TRADucTioN] Les cours en sont venues à s'attendre à 
ce que la parade fasse partie de la preuve d'identifica-
tion, particulièrement lorsque la simple confrontation 
d'un témoin avec le suspect au cours de l'enquête pour-
rait ne pas donner de résultats valables, soit parce que le 
témoin n'a qu'entrevu rapidement le suspect, soit parce 
que sa mémoire ne semble pas suffisamment précise 
quand à l'aspect du prévenu. 

D'après les décisions rendues dans l'État de New 
York depuis l'arrêt People v. Ballott, 14, le défaut 
par la police d'utiliser la parade d'identification, 
en l'absence de circonstances incontrôlables, cons- 

13 (1965), 52 W.W.R. 509. 13  (1965), 52 W.W.R. 509. 
14 (1967), 20 N.Y. 2d 600. 14 (1967), 20 N.Y. 2d 600. 
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Minnesota Law Review 779, at p. 791. The Court 
of Criminal Appeal of England has commented 
adversely on the absence of an identification 
parade and failure to explain the omission to hold 
one: R. v. Seiga 15. In R. v. John (unreported, 
abridged in (1973) Crim. L.R. 113) evidence was 
given by a detective constable that the accused had 
refused an identification parade. On appeal from 
conviction, it was urged, unsuccessfully, that the 
trial judge had wrongly allowed one of the wit-
nesses to identify the accused in the dock when she 
had not identified him before the trial. Lord Jus-
tice Cairns, delivering the judgment of the Court 
of Appeal, said: 

This method of identification ought to have been 
avoided if possible. It might have been possible in this 
case if the Appellant had been willing to submit to an 
identification parade. Leaving out altogether the ques-
tion of whether or not it was reasonable for him to 
refuse an identification parade, the fact was that the 
Prosecution did not have that very much better method 
of identification available and, that being so, it does not 
appear to this Court to be wrong to allow that method of 
identification to be used by that witness, Miriam Baker.  

tituait une violation de l'application régulière de la 
loi—voir «Pre-trial Identification», (1971) 55 Min-
nesota Law Review 779, p. 791. La Cour d'appel 
en matière criminelle d'Angleterre a critiqué l'ab-
sence d'une parade d'identification et le défaut 
d'en expliquer l'omission: R. v. Seiga. 15. Dans 
l'arrêt R. v. John (non publié, résumé dans (1973) 
Cr. L.R. 113), un détective a témoigné que le 
prévenu avait refusé de participer à une parade 
d'identification. En appel de la déclaration de cul-
pabilité, on a fait valoir, sans succès, que le juge de 
première instance avait eu tort de permettre à l'un 
des témoins d'identifier le prévenu au banc des 
accusés alors qu'il ne l'avait pas identifié avant le 
procès. Le lord juge Cairns, rendant le jugement 
de la Cour d'appel, a dit: 

[TRADUCTION] Cette méthode d'identification aurait 
dû être évitée si possible. En l'espèce, cela aurait pu être 
possible si l'appelant avait accepté de participer à une 
parade d'identification. Abstraction faite de la question 
de savoir s'il était raisonnable pour lui de refuser de 
participer à une parade d'identification, vu que la pour-
suite n'avait pu se prévaloir de cette méthode d'identifi-
cation qui est de beaucoup préférable, selon cette Cour, 
il n'apparaît pas illégitime de permettre que cette 
méthode d'identification soit employée par ce témoin, 
Miriam Baker. 

I should make it clear, however, that I do not 
think evidence of the offer and refusal of a line-up 
will be relevant and admissible in every case in 
which identification of an accused is in issue. 
Admissibility will depend upon the circumstances 
of the case. If, at trial, it unfolds that the Crown 
must explain the omission of a line-up or accept 
the possibility of the jury drawing an adverse 
inference, then in those circumstances it would 
seem that evidence of refusal is both relevant and 
admissible. In other circumstances I do not think 
such evidence should normally be tendered. The 
danger, as I see it, is that it may impinge on the 
presumption of innocence, the jury may gain the 
impression there is a duty on the accused to prove 
he is innocent. However, on the facts of the present 
case, I have no doubt whatever that evidence of 
Marcoux's refusal to take part in the line-up was 
admissible, coming as it did after the issue was 

15  [1961] Crim. L.R. 541. 

Je voudrais toutefois dire clairement que je ne 
pense pas que la preuve de l'offre et du refus d'une 
parade d'identification sera pertinente et recevable 
dans tous les cas où la question de l'identification 
du prévenu est en jeu. La recevabilité dépendra des 
circonstances en cause. S'il arrive au procès que le 
ministère public doive expliquer l'omission d'une 
parade d'identification ou accepter la possibilité 
que le jury en tire une conclusion défavorable, 
alors, dans les circonstances, il semblerait que la 
preuve du refus soit à la fois pertinente et receva-
ble. En d'autres circonstances, je ne crois pas 
qu'une telle preuve devrait normalement être sou-
mise. Le danger, comme je le vois, est que cela 
peut influer sur la présomption d'innocence, le jury 
pouvant avoir l'impression que le prévenu a l'obli-
gation de prouver son innocence. Toutefois, d'après 
les faits en l'espèce, je n'ai aucun doute que la 
preuve du refus de Marcoux de participer à la 

15 [1961] Crim. L.R. 541. 
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opened by defence counsel following upon the 
evidence in chief of Fleskes. 

IV 

I find nothing wrong with the judge's charge to 
the jury. He told the jury there was no statutory 
authority to force an accused person or a suspect 
or a person at a police station into a line-up. That 
is a correct statement; if it is subject to any 
criticism, it is that it is too favourable to the 
accused. The judge then told the jury it was up to 
them to decide on the totality of the evidence what 
significance they would attach to Marcoux's refus-
al to participate in a suggested line-up. I do not 
think the judge erred in so instructing the jury. 
The evidence of the refusal was simply one more 
piece of evidence bearing upon the single issue, 
identification. It explained the failure to hold a 
line-up. The jury could take it into account. It was 
relevant and admissible and an inference could be 
drawn from it—if it was not open to any inference 
it was not relevant and not admissible. Even in 
such a matter as the failure of an accused to 
testify, although neither judge nor counsel can 
comment upon the failure, a jury is free to draw, 
and I have no doubt frequently does draw from the 
failure, an inference adverse to the accused. 

I would dismiss the appeals. 

Appeal dismissed. 

Solicitor for the appellants: Robert J. Carter, 
Toronto. 

Solicitor for the respondent: The Attorney Gen-
eral for Ontario, Toronto.  

parade d'identification était recevable, vu qu'elle 
s'est présentée après que la question a été soulevée 
par l'avocat de la défense, à la suite du témoignage 
principal de Fleskes. 

IV 

Je n'ai rien à reprocher aux directives du juge 
au jury. Il a dit au jury qu'il n'y avait pas d'auto-
rité légale obligeant un prévenu ou un suspect ou 
une personne détenue dans un poste de police à 
participer à une parade d'identification. C'est là 
un énoncé juste; la seule critique qu'on peut lui 
adresser, c'est qu'il est trop favorable au prévenu. 
Le juge a ensuite dit au jury qu'il leur incombait 
de décider selon l'ensemble de la preuve de l'im-
portance à donner au refus de Marcoux de partici-
per à la parade d'identification proposée. Je ne 
crois pas que le juge ait commis d'erreur en don-
nant ces directives au jury. La preuve du refus 
était simplement un autre élément de preuve ayant 
une portée sur la question unique en litige, l'identi-
fication. Elle expliquait l'absence d'une parade 
d'identification. Le jury pouvait en tenir compte. 
C'était pertinent et recevable et une conclusion 
pouvait en être tirée—si aucune conclusion n'était 
possible, ce n'était ni pertinent ni recevable. Même 
dans une question telle que le défaut du prévenu de 
témoigner, bien que ni le juge ni l'avocat ne puis-
sent commenter le défaut, un jury est libre d'en 
tirer une conclusion défavorable à l'accusé et je ne 
doute pas qu'il le fasse fréquemment. 

Je suis d'avis de rejeter les pourvois. 

Appel rejeté. 

Procureur des appelants: Robert J. Carter, 
Toronto. 

Procureur de l'intimée: The Attorney General 
for Ontario, Toronto. 
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H. L. Weiss Forwarding Limited Appellant; 

and 

Peter Omnus, Hermann Ludwig Allgemeine 
Land-Und Seetransportgesellschaft, Jurgen 
Eisen and Hermann Ludwig (Canada) 
Limited Respondents. 

1975: May 9; 1975: June 26. 

Present: Laskin C.J. and Judson, Spence, Beetz 
and de Grandpré JJ. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR 
ONTARIO 

Damages — Quantum — Punitive damages—Tort—
Company knowingly inducing breach of contract—Con-
spiracy to take over business by drawing away key 
employees and solicitation of major customers. 

The plaintiff established at trial the liability of 
Omnus, its chief managing officer, and of Eisen, his 
assistant, for breach of contract of employment in fail-
ing to give proper notice, and also the liability of the 
defendant company in tort for knowingly inducing these 
officers to break their contracts. All three defendants 
were found liable for conspiracy, in having combined 
together to obtain the plaintiff's business and its good-
will without paying for it by a plan which had been 
inaugurated prior to January 1, 1970, and which result-
ed in Omnus abruptly leaving the plaintiff's employ on 
January 9, 1970, and Eisen shortly thereafter, to take 
charge of a new company promoted by the defendant 
company. The trial judge assessed $6,000 against 
Omnus and the equivalent of one month's salary against 
Eisen for breach of contract and then assessed $20,000 
against all defendants for the conspiracy. The plaintiff's 
appeal of the award of damages was dismissed without 
written reasons by the Court of Appeal. On further 
appeal, plaintiff sought an increase in the award of 
$20,000 or alternatively an award of punitive damages. 

Held (Judson and de Grandpré JJ. dissenting): The 
appeal should be allowed. 

Per Laskin C.J. and Spence and Beetz JJ.: The trial 
judge in his reasons intimated that assessment of a 
punitive award would be difficult and did not face up to 
the consequences of his findings. The circumstances of 
the case, the tortious drawing away of the plaintiff's key 

H. L. Weiss Forwarding Limited Appelante; 

et 

Peter Omnus, Hermann Ludwig Allgemeine 
Land-Und Seetransportgesellschaft, Jurgen 
Eisen et Hermann Ludwig (Canada) 
Limited Intimés. 

1975: le 9 mai; 1975: le 26 juin. 

Présents: Le juge en chef Laskin et les juges Judson, 
Spence, Beetz et de Grandpré. 

EN APPEL DE LA COUR D'APPEL DE L'ONTARIO 

Dommages-intérêts—Quantum—Dommages exem-
plaires — Faute délictuelle — Compagnie entraînant 
sciemment une rupture de contrat—Conspiration pour 
s'emparer d'une entreprise en attirant ses principaux 
employés et en sollicitant ses principaux clients. 

La demanderesse a établi en première instance la 
responsabilité de Omnus, son gérant, et de Eisen, son 
adjoint, qui avaient violé leur contrat de louage de 
services en ne donnant pas l'avis requis, ainsi que la 
responsabilité délictuelle de la compagnie défenderesse 
qui a sciemment entraîné ces employés supérieurs à 
rompre leur contrat. Les trois défendeurs ont été trouvés 
également responsables d'avoir conspiré ensemble pour 
s'emparer de l'entreprise de la demanderesse ainsi que 
de sa clientèle sans en payer le prix par un complot qui 
avait pris naissance avant le 1r janvier 1970 et qui eut 
pour conséquence qu'Omnus quitte soudainement son 
emploi, le 9 janvier 1970 et qu'Eisen l'imite peu de 
temps après, en vue d'assumer la gestion d'une nouvelle 
compagnie lancée par la comagnie défenderesse. Le juge 
de première instance a condamné Omnus à payer $6,000 
et Eisen, l'équivalent d'un mois de salaire, pour violation 
de leur contrat, et il a ensuite condamné les trois défen-
deurs à payer $20,000 pour conspiration. L'appel de la 
demanderesse sur le montant des dommages a été rejeté, 
sans motifs écrits, par la Cour d'appel de l'Ontario. 
Dans le pourvoi devant cette Cour, la demanderesse 
demande une augmentation substantielle de ce montant 
de $20,000 ou subsidiairement l'octroi de dommages 
exemplaires. 

Arrêt (les juges Judson et de Grandpré étant dissi-
dents): Le pourvoi doit être accueilli. 

Le juge en chef Laskin et les juges Spence et Beetz: 
Le juge de première instance a, dans ses motifs, laissé 
entendre qu'il serait difficile de faire l'évaluation des 
dommages exemplaires et il n'a pas bien pesé les consé-
quences de ses conclusions. Les circonstances de cette 
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employees, the coupling of this with a scheme to take 
over the plaintiff's business and to end the plaintiff as a 
going concern, and the fact that plaintiff had a modest 
business in terms relative to the defendant company, 
justified, in the interests of justice, an award of punitive 
damages in the additional amount of $10,000. 

Per Judson and de Grandpré JJ. dissenting: The 
assessment of damages made by the trial judge and 
affirmed by the Court of Appeal should stand. On the 
facts of the case an award of punitive damages was 
inappropriate. 

APPEAL from the Court of Appeal for Ontario 
dismissing an appeal, without written reasons, of 
the award of damages from a judgment of Moor-
house J. at trial awarding damages for breach of 
contract and in tort. Appeal allowed, Judson and 
de Grandpré JJ. dissenting. 

W. G. Dingwall, Q.C., and W. A. McLauchlin, 
for the appellant. 

J. Edgar Sexton, and P. Atkinson, for the 
respondents. 

The judgment of Laskin C.J. and Spence and 
Beetz JJ. was delivered by 

THE CHIEF JUSTICE—The only issue in this 
appeal is the quantum of damages properly assess-
able to the plaintiff appellant against the defend-
ants respondents. The plaintiff succeeded at trial 
in establishing the liability of the defendant 
Omnus, its chief managing officer, and of the 
defendant Eisen, his assistant, for breach of their 
contracts of employment. Omnus was in breach for 
failing to give six months' notice and Eisen for 
failing to give one month's notice. In addition, and 
this was the main cause of complaint, the plaintiff 
established the liability of the defendant company 
in tort for knowingly inducing Omnus and Eisen to 
break their contracts of employment with the 
plaintiff in order to capture their services for itself, 
and the liability of all three defendants for 
conspiracy. 

In this latter aspect, the trial judge made this 
important finding:  

affaire, la faute délictuelle commise en attirant les prin-
cipaux employés de la demanderesse à laquelle s'ajoute 
un complot pour s'emparer de l'entreprise de la deman-
deresse et de la détruire complètement, ainsi que le fait 
que l'entreprise de la demanderesse était modeste en 
comparaison avec la compagnie défenderesse justifient, 
dans l'intérêt de la justice, l'octroi d'un montant supplé-
mentaire de $10,000 à titre de dommages exemplaires. 

Les juges Judson et de Grandpré dissidents: L'évalua-
tion des dommages-intérêts faite par le juge de première 
instance et confirmée par la Cour d'appel doit être 
maintenue. D'après les faits en l'espèce, l'occasion n'est 
pas propice d'accorder une indemnité pour dommages 
exemplaires. 

POURVOI d'un arrêt de la Cour d'appel de 
l'Ontario qui a rejeté un appel, sans motifs écrits, 
du montant des dommages-intérêts accordé par le 
juge de première instance pour rupture de contrat 
et faute délictuelle. Pourvoi accueilli, les juges 
Judson et de Grandpré étant dissidents. 

W. G. Dingwall, c. r., et W. A. McLauchlin, 
pour l'appelante. 

J. Edgar Sexton, et P. Atkinson, pour les 
intimés. 

Le jugement du juge en chef Laskin et des juges 
Spence et Beetz a été rendu par 

LE JUGE EN CHEF—La seule question en litige 
en ce pourvoi est le montant des dommages-inté-
rêts accordés à la demanderesse appelante à l'en-
contre des défendeurs intimés. En première ins-
tance, la demanderesse a réussi à établir la 
responsabilité du défendeur Omnus, son gérant, et 
du défendeur Eisen, son adjoint, pour violation de 
leur contrat de louage de services. Omnus était en 
faute pour n'avoir pas donné un avis de six mois et 
Eisen pour n'avoir pas donné un avis d'un mois. De 
plus, et c'était surtout là son principal grief, la 
demanderesse a prouvé la responsabilité délictuelle 
de la compagnie défenderesse qui a sciemment 
entraîné Omnus et Eisen à rompre leur contrat de 
louage de services avec la demanderesse afin de les 
embaucher elle-même. La demanderesse a égale-
ment établi la responsabilité des trois défendeurs 
pour conspiration. 

Sur ce dernier point, le juge de première ins-
tance en est venu à cette importante conclusion: 
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The German company, Omnus and Eisen combined 
together to obtain the plaintiffs business and its good-
will without paying for it and succeeded in doing so. The 
plan was inaugurated before January 1, 1970. 

Omnus abruptly left the plaintiffs employ on 
January 9, 1970, and Eisen shortly afterwards, in 
order to take charge of a new company promoted 
by the corporate defendant. The new company was 
in business shortly after Omnus left the plaintiff's 
employ, and he lost no time in soliciting and taking 
away the business of the plaintiffs five major 
customers, business which the plaintiff had been 
able to keep for some eight years. 

The trial judge assessed $6,000 against Omnus 
and the equivalent of one month's salary against 
Eisen for breach of contract and then assessed the 
sum of $20,000 against all defendants for the 
conspiracy, although it is clear that it was the 
corporate defendant which was behind or able to 
carry out the scheme of driving the plaintiff out of 
business. Only the sufficiency of the award of 
$20,000 is before this Court. The plaintiff had 
appealed , the award of damages to the Ontario 
Court of Appeal and that Court dismissed the 
appeal without written reasons. The defendants 
did not appeal, either directly or by cross-appeal, 
the findings of liability against them or the award 
of damages. 

In this Court the plaintiff asked for a substantial 
increase in the award of damages of $20,000 and, 
in addition or alternatively, an award of punitive 
damages. 

I would not interfere with the award of $20,000 
as damages for the tort but I am of the opinion 
that this is a very proper case for punitive dam-
ages. The trial judge, in my view, did not face up 
to the consequences of his findings. Indeed, there 
was an intimation in his reasons that assessment of 
a punitive award would be difficult. This was not 
only a case of the illegal drawing away of the 
plaintiff's principal employee, who was in complete 
charge of its business, and drawing away his assist-
ant, in order to capture their talents for a compet-
ing operation, but it was a case of coupling this 
tortious conduct with a wider scheme of taking 

[TRADUCTION] La compagnie allemande, Omnus et 
Eisen ont conspiré ensemble pour s'emparer de l'entre-
prise de la demanderesse ainsi que de sa clientèle sans en 
payer le prix, et ils ont réussi. Le complot a pris nais-
sance avant le Pr  janvier 1970. 

Soudainement, le 9 janvier 1970, Omnus quitta 
son emploi, et Eisen l'imita peu de temps après, en 
vue d'assumer la gestion d'une nouvelle compagnie 
lancée par la défenderesse. La nouvelle compagnie 
commença ses opérations peu de temps après que 
Omnus eut quitté la demanderesse et il se mit 
immédiatement à faire des démarches fructueuses 
auprès de cinq principaux clients de l'entreprise de 
la demanderesse, entreprise que celle-ci avait pu 
maintenir durant quelque huit ans. 

Le juge de première instance a condamné 
Omnus à payer $6,000 et Eisen, l'équivalent d'un 
mois de salaire, pour violation de leur contrat et il 
a ensuite condamné les trois défendeurs à $20,000 
pour conspiration, même s'il est manifeste que 
c'est la compagnie défenderesse qui en a été l'insti-
gatrice ou qui pouvait ruiner l'entreprise de la 
demanderesse. Seule la suffisance du montant de 
$20,000 en dommages-intérêts est en litige devant 
cette Cour. Sur ce point la demanderesse a inter-
jeté un appel à la Cour d'appel de l'Ontario qui l'a 
rejeté sans motifs écrits. Les défendeurs n'ont pas 
interjeté appel des conclusions sur leur responsabi-
lité et sur le montant des dommages-intérêts, ni 
directement ni par pourvoi incident. 

Devant cette Cour, la demanderesse demande 
que ce montant de $20,000 soit augmenté substan-
tiellement et de plus, ou subsidiairement, qu'on lui 
accorde des dommages exemplaires. 

Je ne suis pas d'avis de modifier le montant de 
$20,000 à titre de dommages-intérêts pour respon-
sabilité délictuelle mais je trouve qu'il s'agit d'une 
affaire où il y a lieu d'accorder des dommages 
exemplaires. Le juge de première instance n'a pas, 
à mon avis, bien pesé les conséquences de ses 
conclusions. De fait, ses motifs laissent entendre 
qu'il serait difficile de faire l'évaluation des dom-
mages exemplaires. Dans le cas présent, on n'a pas 
seulement attiré avec son adjoint le principal 
employé de la demanderesse, celui qui assumait la 
gestion complète de l'entreprise, dans le but de 
mettre leurs talents au service d'une entreprise 
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over the plaintiffs business through solicitation of 
its major customers in order to put an end to the 
plaintiff as a going concern. In this the defendants 
succeeded. 

The business was a modest one in terms of 
profitability and most certainly in comparison with 
the giant enterprise which was the corporate 
defendant. Yet it had been carried on continuously 
for some eight years, during which the plaintiff 
had business dealings with the corporate defendant 
and retained its other major customers. I think 
substantial justice will be done here by awarding 
the plaintiff an additional $10,000 as punitive 
damages. 

I would, accordingly, allow the appeal with costs 
to the plaintiff throughout. 

The judgment of Judson and de Grandpré JJ. 
was delivered by 

JUDSON J. (dissenting)—My opinion is that this 
Court should accept the assessment of damages 
made by the trial judge and affirmed by a unani-
mous Court of Appeal, and should not increase the 
award by the addition of any sum for punitive 
damages. 

The amount of the award was carefully con-
sidered by the trial judge and although his rejec-
tion of punitive damages was made in somewhat 
hesitant terms, it was none the less made. He was 
well aware that the two employees were free to 
compete in what is a highly competitive business, 
if they had given proper notice of termination of 
their employment—in one case six months and the 
other, one month. He did make an award of six 
months' salary against one, and one month's salary 
against the other. It is difficult to characterize this 
award. 

On the facts of this case and in view of the 
unanimity in both Ontario Courts, this seems to 
me to be an inappropriate occasion for an award of 
punititive damages. The difficulties and the con- 

concurrente, mais, à cette faute délictuelle, s'est 
ajouté un complot plus vaste visant à s'emparer de 
l'entreprise de la demanderesse en solicitant ses 
principaux clients dans le but de la détruire com-
plètement. Et les défendeurs y ont réussi. 

Il s'agissait d'une entreprise modeste sous l'as-
pect bénéfices et très certainement en comparaison 
avec des colosses comme la compagnie défende-
resse. Tout de même elle avait été en exploitation 
de façon continue durant quelque huit ans, au 
cours desquels elle avait fait des affaires avec la 
défenderesse et conservé ses autres principaux 
clients. Je considère qu'on rendra justice à la 
défenderesse en lui accordant un montant supplé-
mentaire de $10,000 à titre de dommages ex-
emplaires. 

Je suis donc d'avis d'accueillir le pourvoi avec 
dépens à la demanderesse en toutes les cours. 

Le jugement des juges Judson et de Grandpré a 
été rendu par 

LE JUGE JUDSON (dissident)—Je suis d'avis 
que cette Cour devrait accepter l'évaluation des 
dommages-intérêts faite par le juge de première 
instance et confirmée unanimement par la Cour 
d'appel et que l'on ne devrait pas augmenter le 
montant de la condamnation en y ajoutant une 
somme quelconque pour dommages exemplaires. 

Le montant des dommages-intérêts a été exa-
miné attentivement par le juge de première ins-
tance et même si son refus d'accorder des domma-
ges exemplaires est exprimé en termes plutôt 
hésitants, c'est tout de même sa décision. Il savait 
pertinemment que les deux employés auraient été 
libres de devenir rivaux en ce domaine où la 
concurrence était très forte, s'ils avaient donné 
l'avis régulier qu'ils quittaient leur emploi— soit 
six mois dans un cas et un mois dans l'autre. Il a 
condamné le premier à une somme équivalent à six 
mois de salaire et le second à un mois. Il est 
difficile de déterminer la nature de cette 
condamnation. 

D'après les faits en l'espèce et considérant l'una-
nimité des deux cours d'Ontario, l'occasion ne me 
paraît pas propice d'accorder une indemnité pour 
dommages exemplaires. MacGregor on Damages, 
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troversy on the subject are fully dealt with in 
MacGregor on Damages, 13th ed., pp. 302-325. 

I would dismiss the appeal with costs. 

Appeal allowed with costs, JUDSON and DE 
GRANDPRÉ JJ. dissenting. 

Solicitors for the appellant: Woolley, Hames, 
Dale & Dingwall, Toronto. 

Solicitors for the respondents: Holden, Mur-
doch, Walton, Finlay & Robinson, Toronto.  

13e  éd., aux pp. 302-325, traite à fond des difficul-
tés de cette question et de la controverse qu'elle 
soulève. 

Je rejetterais le pourvoi avec dépens. 

Appel accueilli avec dépens, les JUGES JUDSON 
et DE GRANDPRÉ dissidents. 

Procureurs de l'appelante: Woolley, Hames, 
Dale & Dingwall, Toronto. 

Procureurs des intimés: Holden, Murdoch, 
Walton, Finlay & Robinson, Toronto. 
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The Public Trustee Appellant; 

and 

Marianne Helen Lauer 

and 

Jolan Stekl, Trustee of the Estate of Albert 
Stekl, Deceased Respondents. 

1975: May 13; 1975: May 13. 

Present: Laskin C.J. and Martland, Pigeon, Dickson and 
Beetz JJ. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR 
BRITISH COLUMBIA 

Trusts and trustees—Will creating trust for conver-
sion notwithstanding powers to postpone—Trust cover-
ing all assets of estate including unproductive realty—
Duty of trustee to act impartially between life tenant 
and remaindermen—Life tenant entitled to be credited 
with notional income on value of assets. 

APPEAL from a judgment of the Court of 
Appeal for British Columbia', allowing in part an 
appeal from a judgment of Hutcheon L.J.S.C. 
Appeal dismissed. 

D. M. Norby, for the appellant. 

B. W. F. McLoughlin, Q.C., for the respondent, 
Marianne Helen Lauer. 

The judgment of the Court was delivered orally 
by 

THE CHIEF JUSTICE—We do not need to hear 
you, Mr. McLoughlin. We are all of the opinion 
that the will in this case created a trust for conver-
sion notwithstanding the powers to postpone, and 
this trust covered all the assets of the estate includ-
ing the unproductive realty. Having regard to the 
duty of the trustee under the will to act impartially 
between life tenant and remaindermen, the life 
tenant was entitled to be credited with a notional 
income on the value of the assets, as determined by 
the Court of Appeal. We would accordingly 
answer question 2(a) and (b) as answered by the 
Court of Appeal. It follows that this appeal must 

1 (1974), 47 D.L.R. (3d) 286. 

The Public Trustee Appelant; 

et 

Marianne Helen Lauer 

et 

Jolan Stekl, fiduciaire de la succession de feu 
Albert Stekl Intimées. 

1975: le 13 mai; 1975: le 13 mai. 

Présents: Le juge en chef Laskin et les juges Martland, 
Pigeon, Dickson et Beetz. 

EN APPEL DE LA COUR D'APPEL DE LA 
COLOMBIE-BRITANNIQUE 

Fiducies et fiduciaires—Testament créant une fiducie 
emportant conversion en espèces nonobstant les pou-
voirs de différer cette conversion—Fiducie visant tous 
les biens de la succession y compris les biens improduc-
tifs—Obligation pour le fiduciaire d'agir avec impar-
tialité entre l'usufruitier viager et les appelés—L'usu-
fruitier viager est en droit de recevoir un revenu 
spéculatif basé sur la valeur des biens. 

POURVOI interjeté à l'encontre d'un arrêt de 
la Cour d'appel de la Colombie-Britannique', qui 
a accueilli en partie l'appel d'un jugement du juge 
Hutcheon. Pourvoi rejeté. 

D. M. Norby, pour l'appelant. 

B. W. F. McLoughlin, c.r., pour l'intimée 
Marianne Helen Lauer. 

Le jugement de la Cour a été rendu oralement 
par 

LE JUGE EN CHEF— Nous n'avons pas besoin 
de vous entendre Me McLoughlin. Nous sommes 
tous d'avis que le testament en cause a créé une 
fiducie emportant conversion en espèces nonob-
stant les pouvoirs de différer cette conversion, et 
cette fiducie visait tous les biens de la succession y 
compris les biens immobiliers improductifs. En 
raison de l'obligation imposée au fiduciaire par le 
testament d'agir avec impartialité entre l'usufrui-
tier viager et les appelés, l'usufruitier viager était 
en droit de recevoir un revenu spéculatif basé sur 
la valeur des biens, comme l'a déterminé la Cour 
d'appel. Par conséquent, nous sommes d'avis de 

' (1974), 47 D.L.R. (3d) 286. 
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be dismissed with the costs of the respondent 
payable out of the capital of estate. We award no 
costs to the appellant Public Trustee. 

Appeal dismissed. 

Solicitor for the appellant: D. M. Norby, Van-
couver. 

Solicitors for the respondent, Marianne Helen 
Lauer: Lawrence & Shaw, Vancouver.  

répondre à la question 2 a) et b) comme l'a fait la 
Cour d'appel. Il s'ensuit que le présent appel doit 
être rejeté avec les dépens de l'intimée payables à 
même les fonds de la succession. Nous n'adjugeons 
aucun dépens au curateur public (Public Trustee) 
appelant. 

Appel rejeté. 

Procureur de l'appelant: D. M. Norby, Van-
couver. 

Procureurs de l'intimée, Marianne Helen Lauer: 
Lawrence & Shaw, Vancouver. 



[1976] 1 R.C.S. 	 LA REINE C. ARMSTRONG Le Juge en Chef 	 783 

Her Majesty The Queen Appellant; 

and 

George Arnold Armstrong Respondent. 

1975: May 13; 1975: June 26. 

Present: Laskin C.J. and Martland, Judson, Spence, 
Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz and de Grandpré JJ. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR 
BRITISH COLUMBIA 

Criminal law—Appeal—Crown's notice of applica-
tion for leave to appeal sentence—Crown counsel's 
name signed by law student—Court of Appeal allowing 
preliminary objection to legal sufficiency of form of 
notice—Jurisdiction of Supreme Court of Canada to 
entertain appeal—Application for leave remitted to 
Court of Appeal—Supreme Court Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. 
S-19, s. 41. 

[Goldhar v. The Queen, [1960] S.C.R. 60; Paul v. 
The Queen, [1960] S.C.R. 452; Hind v. The Queen, 
[1968] S.C.R. 234, distinguished.] 

APPEAL by the Crown from the refusal by the 
Court of Appeal for British Columbia to consider 
an application for leave to appeal from a sentence 
imposed upon the accused following his conviction 
of an indictable offence. Appeal allowed. 

No one appearing for the appellant. 

R. A. Easton, for the respondent. 

The judgment of the Court was delivered by 

THE CHIEF JUSTICE—This appeal by the 
Crown, which comes here by leave of this Court, 
arises out of a refusal by the British Columbia 
Court of Appeal to enter upon a consideration of 
the Crown's application for leave to appeal a sen-
tence imposed upon the accused following his con-
viction of an indictable offence. The British 
Columbia Court of Appeal allowed a preliminary 
objection by counsel for the accused to the legal 
sufficiency of the form of the notice of the applica-
tion for leave to appeal.  

Sa Majesté La Reine Appelante; 

et 

George Arnold Armstrong Intimé. 

1975: le 13 mai; 1975: le 26 juin. 

Présents: Le juge en chef Laskin et les juges Martland, 
Judson, Spence, Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz et de Grandpré. 

EN APPEL DE LA COUR D'APPEL DE LA 
COLOMBIE-BRITANNIQUE 

Droit criminel—Pourvoi—Avis de la part du minis-
tère public d'une demande d'autorisation d'appel d'une 
sentence—Signature du substitut du procureur général 
apposée par un étudiant en droit—La Cour d'appel a 
fait droit à une objection selon laquelle l'avis de la 
demande n'était pas conforme aux exigences de la loi—
Juridiction de la Cour suprême du Canada pour enten-
dre le pourvoi—La demande d'autorisation d'appel est 
renvoyée à la Cour d'appel—Loi sur la Cour suprême, 
S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, art. 41. 

[Distinction faite avec les arrêts: Goldhar c. La Reine, 
[1960] R.C.S. 60; Paul c. La Reine, [1960] R.C.S. 452; 
Hind c. La Reine, [1968] R.C.S. 234.] 

POURVOI interjeté par la ministère public à 
l'encontre du refus de la Cour d'appel de la 
Colombie-Britannique de prendre en considération 
une demande d'autorisation d'appel d'une sentence 
imposée à l'accusé à la suite de sa condamnation 
pour un acte criminel. Appel accueilli. 

L'appelante n'était pas représentée. 

R. A. Easton, pour l'intimé. 

Le jugement de la Cour a été rendu par 

LE JUGE EN CHEF—Ce pourvoi du ministère 
public, autorisé par cette Cour, résulte du refus de 
la Cour d'appel de la Colombie-Britannique de 
prendre en considération une demande faite par le 
ministère public pour obtenir l'autorisation d'appel 
d'une sentence imposée à l'accusé à la suite de sa 
condamnation pour un acte criminel. La Cour 
d'appel de la Colombie-Britannique a fait droit à 
une objection préliminaire de l'avocat de l'accusé 
qui a allégué que l'avis de demande d'autorisation 
d'appel n'était pas conforme aux exigences de la 
loi. 
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The notice purported to be signed with the name 
of a qualified barrister and solicitor, followed by 
the words "Crown Counsel, Agent for and on 
behalf of the Attorney-General", and to the left of 
the signature was the following, in quotation 
marks: "per J.M.E.". The record shows that the 
Crown counsel's name was signed, apparently on 
his instructions, by his law student on his behalf. 

Counsel for the respondent accused did not con-
test the legal sufficiency, under s. 605(1)(b) of the 
Criminal Code, of the notice of application for 
leave to appeal, apparently because of the judg-
ment of this Court in R. v. Badall', which had not 
been handed down when the matter was before the 
British Columbia Court of Appeal. He did, how-
ever, urge very strongly that this Court had no 
jurisdiction to entertain the Crown's appeal 
because, first, the issue related to sentence and was 
foreclosed by Goldhar v. The Queen2; and, second, 
what was involved was a refusal by the British 
Columbia Court of Appeal to give leave to appeal 
and this was a matter outside this Court's jurisdic-
tion under its decisions in Paul v. The Queen 3, and 
Hind v. The Queen'. 

Neither of these contentions is tenable here. 
Goldhar, Paul and Hind do not touch this case. 
No question of sentence, whether as to its legality 
or otherwise, is directly before this Court, nor is 
this a case where this Court is being asked to 
review a considered refusal by the provincial Court 
of Appeal to grant leave. The present case is 
simply one where the provincial Court of Appeal 
said there was no proper application for leave 
before it and hence nothing to require it to act. It 
is distinguishable from the three cases above men-
tioned, and, in my opinion, it is properly before 
this Court under s. 41 of the Supreme Court Act, 
R.S.C. 1970, c. S-19. 

~ [1975] 2 S.C.R. 503. 
2 [1960] S.C.R. 60. 
3 [1960] S.C.R. 452. 
4 [1968] S.C.R. 234. 

L'avis porte une signature qui est censée être 
celle d'un avocat en exercice, suivie des mots [TRA-
DUCTION] «substitut et agent du procureur géné-
ral», età la gauche de la signature on trouve entre 
guillemets: [TRADUCTION] «par J.M.E.». Le dos-
sier démontre que la signature du substitut du 
procureur général a été apposée pour lui, et appa-
remment selon ses instructions, par un étudiant en 
droit à son service dans son étude. 

L'avocat de l'accusé intimé ne conteste pas la 
validité de l'avis de demande d'autorisation d'appel 
en vertu de l'al. b) du par. (1) de l'art. 605 du 
Code criminel. Évidemment, il tient compte de 
l'arrêt de cette Cour dans R. c. Badall', arrêt qui 
n'avait pas été rendu lorsque la Cour d'appel de la 
Colombie-Britannique a entendu cette affaire-ci. 
Toutefois, il soutient avec insistance que cette 
Cour n'a pas juridiction pour entendre le pourvoi 
du ministère public, d'abord parce que la question 
en litige concerne une sentence et ne relève pas de 
cette Cour par application de Goldhar c. La 
Reine2; et, en second lieu, ce qui est en cause est 
un refus de la Cour d'appel de la Colombie-Britan-
nique d'autoriser un appel et il prétend qu'en vertu 
des décisions qu'elle a rendues dans Paul c. La 
Reine 3, et Hind c. La Reine4, cette Cour n'a pas 
juridiction sur cette question. 

Aucun de ces arguments n'est valable en l'es-
pèce. Goldhar, Paul, et Hind ne sont pas perti-
nents. Cette Cour n'est directement saisie d'au-
cune question ayant trait à la sentence, quant à sa 
légalité ou autrement, et il ne s'agit pas d'une 
affaire où l'on demande à cette Cour de réviser un 
refus motivé de la Cour d'appel provinciale d'auto-
riser l'appel. En l'espèce, la Cour d'appel provin-
ciale a simplement déclaré que la demande d'auto-
risation d'appel qui lui était présentée n'était pas 
régulière et que par conséquent elle n'avait pas à y 
donner suite. Il y a une distinction à établir avec 
les trois arrêts ci-dessus mentionnés, et à mon avis, 
cette affaire est régulièrement soumise à cette 
Cour en vertu de l'art. 41 de la Loi sur la Cour 
suprême, R.S.C. 1970, c. S-19. 

~ [1975] 2 R.C.S. 503. 
2 [1960] R.C.S. 60. 
3 [1960] R.C.S. 452. 
4 [1968] R.C.S. 234. 
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In the result, the appeal should be allowed and 
the application for leave remitted to the British 
Columbia Court of Appeal for consideration on 
the merits. 

Appeal allowed. 

Solicitors for the appellant: Macaulay & Co., 
Vancouver. 

Solicitors for the respondent: Russell & 
DuMoulin, Vancouver. 

Par conséquent, je suis d'avis d'accueillir l'appel 
et de renvoyer la demande d'autorisation d'appel à 
la Cour d'appel de la Colombie-Britannique pour 
que celle-ci l'examine au fond. 

Appel accueilli. 

Procureurs de l'appelante: Macaulay & Co., 
Vancouver. 

Procureurs de l'intimé: Russell & DuMoulin, 
Vancouver. 
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Francesco Caccamo Appellant; 

and 

Her Majesty The Queen Respondent. 

1974: June 24; 1975: March 7. 

Present: Laskin C.J. and Martland, Judson, Ritchie, 
Spence, Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz and de Grandpré JJ. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR 

ONTARIO 

Criminal law—Evidence—Surprise evidence at 
trial—Admissibility—Relevancy of Document—
Whether document in possession of accused—Pre-trial 
disclosure—Preliminary enquiry—Motion to re-elect—
Criminal Code, s. 3(4). 

A search, pursuant to a warrant issued on the basis of 
suspicion that certain fire arms were present in appel-
lant's home, resulted in the discovery of counterfeit 
money, a loaded pistol and ammunition, $1,713 in cash 
and some handwritten notes in Italian. The appellant 
was charged with (first) possession without lawful 
excuse of six counterfeit notes, (second) the possession 
of a weapon dangerous to the public peace and (third) 
possession of a restricted weapon for which he did not 
have a registration certificate. The handwritten notes 
were found in the kitchen cupboard and were not men-
tioned at all during the preliminary enquiry, were not 
disclosed to the defence prior to the beginning of the 
trial but were introduced and mentioned for the first 
time during the second day of the trial which took place 
before a judge alone. Expert evidence identified the 
notès as a copy of the constitution of a Mafia related 
secret society which preached and practised violence. 

The trial judge granted an adjournment to permit 
examination of the document. The defence made 
application for re-election in order that the trial should 
proceed before a judge and jury but this was refused. 
Appellant was convicted on all three counts and his 
appeal was dismissed by the Court of Appeal, Arnup 
J.A. dissenting. Hence the appeal to this Court on two 
questions only: 

(1) was there evidence upon which the trial judge 
could find that the possession of the weapon was for a 
purpose dangerous to the public peace? and (2) did the 

Francesco Caccamo Appelant; 

et 

Sa Majesté La Reine Intimée. 

1974: le 24 juin; 1975: le 7 mars. 

Présents: Le juge en chef Laskin et les juges Martland, 
Judson, Ritchie, Spence, Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz et 
de Grandpré. 

EN APPEL DE LA COUR D'APPEL DE L'ONTARIO 

Droit criminel—Preuve—Preuve inattendue présentée 
au cours du procès—Recevabilité—Pertinence du docu-
ment—Le document était-il en la possession de l'accu-
sé?—Divulgation avant le début du procès—Enquête 
préliminaire—Requête en vue d'un nouveau choix 
quant au mode de procès—Code criminel, art. 3(4). 

Une perquisition, effectuée en exécution d'un mandat 
qui faisait l'objet de certaines armes à feu dont on 
soupçonnait la présence à la demeure de l'appelant, a 
donné lieu à la découverte de monnaie contrefaite, d'un 
pistolet chargé et des cartouches, d'une somme de 
$1,713 en argent comptant, et de notes manuscrites en 
italien. Les accusations suivantes ont été portées contre 
l'appelant: (premièrement) possession, sans excuse légi-
time, de six billets contrefaits, (deuxièmement) posses-
sion d'une arme dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix 
publique et (troisièmement) possession d'une arme à 
autorisation restreinte pour laquelle il n'avait pas de 
certificat d'enregistrement. Les notes manuscrites ont 
été trouvées dans l'armoire de cuisine et elles n'ont pas 
du tout été mentionnées au cours de l'enquête prélimi-
naire. Elles n'ont pas été divulguées non plus à la 
défense avant le début du procès mais elles ont été 
produites pour la première fois au cours de la deuxième 
journée du procès qui s'est déroulé devant un juge seul. 
Des experts ont identifié les notes comme étant une 
copie de la constitution d'une organisation criminelle 
secrète apparentée à la Mafia et adepte de la violence. 

Le juge de première instance a accordé un ajourne-
ment pour permettre l'examen du document. La défense 
a demandé d'exercer un nouveau choix pour que le 
procès se déroule devant un juge et un jury. Cette 
requête a été refusée. L'appelant a été déclaré coupable 
des trois infractions et son appel a été rejeté par la Cour 
d'appel, le juge d'appel Arnup étant dissident. D'où le 
pourvoi devant cette Cour sur deux questions seulement: 

(1) est-ce que la preuve permettait au juge du procès 
de conclure que l'arme était possédée dans un dessein 
dangereux pour la paix publique? et (2) est-ce que le 
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failure of the Crown to disclose to the defence the 
existence of exhibit 5 until after the trial had com-
menced constitute a miscarriage of justice? 

Held (Laskin C.J. and Spence J. dissenting): The 
appeal should be dismissed. 

Per Martland, Judson, Ritchie, Pigeon, Dickson, 
Beetz and de Grandpré JJ. Referring to the first ques-
tion, the evidence justified the unanimous conclusion in 
the courts below that the document was in the possession 
of the appellant. It was not necessary to invoke the 
presumption of law that, when a husband and wife live 
together, the husband is in possession and control of the 
premises in which they reside. In the circumstances, the 
trial judge was entitled to draw an inference from the 
possession of the document that the accused was a 
member of the organization to which the document 
referred and therefore had possession of the weapon for 
a purpose dangerous to the public peace. 

Referring to the second question, there was no obliga-
tion on the Crown to disclose before trial to the defence 
the existence of the document and the intention of the 
prosecution to introduce it into evidence as an exhibit. 
The sole purpose of the preliminary enquiry is to satisfy 
the magistrate that there is sufficient evidence to put the 
accused on trial and the Crown has the discretion to 
present only that evidence which makes out a prima 
facie case. At trial Crown counsel has full discretion as 
to what witnesses should be called for the prosecution 
and the Court will not interfere with the exercise of that 
discretion unless it can be shown that the prosecutor has 
been influenced by some oblique motive. The accused 
must however be guaranteed a fair trial, thus if the 
introduction of new evidence takes the accused by sur-
prise he is entitled to a postponement, as was obtained 
by the appellant. The fact that the document was only 
revealed on the second day of the trial (a) did not affect 
the conduct of the trial prior thereto; (b) did not entitle 
the accused to make a second option (to be tried by 
judge and jury rather than by judge alone) which as a 
rule must be made in the light of the charge not in light 
of the evidence. In other words, there was no miscar-
riage of justice. 

In reaching a conclusion as to whether or not a 
miscarriage of justice exists the courts are entitled to 
take into account the fact that the accused did not 
testify. 

Per Laskin C.J. and Spence J. dissenting: The police 
officers and the Crown in a carefully considered proce- 

défaut par le ministère public de dévoiler à la défense 
l'existence de la pièce 5 avant le début du procès consti-
tue une erreur judiciaire grave? 

Arrêt (le juge en chef Laskin et le juge Spence étant 
dissidents): Le pourvoi doit être rejeté. 

Les juges Martland, Judson, Ritchie, Pigeon, Dickson, 
Beetz et de Grandpré: Quant à la première question, la 
preuve justifie la conclusion unanime des cours d'ins-
tance inférieure que l'appelant était en possession du 
document. Il n'est pas nécessaire d'invoquer le principe 
voulant que lorsque les conjoints vivent sous le même 
toit, il existe une présomption légale que l'époux a la 
possession et le contrôle des lieux de leur résidence. 
Dans les circonstances, il était permis au juge de pre-
mière instance de déduire de la possession du document 
que l'accusé était membre de l'organisation qui y était 
mentionnée et que, par conséquent, il était en possession 
de l'arme dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix 
publique. 

Quant à la seconde question, le ministère public 
n'était aucunement obligé de divulguer à la défense, 
avant le début du procès, l'existence du document et son 
intention de le déposer en preuve à titre de pièce à 
conviction. L'enquête préliminaire vise uniquement à 
satisfaire le magistrat qu'il existe suffisamment de 
preuve pour faire subir à l'accusé son procès, et le 
ministère public a la faculté de n'y présenter que ce qui 
constitue une preuve suffisante à première vue. Au cours 
du procès, l'avocat de la poursuite est complètement 
libre de décider quels témoins doivent être cités pour la 
poursuite et la Cour ne doit pas entraver l'exercice de 
cette discrétion à moins qu'on puisse démontrer que le 
poursuivant a agi ainsi pour des motifs détournés. 
Cependant, la garantie d'un procès équitable doit être 
accordée à l'accusé. C'est pourquoi, si le dépôt d'une 
nouvelle preuve le prend par surprise, l'accusé a droit à 
un ajournement, ce dont l'appelant a bénéficié. Le fait 
que le document n'a été divulgué que la seconde journée 
du procès a) n'a pas affecté la conduite du procès avant 
cette divulgation; et b) ne donnait pas droit à l'accusé de 
se prévaloir d'une seconde option (d'être jugé par un 
juge et un jury plutôt que par un juge seul) qui en 
principe doit être exercée à 'la lumière du chef d'accusa-
tion et non à la lumière de la preuve. En d'autres mots, il 
n'y a pas eu erreur judiciaire grave. 

En concluant à l'existence ou à l'inexistence d'une 
erreur judiciaire grave, les tribunaux ont le droit de tenir 
compte du fait que l'accusé n'a pas témoigné. 

Le juge en chef Laskin et le juge Spence, dissidents: 
Les policiers et le ministère public se sont concertés pour 
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dure concealed from the appellant and his counsel the 
possession of the handwritten notes and their intention 
to use them at trial until the trial had proceeded for 
some time. There was utter surprise to defence counsel, 
however, in view of the fact that the trial did not 
proceed at once and the statement by appellant's counsel 
that he had, as a result of the adjournment, ample 
opportunity to prepare his case, no prejudice to the 
accused was established. The appeal should none the less 
succeed on the basis that without the document the 
Crown had not made out a prima facie case that the 
possession of the weapon was for a purpose dangerous to 
the public peace and that the Crown had failed to prove 
that the document was in the possession of the appellant. 
The document found as it was in the kitchen casually 
stored with household accounts inferred possession with 
the appellant's wife and not with the appellant. The 
police procedure on discovery of the document prevented 
the police from being able to show that it was in the 
appellant's possession. Even if the document had been 
proven to be in the possession of the appellant in such 
circumstances as would permit an inference of his 
knowledge of its contents, it had no probative value to 
show that the appellant possessed the weapon found for 
a purpose dangerous to the public. The expert evidence 
demonstrated quite conclusively that the document 
related to an organisation which died after an historic 
trial some 60 years ago. Such a fragile basis for linking 
the accused with some unnamed and unoutlined crimi-
nal organization could not constitute proof beyond 
reasonable doubt. 

[R. v. Caouette, [1973] S.C.R. 859; Parnerkar v. The 
Queen, [1974] S.C.R. 449; Steinberg v. The King, 
[1931] S.C.R. 421; R. v. Lawson (1944), 81 C.C.C. 139; 
R. v. Mandzuk, [1945] 3. W.W.R. 280; R. v. Tokarek 
(1967), 58 W.W.R. 691: Thompson v. The King, [1918] 
A.C. 221; Picken v. The King, [1938] S.C.R. 457; 
Emkeit v. The Queen, [1974] S.C.R. 133; Prosko v. The 
King (1922), 63 S.C.R. 226; R. v. Wray, [1971] S.C.R. 
272; Patterson v. The Queen, [1970] S.C.R. 409; R. v. 
Epping (1972), 57 Cr. App. R. 499; Lemay v. The King, 
[1952] 1 S.C.R. 232; R. v. Boucher, [1963] 2 C.C.C. 
241; R. v. Cipolla, [1965] 2 O.R. 673; R. v. Greenlaw 
(No. 1) [1968] 3 C.C.C. 200 referred to] 

APPEAL from a judgment of the Court of 
Appeal for Ontario dismissing an appeal from a 
conviction by Moore, Co. Ct. J., for possession of a 
weapon for a purpose dangerous to the public 
peace. Appeal dismissed, Laskin C.J. and Spence 

[1973] 2 O.R. 367.  

cacher à l'appelant et à son avocat, jusqu'à ce que le 
procès soit déjà en cours depuis un certain temps, la 
possession des notes manuscrites et leur intention de les 
utiliser au cours du procès. La surprise a été très grande 
pour l'avocat de la défense. Cependant, aucun tort n'a 
ainsi été causé à l'accusé puisque ce dernier a bénéficié 
d'un ajournement qui a permis à son avocat de se 
préparer suffisamment. Néanmoins, le pourvoi devrait 
être accueilli parce que sans ce document, le ministère 
public serait incapable de faire une preuve suffisante à 
première vue que la possession de l'arme était dans un 
dessein dangereux pour la paix publique, et parce que le 
ministère public n'a pas prouvé que le document était en 
la possession de l'appelant. Puisque le document a été 
trouvé dans la cuisine parmi des factures diverses, il 
semble plus régulier d'imputer la possession du docu-
ment à l'épouse de l'appelant plutôt qu'à ce dernier. La 
façon d'agir des policiers lors de la découverte de ce 
document les a empêché de prouver la possession de ce 
document par l'appelant. Même si l'on avait démontré 
que ce document était en la possession de l'appelant de 
façon à permettre la déduction qu'il en connaissait le 
contenu, cette preuve n'a aucune valeur probante pour 
démontrer que l'appelant avait cette arme en sa posses-
sion dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix publique. 
Les témoignages des experts ont prouvé de façon con-
cluante que le document se rapportait à une organisation 
qui s'est éteinte après un procès historique il y a environ 
60 ans. Un lien aussi fragile entre l'appelant et une 
organisation criminelle vague et innommée ne peut cons-
tituer une preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable. 

[Arrêts mentionnés: R. c. Caouette, [1973] R.C.S. 
859; Parnerkar c. La Reine, [1974] R.C.S. 449; Stein-
berg c. Le Roi, [1931] R.C.S. 421; R. v. Lawson (1944), 
81 C.C.C. 139; R. v. Mandzuk, [1945] 3 W.W.R. 280; 
R. v. Tokarek (1967), 58 W.W.R. 691; Thompson v. 
the King, [1918] A.C. 221; Picken c. Le Roi, [1938] 
R.C.S. 457; Emkeit c. La Reine, [1974] R.C.S. 133; 
Prosko c. Le Roi (1922), 63 R.C.S. 226; R. c. Wray, 
[1971] R.C.S. 272; Patterson c. La Reine, [1970] 
R.C.S. 409; R. v. Epping (1972), 57 Cr. App. R. 499; 
Lemay c. Le Roi, [1952] 1 R.C.S. 232; R. v. Boucher, 
[1963] 2 C.C.C. 241; R. v. Cipolla, [1965] 2 O.R. 673; 
R. v. Greenlaw (N° 1) [1968] 3 C.C.C. 200.] 

POURVOI interjeté à l'encontre d'un arrêt de 
la Cour d'appel de l'Ontario' rejetant un appel 
d'une déclaration de culpabilité pour possession 
d'une arme dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix 
publique prononcée par le juge Moore de la Cour 

[1973] 2 O.R. 367. 
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J. dissenting. 

A. Maloney, Q.C., for the appellant. 

A. Campbell, for the respondent. 

The judgment of Laskin C.J. and Spence J. was 
delivered by 

SPENCE J. (dissenting)—This is an appeal from 
the judgment of the Court of Appeal for Ontario 
pronounced on January 26, 1973, which, by a 
majority, dismissed an appeal from the judgment 
of the trial judge pronounced on June 30, 1972, 
after a trial without a jury. 

The appellant had been convicted on three 
charges: firstly, possession of counterfeit money, 
secondly, possession of a weapon for a purpose 
dangerous to the public peace, and thirdly, posses-
sion of a restricted weapon. The appellant had 
pleaded guilty to the third charge but none the less 
argued in the Court of Appeal that the conviction 
thereon should be set aside. The Court of Appeal 
unanimously confirmed the conviction on the first 
and third counts and we are not concerned with 
those counts in this Court. 

On the second count, that is, the possession of a 
weapon for a purpose dangerous to the public 
peace, the majority of the Court, for reasons given 
by the Chief Justice of Ontario, dismissed the 
appeal. Arnup J.A. gave reasons for dissenting and 
would have allowed the appeal. The formal judg-
ment of the Court expressed the dissent of Arnup 
J.A. in these words: 

The Honourable Mr. Justice Arnup dissenting there-
from and expressing the opinion that the appeal against 
the conviction on charge two (possession of a weapon for 
a purpose dangerous to the public peace) should be 
allowed on the following grounds, in law, namely: that 
there was no evidence upon which the trial judge could 
find that the possession of the weapon was for a purpose 
dangerous to the public peace 

The appellant applied to this Court for leave to 
appeal upon other grounds of law and this Court,  

de comté. Pourvoi rejeté, le juge en chef Laskin et 
le juge Spence étant dissidents. 

A. Maloney, c.r., pour l'appelant. 

A. Campbell, pour l'intimée. 

Le jugement du juge en chef Laskin et du juge 
Spence a été rendu par 

LE JUGE SPENCE (dissident)—Le présent 
pourvoi est interjeté à l'encontre d'un arrêt majori-
taire de la Cour d'appel de l'Ontario rendu le 26 
janvier 1973 qui a rejeté l'appel du jugement 
prononcé le 30 juin 1972 par le juge de première 
instance à la suite d'un procès sans jury. 

L'appelant avait été déclaré coupable de trois 
accusations: premièrement, possession de monnaie 
contrefaite, deuxièmement, possession d'une arme 
dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix publique 
et, troisièmement, possession d'une arme à autori-
sation restreinte. L'appelant avait plaidé coupable 
au troisième chef d'accusation mais il a néanmoins 
prétendu devant la Cour d'appel que sa déclaration 
de culpabilité à cet égard devrait être infirmée. La 
Cour d'appel a unanimement confirmé la déclara-
tion de culpabilité sur le premier et le troisième 
chef d'accusation et cette Cour n'a pas à se pen-
cher sur ces chefs d'accusation. 

Relativement au deuxième chef d'accusation, 
c'est-à-dire la possession d'une arme dans un des-
sein dangereux pour la paix publique, la majorité 
de la Cour a rejeté l'appel pour les motifs exprimés 
par le Juge en chef de l'Ontario. Le juge d'appel 
Arnup a exprimé des motifs de dissidence et aurait 
accueilli l'appel. La minute du jugement de la 
Cour d'appel rapportait en ces mots la dissidence 
du juge Arnup: 
[TRADUCTION] Son honneur M. le juge Arnup, dissi-
dent, est d'avis que l'appel à l'encontre de la déclaration 
de culpabilité sur la deuxième accusation (possession 
d'une arme dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix 
publique) devrait être accueilli pour les motifs d'ordre 
juridique suivants, à savoir: qu'il n'y avait aucune preuve 
qui permettait au juge du procès de conclure que l'arme 
était possédée dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix 
publique 

L'appelant s'est présenté à cette Cour pour 
demander la permission d'interjeter un pourvoi 
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by its Order pronounced May 7, 1973, permitted 
an appeal to this Court upon the following addi-
tional ground: 

Did the failure of the Crown to disclose to the defence 
the existence of exhibit five until after the trial had 
commenced constitute a miscarriage of justice? 

I find it necessary to deal at considerable length 
with the circumstances surrounding the charge of 
possession of a weapon for a purpose dangerous to 
the public peace. I have taken most of the facts 
hereinafter recited from the evidence given for the 
Crown by Detective Jack Carr, and particularly 
from his cross-examination. 

A shooting affray occurred at Newtonbrook 
Plaza in North York Township in Metropolitan 
Toronto. During the ensuing investigation, the 
police came to the conclusion that some numbers 
of persons related by blood and being immigrants 
from a district in Italy known as Calabria might 
have been involved and that offensive weapons 
might be found in the possession of many of those 
people. Therefore, Detective Sergeant Mouncey 
instructed Detective Carr to obtain a series of 
search warrants for offensive weapons applicable 
to various people including the appellant. The 
actual search warrant was produced at trial and 
marked as Exhibit 2; a search for the material 
upon which the application for the search warrant 
had been based made during the course of the trial 
proved in vain and Detective Carr from his 
memory could not give any information on that 
topic. At any rate, Detective Carr admitted that he 
had never heard of the appellant Francesco Cac-
camo prior to having obtained the warrant to 
search his residence and did not know any back-
ground. Detective Carr and three other officers, all 
in plain clothes, on Sunday, August 1, 1971, 
arrived at the front door of the premises—Detec-
tive Carr and Detective Turner approaching the 
front door while two other officers, Constable 
Wauchope and Constable Clark, approached the 
rear door and waited until Detective Turner, 
having been admitted to the front door, in turn 
admitted the two latter officers to the rear door. 
The four officers then seemed to have divided up 
their task of searching the premises with Detective  

fondé sur d'autres moyens de droit, et cette Cour, 
par son ordonnance rendue le 7 mai 1973, lui a 
accordé la permission d'interjeter un pourvoi fondé 
sur le moyen additionnel suivant: 

[TRADUCTION] Est-ce que le défaut par le ministère 
public de dévoiler à la défense l'existence de la pièce n° 5 
avant le début du procès constitue une erreur judiciaire? 

Je crois nécessaire de traiter en détail des cir-
constances de l'accusation de possession d'une 
arme dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix 
publique. J'ai tiré la plupart des faits exposés 
ci-dessous du témoignage rendu pour le ministère 
public par le détective Jack Carr, et plus particu-
lièrement du contre-interrogatoire de ce dernier. 

Un échange de coups de feu a eu lieu au New-
tonbrook Plaza dans le canton de North York situé 
dans la région métropolitaine de Toronto. Au 
cours de l'enquête qui s'ensuivit, la police a conclu 
qu'un certain nombre de personnes liées par le 
sang et ayant immigré d'une région d'Italie connue 
sous le nom de Calabre pouvaient être impliquées, 
et que plusieurs de ces personnes pouvaient être en 
possession d'armes offensives. Par conséquent, le 
sergent détective Mouncey donna l'ordre au détec-
tive Carr d'obtenir une série de mandats de perqui-
sition pour armes offensives à l'encontre de diver-
ses personnes dont l'appelant. Le mandat de 
perquisition a été produit au cours du procès et 
déposé comme pièce n° 2; on a vainement tenté au 
cours du procès d'établir sur quoi se fondait la 
demande du mandat de perquisition et le détective 
Carr, de mémoire, n'a pu fournir aucun renseigne-
ment sur le sujet. De toute façon, le détective Carr 
a admis qu'il n'avait jamais entendu parler de 
l'appelant Francesco Caccamo antérieurement à 
l'obtention du mandat qui l'autorisait à perquisi-
tionner le domicile de ce dernier, et qu'il ne con-
naissait rien de l'affaire. Le dimanche ler  août 
1971, le détective Carr et trois autres agents, tous 
habillés en civil, arrivèrent devant la maison de 
l'appelant—le détective Carr et le détective Turner 
se présentèrent à la porte de devant tandis que les 
deux autres agents, le constable Wauchope et le 
constable Clark, se présentèrent à la porte de 
derrière et ils attendirent que le détective Turner, 
que l'on avait fait entrer par la porte de devant, 
vienne à son tour leur ouvrir la porte de derrière. Il 
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Carr confining his search to the kitchen, although 
he was assisted from time to time in that task by 
Detective Turner. 

The first discovery by the officers was an 
American twenty-dollar bill which had been torn 
in two pieces, which Detective Turner found in a 
dresser in the master bedroom. He immediately 
asked the appellant whose money that was and the 
appellant explained that it was money which he 
had found in the same torn condition in the street. 
This was a genuine twenty-dollar bill. 

Detective Turner continued his search of that 
dresser drawer and under clothing found six Bank 
of Canada notes which turned out to be counterfeit 
and which gave rise to the charge of possession of 
counterfeit money to which I have already 
referred. Again, Detective Turner questioned the 
appellant as to these counterfeit bank notes, 
receiving an explanation with which we are not 
concerned. 

Then, Constable Clark, for some unexplained 
reason, proceeded to search the person of the 
appellant and found the sum of $1,713, again in 
genuine money, in his right front pocket. For the 
third time, Detective Turner questioned the appel-
lant as to the possession of this sum of money and 
simply had the reply that it was the appellant's 
personal property as he had not banked that week. 

Constable Wauchope lifted down, from the top 
right-hand side of a clothes closet at the foot of the 
bed, a blue box which contained a black pistol 
already loaded with six rounds of ammunition 
which Constable Wauchope removed from the 
weapon, and then Constable Clark found a box 
containing an additional eight rounds of 6.35 
ammunition with a cleaning brush and cleaning 
fluid. Once more, Detective Turner, cautioned the 
appellant on the offence of possession of a restrict-
ed weapon. The appellant's answer did not appear 
in the evidence. 

During this time, with the appellant and Detec-
tive Turner going back and forth between the 
living room, master bedroom and kitchen, Detec- 

semble que les quatre agents se sont alors partagés 
la tâche de fouiller les lieux, le détective Carr se 
chargeant de fouiller la cuisine, même s'il recevait 
occasionnellement l'aide du détective Turner. 

Les agents ont d'abord découvert un billet de 
vingt dollars en monnaie américaine qui avait été 
déchiré en deux morceaux. C'est le détective 
Turner qui l'a découvert dans une commode de la 
chambre à coucher principale. Il a immédiatement 
demandé à l'appelant à qui appartenait cet argent 
et ce dernier lui a répondu qu'il avait trouvé le 
billet dans cet état dans la rue. Ce billet de vingt 
dollars était légal. 

Le détective Turner continua de fouiller ce tiroir 
de la commode et découvrit sous des vêtements six 
billets contrefaits de la Banque du Canada d'où 
l'accusation de possession de monnaie contrefaite 
que j'ai déjà mentionnée. De nouveau, le détective 
Turner interrogea -l'appelant relativement à ces 
billets de banque contrefaits et il reçut une expli-
cation qui ne nous concerne aucunement. 

Ensuite le constable Clark, pour des motifs inex-
pliqués, a fouillé la personne de l'appelant sur qui 
il a trouvé, dans sa poche droite avant, la somme 
de $1,713 en monnaie légale. Pour la troisième 
fois, le détective Turner a interrogé l'appelant 
relativement à la possession de cette somme d'ar-
gent et ce dernier lui a simplement répondu que 
c'était son argent personnel et qu'il n'avait effectué 
aucun dépôt bancaire cette semaine-là. 

Sur le dessus de l'armoire à linge qui était au 
pied du lit, le constable Wauchope a trouvé une 
boîte bleue qui contenait un pistolet noir dans 
lequel étaient insérées six cartouches qu'il a lui-
même retirées de l'arme. Puis le constable Clark a 
trouvé une boîte qui contenait huit autres cartou-
ches de calibre 6.35 ainsi qu'une brosse et un 
liquide à nettoyer. Encore une fois, le détective 
Turner a mis l'appelant en garde contre l'infrac-
tion de possession d'une arme à autorisation res-
treinte. La preuve ne rapporte pas la réplique de 
l'appelant. 

Pendant ce temps, alors que l'appelant et le 
détective Turner allaient et venaient entre le salon, 
la chambre à coucher principale et la cuisine, le 
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tive Carr continued his desultory search in the 
kitchen. It would appear that Mrs. Rosa Caccamo, 
the appellant's wife, who did not understand Eng-
lish and who was in such an obviously pregnant 
condition that the officers thought it better that 
she should remain seated, stayed in the kitchen. 
Detective Carr found nothing which interested him 
except that, with household bills, in the kitchen 
cupboard in what would appear to be a plastic 
envelope he found several slips of notepaper hand-
written in Italian. This plastic envelope was on the 
first shelf of the cupboard. It could hardly be 
imagined that it was in any way concealed. Detec-
tive Carr removed this plastic container and put it 
in his pocket. So far as he was aware, Mrs. Cac-
camo did not observe him doing this and neither he 
nor Detective Turner, who had observed Detective 
Carr's movements, made any reference to the 
papers to either Mrs. Caccamo or to the appellant 
when he returned in a moment or two to the 
kitchen. These papers, with the counterfeit money, 
the torn bill, the genuine money, and the pistol 
with its ammunition, were all removed from the 
premises. The appellant was charged with the 
three offences which I have outlined and eventual-
ly came up for preliminary hearing. 

At the preliminary hearing, Detective Carr was 
not called by the Crown as a witness. Counsel for 
the appellant, however, did call Detective Carr as 
a witness. It must be remembered that there is no 
evidence to indicate that either the appellant or his 
wife knew of the removal of these papers written in 
Italian from the kitchen cupboard nor, of course, 
that the appellant's counsel would have any knowl-
edge of them. The appellant's counsel, therefore, 
did not examine Detective Carr upon this topic but 
he did put to Detective Carr this question: "Q. 
And then what did you do?", to which Detective 
Carr replied "A. Well, I looked in various places in 
the kitchen. I made a search of the kitchen." 

Q. About how long? 
A. Oh, possibly ten minutes. 

When cross-examined at the trial as to his fail-
ure to mention the discovery of these papers writ-
ten in Italian, Detective Carr made two significant 
statements: Firstly, that he made no mention of 
these papers, and, secondly,  

détective Carr continuait à fouiller la cuisine. Il 
semblerait que Mme  Rosa Caccamo, l'épouse de 
l'appelant, qui ne comprenait pas l'anglais et dont 
la grossesse était tellement évidente que les agents 
ont cru bon qu'elle reste assise, soit demeurée dans 
la cuisine. Le détective Carr n'y trouva rien d'inté-
ressant à l'exception de plusieurs feuilles de 
papiers portant un texte manuscrit en italien 
découvertes parmi des factures diverses dans ce 
que semblerait être une enveloppe en plastique 
dans l'armoire de cuisine. Cette enveloppe de plas-
tique se trouvait sur la première tablette de l'ar-
moire. On peut difficilement imaginer qu'elle y 
était cachée. Le détective Carr s'empara de l'enve-
loppe en plastique et la glissa dans sa poche. 
D'après lui, Mme  Caccamo ne s'est aperçue de rien 
et ni lui ni le détective Turner, qui avait remarqué 
le geste du détective Carr, n'ont fait mention des 
feuilles de papier à Mme  Caccamo ou à l'appelant 
quand il est revenu dans la cuisine une ou deux 
minutes plus tard. Ces feuilles de papier ainsi que 
la monnaie contrefaite, le billet déchiré, l'argent 
authentique, le pistolet et ses munitions ont été 
emportés. L'appelant a été accusé des trois infrac-
tions que j'ai mentionnées et il a subi son enquête 
préliminaire. 

Au cours de l'enquête préliminaire, le détective 
Carr n'a pas été cité comme témoin par le minis-
tère public mais il l'a été par l'avocat de l'appelant. 
Il faut se souvenir qu'aucune preuve ne démontre 
que l'appelant ou son épouse était au courant que 
l'on avait retiré de l'armoire de cuisine le docu-
ment manuscrit en italien, ni que l'avocat de l'ap-
pelant en connaissait l'existence. Par conséquent, 
ce dernier n'a pas interrogé le détective Carr à ce 
sujet mais il lui a quand même posé cette question: 
[TRADUCTION] «Q. Et alors qu'avez-vous fait?», ce 
à quoi le détective Carr a répondu [TRADUCTION] 
«R. Bien, j'ai regardé à divers endroits dans la 
cuisine. J'ai fouillé la cuisine.» 

Q. Pendant longtemps? 
R. Oh, pendant environ dix minutes. 

Lorsque le détective Carr a été contre-interrogé 
au cours du procès relativement à son défaut de 
mentionner la découverte dudit manuscrit, il fit 
deux déclarations importantes: premièrement, qu'il 
n'avait pas parlé du manuscrit, et, deuxièmement, 
que 
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It wasn't my decision to make at that time; as I say, I 
knew nothing of the actual contents [of the papers 
written in Italian]. I knew basically what it was about. I 
had never seen a translation. In fact, I didn't know there 
had been a translation made of the papers. I knew 
nothing of their actual contents except what I have 
stated here today. 

At the trial, these papers written in Italian were 
the subject of a great deal of evidence and the 
question of the papers, which were marked as 
Exhibit 5, is the kernel of the dissent of Arnup 
J.A. and of the chief issue before this Court. The 
papers were produced and identified by Detective 
Carr and evidence in reference to them was given 
by Sergeant Dino Chiarot of the RCMP. Chiarot 
was Italian by parentage and had spent five years 
in Italy working for the RCMP in conjunction 
with the Department of Immigration. His evidence 
shall be referred to hereafter. This evidence was 
submitted prior to counsel for the appellant being 
permitted to cross-examine Detective Carr. At the 
close of Detective Carr's cross-examination, the 
Crown announced: 
Your Honour, I am prepared—I have had an opportu-
nity to consult with some senior police officers and I am 
prepared to call as a witness Dr. Alberto Sabatino, 
S-a-b-a-t-i-n-o, who is the head of the Mafia Unit of the 
Federal Italian Police and who is in Italy and who has 
had an opportunity to examine this document. It would 
be some day next week before I could have Dr. Sabatino 
here and I could advise Your Honour exactly when I 
could have him here and ask leave to call him. 

To summarize the evidence in reference to the 
production of this document, it seems to me most 
apparent that the police officers and the Crown in 
a carefully considered procedure concealed from 
the appellant and his counsel the possession of this 
document, their view of the significance of the 
document, and their intention to use the document 
at the trial until the trial had proceeded for some 
time and then sprang the existence of that docu-
ment on the counsel for the appellant when he was 
in an almost helpless position to meet its import. 

How carefully the Crown's procedure had been 
worked out is demonstrated by the fact that the 

[TRADUCTION] Ce n'était pas à moi de décider à ce 
moment; comme je le dis, je ne connaissais rien du 
contenu véritable [des notes manuscrites en italien]. 
J'avais une idée générale de leur teneur. Je n'ai jamais 
lu la traduction. En fait, je ne savais pas qu'elles avaient 
été traduites. Je ne connaissais rien de leur contenu 
véritable à l'exception de ce que j'ai déclaré ici 
aujourd'hui. 

Au cours du procès, ledit manuscrit a fait l'objet 
de nombreux témoignages et il a été déposé comme 
pièce n° 5. L'essentiel de la dissidence du juge 
Arnup portait sur la question du manuscrit qui 
constitue d'ailleurs la principale question en litige 
devant cette Cour. Le manuscrit a été produit et 
identifié par le détective Carr et le sergent Dino 
Chiarot de la GRC a témoigné sous ce rapport. 
Chiarot, d'origine italienne, avait travaillé pendant 
cinq ans en Italie pour la GRC de concert avec le 
ministère de l'Immigration. Son témoignage sera 
examiné ci-dessous. Ce témoignage a été rendu 
avant que l'avocat de l'appelant ne puisse contre-
interroger le détective Carr. A la fin du contre-
interrogatoire du détective Carr, le ministère 
public a fait la déclaration suivante: 
[TRADUCTION] Votre Seigneurie, je suis prêt j'ai eu 
l'occasion de m'entretenir avec certains agents supé-
rieurs de la police et je suis prêt à citer comme témoin le 
Dr  Alberto Sabatino, S-a-b-a-t-i-n-o, qui est le chef de la 
Section Mafia de la Police fédérale italienne. Il est en 
Italie et il a eu la chance d'examiner ce document. Le Dr 
Sabatino ne pourra pas se joindre à nous avant la 
semaine prochaine mais je vais aviser votre Seigneurie 
de la journée exacte où je compte l'amener ici et deman-
der la permission de le citer comme témoin. 

Pour résumer la preuve qui se rapporte à la 
production de ce document, il me semble très 
évident que les policiers et le ministère public se 
sont concertés pour cacher à l'appelant et à son 
avocat, jusqu'à ce que le procès soit déjà en cours 
depuis un certain temps, la possession de ce docu-
ment, leur opinion quant à la portée de celui-ci et 
leur intention de l'utiliser au cours du procès, et 
tout cela dans le but de surprendre l'avocat de 
l'appelant en le confrontant avec ce document au 
moment où il se trouverait dans une position telle 
qu'il pourrait difficilement en contester la teneur. 

Le soin pris par le ministère public pour établir 
cette procédure est démontré par le fait que le 



794 	 CACCAMO V. THE QUEEN Spence J. 	 [1976] 1 S.C.R. 

Crown's first expert witness to prove the contents 
of the document and its import was Sergeant 
Chiarot of the RCMP but when it appeared that 
the learned trial judge was doubtful of the weight 
of that evidence, the Crown quickly undertook to 
produce the evidence of Dr. Sabatino, the expert 
from Italy, whom the Crown spoke of as having 
already been consulted. It is these circumstances 
which the court is called upon to consider on the 
question as to which leave to appeal was granted 
by the Order of this Court and which I have cited 
above. There was certainly utter surprise to the 
counsel for the appellant at the trial and the 
question would be very easy of decision had the 
trial proceeded at once without an opportunity to 
cure that surprise. That, however, did not occur. 

The Crown was granted an adjournment from 
June 2, 1972, to June 12, 1972, and on the latter 
date counsel for the Crown stated to the learned 
trial judge that the defence had requested a fur-
ther adjournment for the purpose of examining the 
document. The court convened again on June 26, 
1972, and counsel for the appellant made a vain 
attempt to re-elect so that the trial should proceed 
before and judge a jury. Upon that application 
being refused, the trial proceeded on June 28, 
1972, and Dr. Alberto Sabatino gave evidence for 
the Crown. 

Counsel for the appellant then called only 
defence witness Professor Stanley Chandler, 
Chairman of the Department of Italian and His-
panic Studies of the University of Toronto. There 
may be some significance in the fact that Dr. 
Sabatino's evidence immediately preceded the evi-
dence of Professor Chandler and it might well 
have been more efficient for the defence to have 
had an opportunity to go over Dr. Sabatino's 
evidence with its own expert Professor Chandler 
prior to Professor Chandler giving his evidence. 
However, counsel for the appellant in this Court 
made no issue of this point and on the other hand 
expressed himself as satisfied that the delay in the 
trial had permitted the defence adequate opportu-
nity to prepare its case. Counsel for the appellant 
did argue that the failure to reveal the existence of  

premier témoin expert qu'il a cité pour prouver la 
teneur du document et sa portée était le sergent 
Chiarot de la GRC, mais lorsque le savant juge du 
procès s'est montré incertain quant à la valeur de 
ce témoignage, le ministère public s'est rapidement 
engagé à produire le témoignage du Dr Sabatino, 
un expert d'Italie, qui, selon la déclaration du 
ministère public, avait déjà été consulté. Telles 
sont les circonstances que la cour doit considérer 
pour trancher la question que j'ai mentionnnée 
précédemment et pour laquelle une autorisation 
d'appeler a été accordée en vertu d'une ordonnance 
de cette Cour. La surprise a certes été très grande 
pour l'avocat de l'appelant lors du procès et la 
question aurait été très facile à trancher si le 
procès avait immédiatement suivi son cours sans 
avoir donné l'occasion de corriger cette situation. 
Cependant, tel n'a pas été le cas. 

Le ministère public a bénéficié d'un ajourne-
ment du 2 juin 1972 au 12 juin 1972, et à cette 
dernière date, le procureur du ministère public a 
déclaré au savant juge du procès que la défense 
avait demandé un autre ajournement dans le but 
d'examiner le document. Le tribunal siégea à nou-
veau le 26 juin 1972 et l'avocat de l'appelant tenta 
vainement de faire un nouveau choix afin que le 
procès se déroule devant un juge et un jury. Cette 
demande ayant été refusée, le procès reprit son 
cours le 28 juin 1972 et le Dr Alberto Sabatino 
témoigna pour le ministère public. 

L'avocat de l'appelant ne cita alors comme 
témoin pour la défense que le professeur Stanley 
Chandler, le directeur du Département des études 
italiennes et hispaniques de l'Université de 
Toronto. Une certaine importance peut être attri-
buée au fait que le témoignage du Dr Sabatino a 
immédiatement précédé celui du professeur 
Chandler alors qu'il aurait peut-être été préférable 
pour la défense d'avoir eu l'occasion d'étudier le 
témoignagne du Dr Sabatino avec le professeur 
Chandler avant que ce dernier ne témoigne. Mais 
l'avocat de l'appelant n'a pas soulevé ce point 
devant nous et il a d'ailleurs exprimé l'opinion que 
l'ajournement du procès lui avait permis de se 
préparer suffisamment. L'avocat de l'appelant a 
plaidé que le défaut de dévoiler l'existence de ce 
document au cours de l'enquête préliminaire ou 
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this document at the preliminary hearing or any 
conferences between counsel for the Crown and 
counsel for the appellant between the date of the 
preliminary hearing and the date of trial deprived 
such counsel of an opportunity to make an intelli-
gent election as to the mode of trial and submitted 
most strenuously that had the defence been in 
possession of the knowledge that the document was 
to be introduced the defence would never have 
re-elected trial before a judge alone without a jury 
and that therefore the defence should have been 
granted its motion and permitted to reverse its 
re-election and go back to the forum to which the 
appellant had originally been committed for trial, 
that is, to a judge and jury. 

As the learned trial judge pointed out in dispos-
ing of that application, such an order would, of 
course, have resulted in a mistrial after the trial 
had continued for some considerable time, and it is 
difficult to understand upon what legal basis this 
ground of appeal can be put. 

As I have said, had there been any prejudice to 
the appellant by failure to allow him full answer 
and defence, I would have been of the opinion that 
a mistrial had resulted and would have been ready 
to have allowed the appeal and sent the matter 
back for a new trial. I am inclined to believe that 
the frank statement by counsel for the appellant 
has eliminated that possibility and unless there is 
some legal principle which requires the revelation 
of the whole case for the Crown to the accused or 
his counsel prior to the trial no order declaring a 
mistrial is possible. During the argument in 
appeal, many cases were discussed and also the 
writings and speeches of well-recognized legal 
experts. 

The present Mr. Justice Martin of the Court of 
Appeal for Ontario in his 1955 Special Lecture to 
the Law Society of Upper Canada put the matter, 
I think, with respect, most accurately: 
But notwithstanding the. pronouncements of courts from 
time to time as to the duty of Crown counsel to adduce 
at the trial all evidence in his possession, favourable as 
well as unfavourable to the accused, there has been no 
case so far as I know that directly says it is the duty of 
Crown counsel to disclose or to adduce all his evidence 
at the preliminary hearing. 

des entretiens qui eurent lieu entre la date de 
l'enquête préliminaire et la date du procès et qui 
impliquaient le procureur du ministère public et 
l'avocat de la défense, a privé ce dernier de l'occa-
sion de faire un choix éclairé quant au mode de 
procès. De plus, il a vigoureusement allégué que si 
le défendeur avait su que le document allait être 
produit en cour, il n'aurait jamais fait un nouveau 
choix afin d'être jugé par un juge seul sans jury et 
que, par conséquent, la requête de la défense 
aurait dû être accueillie pour lui permettre de 
revenir à son choix original, à savoir d'être jugé 
par un juge et un jury. 

Comme l'a souligné le savant juge du procès en 
disposant de cette requête, une telle ordonnance 
aurait évidemment entraîné un vice de procédure 
après un procès assez long. Il est difficile de conce-
voir le fondement juridique de ce moyen d'appel. 

Comme je l'ai mentionné, si l'appelant avait subi 
un préjudice en ne lui permettant pas de présenter 
une défense complète, j'aurais été d'avis que cela 
aurait entraîné un vice de procédure et j'aurais été 
disposé à accueillir le pourvoi et à ordonner un 
nouveau procès. Je suis porté à croire que la 
déclaration franche de l'avocat de l'appelant a 
éliminé cette possibilité, et à moins qu'il n'existe 
un principe juridique quelconque qui exige que le 
ministère public dévoile, avant le début du procès, 
toute la preuve de l'accusation au prévenu ou à son 
avocat, il n'y a pas lieu de conclure à un vice de 
procédure. Au cours des plaidoiries en appel, il a 
été question de nombreux précédents et de propos 
d'éminents juristes. 

M. le juge Martin, présentement de la Cour 
d'appel de l'Ontario, me semble avoir très bien 
exposé la question alors qu'il s'adressait, en 1955, 
aux membres de la Law Society of Upper Canada: 
[TRADUCTION] Mais malgré les déclarations occasion-
nelles des cours relativement au devoir du procureur du 
ministère public de produire au cours du procès toute la 
preuve en sa possession, qu'elle soit favorable ou défavo-
rable à l'accusé, à ma connaissance, il n'a jamais été dit 
expressément dans aucune décision qu'il est du devoir du 
procureur du ministère de dévoiler ou de produire toute 
sa preuve au cours de l'enquête préliminaire. 
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This I am ready to accept as a concise summary 
of the law. What was said to be the practice in the 
Province of Ontario was enunciated by Mr. W. B. 
Common, Q.C., then Director of Public Prosecu-
tions for the province, when making a submission 
before the Joint Committee of the Senate and the 
House of Commons on Capital and Corporal Pun-
ishment when he said: 

I might say for those members of the Committee who 
are unfamiliar with the procedure at a trial—and I am 
not going into technical matters—it will suffice to say 
this: that in all of the cases not only in capital cases but 
usually in all criminal cases there is complete disclosure 
by the prosecution of its case to the defence. To use a 
colloquialism, there are no "fast ones" pulled by the 
Crown. The defence does not have to disclose its case to 
the Crown. We do not ask it for a complete and full 
disclosure of the case. If there are statements by wit-
nesses, statements of accused, the witness is supplied 
with copies, they know exactly what our case is, and 
there is nothing hidden or kept back or suppressed so 
that the accused person is taken by surprise at a trial by 
springing a surprise witness on him. In other words, I 
again emphasize the fact that every safeguard is pro-
vided by the Crown to ensure that an accused person, 
not only in capital cases but in every case receives and is 
assured of a fair and legal trial. 

It is regrettable that the crown attorney in this 
particular prosecution seems to have paid scant 
attention to Mr. Commons' very well-known state-
ment and I am of the opinion that it is not 
sufficient to toss the matter aside so casually as 
counsel for the Crown does in his factum to this 
Court in the words: 
Although it is conceded that it may have been better 
under the circumstances of this case for the crown to 
have made pre-trial disclosure of the fact that the police 
had learned of the accused's possession of Exhibit 
#5,.. .. 

In my view, it is the duty of the court to be 
vigilant to assure itself that the appellant has had 
a fair trial and if the regrettable conduct of the 
prosecution, using that term to cover both the 
police and Crown counsel, ever results in unfair-
ness then the court should act with decisiveness to 
reverse such unfairness. As I have said, in the 
present case, such unfairness has not been proved 

Je suis disposé à accepter cette déclaration 
comme un résumé concis de l'état du droit applica-
ble. Ce que l'on a qualifié de pratique actuellement 
suivie dans la province de l'Ontario a été définie 
par Me W. B. Common, c.r., alors directeur des 
poursuites publiques pour la province, lorsqu'il 
s'est adressé en ces termes au Comité mixte du 
Sénat et de la Chambre des communes sur la peine 
capitale et les punitions corporelles: 

[TRADUCTION] J'ajouterai, pour le bénéfice des mem-
bres du Comité qui ne sont pas au courant de la 
procédure,—et je n'entrerai pas dans des subtilités,—
que dans toutes ces causes, non seulement les capitales 
mais d'ordinaire toutes les causes criminelles, la pour-
suite dévoile toute sa cause à la défense. Pour employer 
une expression familière, la Couronne ne cherche pas à 
«rouler» l'autre partie. La défense n'est pas tenue de 
dévoiler ses arguments à la Couronne. Nous ne lui 
demandons pas de découvrir toutes ses batteries. S'il y a 
des déclarations de témoins, des déclarations de l'accusé, 
le témoin en reçoit des copies. Ils connaissent exacte-
ment l'accusation que nous portons et il n'y a rien de 
caché, de retenu ou de supprimé qui puisse prendre 
l'accusé par surprise à un procès en faisant comparaître 
un témoin inattendu. Autrement dit, j'appuie encore sur 
le fait que toutes les sauvegardes sont fournies par la 
Couronne pour assurer, non seulement dans les causes 
capitales mais dans toutes les causes, que l'accusé ait un 
procès équitable et légal. 

Il est regrettable que le procureur du ministère 
public dans la présente poursuite n'ait pas tenu 
compte de cette célèbre déclaration de Me 
Common et je suis d'avis que le ministère public ne 
peut écarter cette question aussi facilement lors-
qu'il a dit à cette Cour, dans son factum: 

[TRADUCTION] Bien qu'il ait peut-être été préférable, 
dans les circonstances de la présente cause, que le 
ministère public dévoile avant le début du procès le fait 
que la police savait que l'accusé était en possession de la 
pièce n° 5, . . . 

À mon avis, il incombe aux tribunaux d'être 
vigilants afin de s'assurer que l'appelant a subi un 
procès équitable et si jamais le comportement de la 
poursuite, c'est-à-dire de la police et du procureur 
du ministère public, causait une injustice, alors les 
tribunaux devraient réagir avec fermeté afin de 
corriger cette injustice. Comme je l'ai déjà men-
tionné, une telle injustice n'a pas été prouvée en 
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and I cannot understand how the circumstances 
could be made the base for any right of further 
election as to the mode of trial. 

This brings me to the consideration of the 
ground of appeal based upon dissenting reasons of 
Arnup J.A. in the Court of Appeal for Ontario, 
namely, that there was no evidence upon which the 
trial judge could find that the possession of the 
weapon was for a purpose dangerous to the public 
peace. It was Arnup J.A.'s view that without ex. 5, 
the document written in Italian, the Crown had 
not made out a prima facie case that the posses-
sion of the weapon was for a purpose dangerous to 
the public peace. In addition to the possession of 
that document, the trial judge, as Arnup J.A. 
points out, relied upon the following circum-
stances: 

(i) possession by the accused of six $10 counterfeit 
bills, 
(ii) possession of a loaded pistol, on top of a war-
drobe in his bedroom, in a box with eight additional 
rounds of ammunition, 

(iii) the accused had $1,713 in cash in his trouser 
pocket. 

In my view, none of those three circumstances, 
without Exhibit 5, could constitute a prima facie 
case for the conviction on the charge of possession 
of a weapon for a purpose dangerous to the public 
peace. 

It is significant that the search for which the 
warrant was obtained was not in any way connect-
ed with counterfeiting or the possession of counter-
feit money and the discovery of counterfeit money 
was a mere accident in the course of the search. 
There was utterly no evidence that the appellant 
had been in any way connected with counterfeiting 
or with the uttering of counterfeit money and there 
was no evidence of any kind that the appellant had 
been in any way connected with violence or with a 
crime of violence. 

We therefore must turn to consider the admissi-
bility and probative value of Exhibit 5. It has been 
assumed below that the document was found in the 
possession of the accused and therefore that, as put  

l'espèce et je ne peux concevoir comment les pré-
sentes circonstances pourraient justifier l'exercice 
d'un nouveau choix. 

Ceci m'amène à considérer le moyen d'appel 
fondé sur les motifs de la dissidence du juge Arnup 
de la Cour d'appel de l'Ontario, à savoir qu'aucune 
preuve ne permettait au juge du procès de conclure 
que l'arme était possédée dans un dessein dange-
reux pour la paix publique. Le juge Arnup était 
d'avis que sans la pièce n° 5, soit le manuscrit en 
italien, le ministère public n'avait pas apporté une 
preuve suffisante à première vue que l'arme était 
possédée dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix 
publique. Comme le souligne le juge Arnup, en 
plus de la possession de ce document, le juge du 
procès s'est fondé sur les circonstances suivantes: 

(i) la possession par l'accusé de six billets 'contre-
faits de $10, 
(ii) la possession d'un pistolet chargé, sur le dessus 
d'une armoire à linge dans sa chambre à coucher, 
dans une boîte qui contenait également huit cartou-
ches additionnelles, 
(iii) l'accusé avait $1,713 en argent comptant dans 
la poche de son pantalon. 

A mon avis, aucune de ces trois circonstances ne 
pourrait constituer, sans la pièce n° 5, une preuve 
suffisante à première vue pouvant entraîner une 
déclaration de culpabilité suite à une accusation de 
possession d'arme dans un dessein dangereux pour 
la paix publique. 

Il est important de noter que la perquisition 
pour laquelle le mandat avait été obtenu n'était 
aucunement reliée à la contrefaçon ou à la posses-
sion de monnaie contrefaite, et ce n'est qu'acciden-
tellement que l'on a découvert de la monnaie con-
trefaite au cours de cette perquisition. Il n'y avait 
absolument aucune preuve que l'appelant avait été 
associé de quelque manière que ce soit à de la 
contrefaçon et il n'y avait également aucune 
preuve que l'appelant était associé d'une quelcon-
que façon à un acte ou à un crime de violence. 

Par conséquent, nous devons maintenant exami-
ner la recevabilité et la valeur probante de la pièce 
n° 5. Les tribunaux d'instance inférieure ont pré-
sumé que le document avait été trouvé en la 
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by the Chief Justice of Ontario in giving the 
majority reasons, "the finding of a document of 
the nature of exhibit five is prima facie evidence 
against him". Surely the finding of the document 
itself is not sufficient and it must have been found 
in the possession of the accused. Was it found in 
his possession? 

The appellant was born in Calabria but so were 
thousands of other residents in Metropolitan 
Toronto. The document is in the Italian language, 
or perhaps more particularly, as I shall discuss 
later, in an Italian dialect, and Calabria is a 
district in Italy. The document was found in the 
form of sheets of notepaper written by hand in a 
dialect and contained in a plastic container to-
gether with household bills on the first shelf of a 
cupboard in the kitchen of a house occupied by the 
appellant. 

The appellant was confronted with each of the 
other items taken by the police officers from the 
appellant's residence and was questioned in refer-
ence thereto. He was not confronted with this ex. 
5. It was never mentioned to him and the record 
contains no statement from either the appellant or 
anyone else in his family or anyone who could be 
said to be connected with him in any way indicat-
ing the appellant's knowledge of that document. 

Under the common law in civil cases, it has been 
determined, although not invariably, that one was 
in possession of whatever was physically in prem-
ises occupied by him whether he knew or not of 
even the existence of such chattels: South Staf-
fordshire Water Company v. Sharman'. Surely, 
however, when it is sought to draw an inference of 
"connection with criminal activity", to again use 
the words of the Chief Justice of Ontario, a much 
more appropriate test of possession is that found in 
the Criminal Code. 

Section 3, subsection (4), of the Criminal Code 
provides: 

3. (4) For the purposes of this Act, 

2 [1896] 2 Q.B. 44. 

possession de l'accusé de sorte que, comme l'a 
formulé le Juge en chef de l'Ontario alors qu'il 
exposait les motifs de la majorité, [TRADUCTION] 
«le fait d'avoir trouvé un document du genre de la 
pièce n° 5 constitue une preuve suffisante contre 
lui». Il n'y a aucun doute que la seule découverte 
du document ne suffit pas: il doit avoir été trouvé 
en la possession de l'accusé. A-t-il été trouvé en sa 
possession? 

L'appelant est né en Calabre tout comme des 
milliers d'autres résidents de la région métropoli-
taine de Toronto. Le document est écrit en italien 
ou plus précisément, comme nous le verrons tantôt, 
en dialecte italien, et la Calabre est une région de 
l'Italie. Le document a été trouvé sous la forme de 
feuilles de papier manuscrites, en dialecte, qui 
étaient insérées dans une enveloppe en plastique 
avec des factures diverses et que l'on a découvert 
sur la première tablette d'une armoire de cuisine 
dans une maison habitée par l'appelant. 

L'appelant a été mis en présence de chacun des 
autres objets saisis dans sa demeure par les poli-
ciers et il a été interrogé à leur sujet. Il n'a pas été 
mis en présence de la pièce n° 5. On ne lui en a 
jamais mentionné l'existence et le dossier ne con-
tient aucune déclaration soit de l'appelant ou d'un 
membre de sa famille ou d'une personne associée 
d'une quelconque façon avec lui indiquant qu'il 
était au courant de ce document. 

Selon le droit commun applicable aux matières 
civiles, il est établi, mais non sans exception, qu'un 
individu est en possession de tout ce qui se trouve 
physiquement sur les lieux qu'il occupe peu 
importe qu'il soit au courant ou non de l'existence 
des biens en question: South Staffordshire Water 
Company v. Sharman 2. Cependant, lorsque l'on 
cherche à déduire qu'il existe une [TRADUCTION] 
«association avec une activité criminelle», pour 
reprendre les termes du Juge en chef de l'Ontario, 
le critère de la possession énoncé dans le Code 
criminel est beaucoup plus approprié. 

Le paragraphe 4 de l'art. 3 du Code criminel 
prévoit: 

3. (4) Aux fins de la présente loi, 

2  [1896] 2 Q.B. 44. 
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(a) a person has anything in possession when he has it 
in his personal possession or knowingly 

(i) has it in the actual possession or custody of 
another person, or 
(ii) has it in any place, whether or not that place 
belongs to or is occupied by him, for the use or 
benefit of himself or of another person; and 

(b) where one of two or more persons, with the 
knowledge and consent of the rest, has anything in his 
custody or possession, it shall be deemed to be in the 
custody and possession of each and all of them. 

To find a person in possession by that section, it 
must be shown that he had the article in his 
personal possession, and here it was not, or know-
ingly had it in any place whether or not that place 
belongs to or is occupied by him for the use or 
benefit of himself or another person. As I have 
said, despite the fact there was opportunity to 
obtain that evidence had the police chosen to do 
so, there was in fact no evidence that the appellant 
had the document knowingly in any place, and I 
am, therefore, of the opinion that the Crown failed 
to prove that this document was in the possession 
of the appellant. 

It would be sufficient to dispose of the appeal 
upon this basis. It is not a case of an article found 
in some place which is in the sole custody of an 
accused person, for instance, his own bedroom 
drawer and where the accused simply denies 
knowledge of it; there would be many circum-
stances which would permit a court to disbelieve 
such denial of knowledge. Here, there was no 
attempt to find out from the appellant whether he 
knew of the existence of the document and the 
document was not in his personal room or clothes 
but was in the kitchen evidently quite casually 
stored with household accounts. The much more 
natural tie-up of possession would be with the 
appellant's wife and not with the appellant. To put 
it briefly, I am of the opinion that the police 
procedure upon the discovery of this document 
defeated the police from being able to show that it 
was in the appellant's possession. This view would 
itself be sufficient to allow the appeal because, as I 

a) une personne est en possession d'une chose lors-
qu'elle l'a en sa possession personnelle ou que, 
sciemment, 

(i) elle l'a en la possession ou garde réelle d'une 
autre personne, ou 
(ii) elle l'a en un lieu qui lui appartient ou non ou 
qu'elle occupe ou non, pour son propre usage ou 
avantage ou celui d'une autre personne; et 

b) lorsqu'une de deux ou plusieurs personnes, au su et 
avec le consentement de l'autre ou des autres, a une 
chose en sa garde ou possession, cette chose est censée 
sous la garde et en la possession de toutes ces person-
nes et de chacune d'elles. 

Pour conclure qu'une personne est en possession 
aux termes de cet article, il faut prouver qu'elle 
avait l'objet en sa possession personnelle, ce qui 
n'était pas le cas en l'espèce, ou que, sciemment, 
elle l'avait en un lieu qui lui appartient ou non ou 
qu'elle occupe ou non, pour son propre usage ou 
avantage ou celui d'une autre personne. Comme je 
l'ai mentionné, malgré le fait que la police ait eu 
l'occasion de faire cette preuve si elle avait voulu 
la faire, il n'existe en réalité aucune preuve que 
l'appelant avait sciemment le document en sa pos-
session en un lieu quelconque. Par conséquent, je 
suis d'avis que le ministère public n'a pas réussi à 
prouver que l'appelant était en possession de ce 
document. 

Sur cette base, il serait possible de disposer du 
présent pourvoi. Il ne s'agit pas d'une cause où un 
objet a été découvert dans un lieu dont seul l'ac-
cusé a la garde, comme par exemple son tiroir de 
l'armoire dans sa chambre à coucher, et où l'ac-
cusé nie tout simplement en avoir connaissance; il 
y aurait alors plusieurs circonstances qui justifie-
raient le refus du tribunal de croire à une telle 
dénégation. En l'espèce, aucun effort n'a été fait 
pour s'enquérir auprès de l'appelant s'il était au 
courant de l'existence du document et celui-ci n'a 
été trouvé ni dans la chambre ni dans les vête-
ments de l'appelant, mais plutôt dans la cuisine, 
parmi des factures diverses. En fait, il semblerait 
plus régulier d'imputer la possession du document 
à l'épouse de l'appelant plutôt qu'à ce dernier. En 
résumé, je suis d'avis que la façon d'agir des 
policiers lors de la découverte de ce document les 
empêche de prouver la possession de ce document 
par l'appelant. Cette opinion pourrait d'elle-même 
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have said, if the document was not proved to be in 
the appellant's possession then the existence of 
that document could not be added to the other 
circumstances which I have cited above. There-
fore, there certainly could be no prima facie case 
for a conviction upon the charge of possession of a 
weapon for a purpose dangerous to the public 
peace. 

Moreover, even if this document should be held 
to be legally in the possession of the appellant in 
such circumstances as would permit an inference 
of his knowledge of the contents, then a further 
problem arises as to whether it is admissible to 
prove that the appellant's possession of the pistol 
was for a purpose dangerous to the public peace. 
Sergeant Chiarot and Dr. Sabatino described the 
document, one might summarize, as being the 
constitution and rituals of a secret society in Italy 
which preached and practised violence. The Crown 
relied particularly upon the evidence of a recog-
nized expert, Dr. Sabatino, who would appear to 
have been a very senior officer in the criminal 
police of Italy and a director within its Mafia 
investigation services. Dr. Sabatino's evidence was 
extremely lengthy, both in chief and in cross-
examination, but since the whole purpose for the 
calling of this evidence was to show that a person 
in the possession of that document must have some 
connection with that secret criminal organization 
in Italy, his answer on the specific point should be 
considered. He was asked this question by the 
Crown: 

Q. Have you been able to form an opinion as to the 
position of the person who would be in possession 
of a document such as Exhibit 5? 

After objection and argument, the questioning 
continued: 

BY THE CROWN: Q. Well, just answer "yes" or "no", 
first of all, Doctor Sabatino. Have you been able 
to come to such an opinion? 

A. On what, sir? 

Q. The position of the person who would be in posses- 
sion of Exhibit 5? 

A. Yes.  

justifier l'accueil du présent pourvoi car, comme je 
l'ai mentionné, s'il n'est pas prouvé que l'appelant 
était en possession du document, alors l'existence 
de ce dernier ne peut être ajoutée aux autres 
circonstances exposées précédemment. Par consé-
quent, il n'existe assurément aucune preuve suffi-
sante à première vue qui pourrait entraîner une 
déclaration de culpabilité pour une accusation de 
possession d'une arme dans un dessein dangereux 
pour la paix publique. 

De plus, même si l'on décidait que ce document 
était légalement en la possession de l'appelant de 
façon à nous permettre de déduire qu'il en connais-
sait le contenu, un nouveau problème surgirait, soit 
celui de la recevabilité de la preuve que l'appelant 
avait le pistolet en sa possession dans un dessein 
dangereux pour la paix publique. Le sergent Chia-
rot et le D' Sabatino ont décrit le document 
comme étant la constitution et les rites d'une 
société secrète italienne qui prêchait la violence et 
qui s'y adonnait. Le ministère public s'est appuyé 
surtout sur le témoignage d'un expert reconnu, le 
Dr Sabatino, qui était, semble-t-il, un haut fonc-
tionnaire de la police criminelle italienne et un 
directeur du service des enquêtes sur la Mafia. Le 
témoignage du Dr  Sabatino fut très long, tant à 
l'interrogatoire principal qu'en contre-interroga-
toire, mais il faut tenir compte de ses réponses sur 
certains points précis puisque son témoignage 
visait uniquement à démontrer que la personne en 
possession dudit document devait être reliée à 
l'organisation criminelle secrète italienne en ques-
tion. Le ministère public lui a posé cette question: 

[TRADUCTION] Q. Avez-vous été en mesure de vous 
forger une opinion sur l'individu qui serait en 
possession d'un document tel que la pièce N° 5? 

Après objection et discussion, l'interrogatoire se 
poursuit: 

[TRADUCTION] PAR LE MINISTÈRE PUBLIC: Q. Bon, 
avant tout, répondez seulement «oui» ou «non», D' 
Sabatino. Avez-vous été en mesure de vous forger 
une opinion là-dessus? 

R. Sur quoi, monsieur? 

Q. Sur l'individu qui serait en possession de la pièce 
N° 5? 

R. Oui. 
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Q• Now, upon what did you base that opinion? 
A. I would base it on two fundamental motives. First 

of all, I would see if the person has possession of 
this code, whether he would have it for profession-
al reasons because a person that studies sociology, 
or newspaper man or a police officer, excluding all 
this, then I would examine the code in relation to 
the other elements. To the places that the subject 
frequents as far as consummations of crimes, etc. 
Then I would form an opinion as far as that 
person that he does belong to the Mafia. 

Q. Would the question of whether or not, for exam-
ple, an unauthorized firearm found in the same 
house— 

Objection and argument. 

Q• Doctor Sabatino, assuming it were a fact, would 
the fact that an unauthorized firearm was found in 
the same home as Exhibit number 5 have any 
bearing upon your opinion regarding the position 
of the person who had possession of Exhibit 5? 

A. In Italy, my duty is not to adjudicate but as far as 
a Magistrate calling the attention of the Magis-
trate in this respect, in the presence of the codice 
and the arm, there are two things I would consid-
er— 

THE COURT: We are wasting time, I think Mr. 
Armstrong. 

THE CROWN: Sorry, Your Honour? 

THE COURT: I say I think we are wasting time. 

THE CROWN: I thought he was about to — 

THE COURT: Well, is the answer coming? 

THE INTERPRETER: I was just—one more word, Your 
Honour. 

THE WITNESS: I would consider it the same thing. 

BY THE CROWN: Q. I am sorry? 
A. Having the gun in the same , house where this 

document was found, I would consider the same 
thing but it is up to the Magistrate to decide in it. 

BY THE COURT: Well, Doctor, you say you have 
studied the methods and organization of the 
Mafia? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Well, are there ranks within the Mafia? 
A. Yes. 

Q. Maintenant, sur quoi fondez-vous cette opinion? 
R. Je la fonderais sur deux motifs principaux. Pre-

mièrement, il faudrait vérifier si la personne avait 
des raisons professionnelles d'avoir ce code en sa 
possession, soit parce qu'elle étudie la sociologie 
ou parce qu'elle est journaliste ou policier. Si tel 
n'est pas le cas, il faudrait alors envisager la 
possession de ce code à la lumière d'autres élé-
ments, tels que les endroits fréquentés par le sujet 
et les activités criminelles qui s'y déroulent, etc. Je 
serais alors en mesure de me forger une opinion 
quant à son appartenance à la Mafia. 

Q. Est-ce que la question de savoir si oui ou non, par 
exemple, une arme prohibée est trouvée dans la 
même maison— 

Objection et discussion. 
Dr Sabatino, en supposant que ce soit un fait, 
est-ce que le fait d'avoir trouvé une arme non 
autorisée dans la même maison où a été trouvée la 
pièce N° 5 influe de quelque façon sur votre 
opinion de l'individu qui était en possession de la 
pièce N° 5? 

R. En Italie, ce n'est pas à moi de juger mais pour ce 
qui est du magistrat, pour attirer son attention à 
cet égard, si j'étais mis en présence du code et de 
l'arme, il y a deux choses que je considérerais... 

LA COUR: Nous perdons du temps, je crois, M. 
Armstrong. 

LE MINISTÈRE PUBLIC: Pardon, votre Seigneurie? 

LA COUR: Je dis que nous perdons du temps. 

LE MINISTÈRE PUBLIC: Je croyais qu'il était sur le 
point de— 

LA COUR: Bon, va-t-il répondre? 

L'INTERPRÈTE: J'étais justement—quelques mots 
encore, votre Seigneurie. 

LE TÉMOIN: Pour moi cela ne change rien. 

PAR LE MINISTÈRE PUBLIC: Q. Pardon? 
R. Avoir le pistolet dans la même maison où a été 

trouvé ce document, pour moi cela ne change rien 
mais c'est au magistrat qu'il appartient de se 
prononcer là-dessus. 

PAR LA COUR: Bon, vous avez dit docteur que vous 
avez étudié les méthodes et l'organisation de la 
Mafia? 

R. Oui, monsieur. 

Q. Bon, existe-t-il des rangs à l'intérieur de la Mafia? 
R. Oui. 

Q• 
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Q. You mean you have the men that do the work and 
others that give orders and directions? 

A. Yes. Yes, It would be like a pyramid, sir. 

Q• Well, are the workers not allowed to bear arms or 
have this type of document in their possession? 

A. As far as these documents, sir, I have the impres-
sion that there is few in circulation. During my 
activity either through the personnel or my own 
knowledge, we have followed hundreds of search-
ings or thousands of searchings during the period 
of ten years and we have only found few, very few, 
of similar codes. There are copies that might be 
around but not many. 

As far as we are concerned, this is not a funda-
mental element. Depends on what crime that 
person has done; a Mafiosa crime or what. First of 
all, extortion, sir. 

Arnup J.A. summarized that answer in these 
words: 
I do not find in it any testimony justifying a finding that 
without any external evidence linking the accused to the 
organization or to some kind of activity in which the 
organization engages, the mere prossession of this very 
rare document gives rise to an inference of "connection" 
with the organization. 
As I read his evidence this witness testified to the 
contrary effect. 

I am in complete agreement with Arnup J.A.'s 
statement and I think that the testimony of Dr. 
Sabatino must be considered in the light of the 
evidence given for the defence by Professor Chan-
dler. It is true that the learned trial judge found 
that Professor Chandler's evidence was not of 
much assistance to him and that such evidence 
seemed entirely divorced from reality but that 
evidence, being a matter of expert opinion in no 
way dependent on credibility, may be assessed as 
well by this Court as by the learned trial judge and 
that evidence, I think, demonstrated quite conclu-
sively that the document, if it were the constitution 
and rituals of a secret organization and not a mere 
collection of antiquities from various sources many 
of which were designated by Professor Chandler, 
was a constitution and set of rituals of an organi-
zation which flourished in Naples and not in 
Calabria and which died after a historic trial in  

Vous voulez dire qu'il y a des hommes qui exécu-
tent le travail alors que d'autres donnent les ordres 
et les directives? 

R. Oui. Oui. Cela ressemble à une pyramide, 
monsieur. 

Bon, est-ce que l'on permet aux travailleurs de 
porter des armes ou d'avoir en leur possession ce 
genre de document? 

R. Concernant ces documents, monsieur, j'ai l'im-
pression qu'il y en a très peu en circulation. Mes 
agents et moi-même avons effectué des centaines 
sinon des milliers de perquisitions au cours d'une 
période de dix ans et nous n'avons trouvé qu'un 
très petit nombre de codes semblables. Il peut en 
exister des copies mais un nombre très minime 
seulement. 

En ce qui nous concerne, il ne s'agit pas d'un 
élément très important. Tout dépend du crime que 
la personne a commis; un crime relié ou non à la 
Mafia. En premier lieu, l'extorsion, monsieur. 

Le juge Arnup a résumé cette réponse en ces 
mots: 

[TRADUCTION] Je n'y vois aucune preuve qui permet de 
conclure qu'en l'absence de preuves extrinsèques qui 
relieraient l'accusé à l'organisation ou à une activité de 
cette dernière, la simple possession de ce rarissime docu-
ment peut permettre de faire un «lien» avec cette 
organisation. 
A la lecture de ce témoignage, il me semble avoir un 
effet contraire. 

Je suis entièrement d'accord avec la déclaration 
du juge Arnup et je crois que le témoignage du Dr  
Sabatino doit être considéré à la lumière de celui 
déposé par le professeur Chandler au nom de la 
défense. Il est vrai que le savant juge du procès a 
conclu que le témoignage du professeur Chandler 
lui avait été peu utile et que ce témoignage lui 
semblait complètement détaché de la réalité mais 
puisqu'il s'agit du témoignage d'un expert où la 
crédibilité n'est pas un facteur, il peut être appré-
cié aussi bien par cette Cour que par le juge du 
procès, et je crois que ce témoignage prouve de 
façon concluante que le document, s'il s'agit bien 
de la constitution et des rites d'une organisation 
secrète et non une simple collection d'antiquités de 
sources diverses dont plusieurs ont été identifiées 
par le professeur Chandler, consistait en la consti-
tution et en l'ensemble des rites d'une organisation 
qui prit de l'ampleur à Naples et non en Calabre et 

Q• 

Q• 
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1912-60 years before the document was found in 
the residence of the appellant. I cannot imagine a 
more fragile ground for an argument that the 
appellant was linked with some unnamed and 
unoutlined criminal organization. If there were 
some modern day, or, more properly, 19th Century 
Viking writers, would one's possession of some of 
the sagas show that he had not a mere antiquarian 
interest in ancient forebears but an active member-
ship in a present day collection of criminals? How 
can this slim evidence constitute proof beyond 
reasonable doubt? To merely state the proposition 
is to disprove it. 

For this reason, even if Exhibit 5 had been 
proved to be in the possession of the appellant, 
then I am of the opinion that it has no probative 
value to show that the appellant possessed this 
weapon for a purpose dangerous to the public 
peace. Therefore, I am in agreement with Arnup 
J.A. that the Crown has not proved a prima facie 
case upon the charge. 

In view of the fact that without this evidence 
there is nothing upon which the Crown could base 
the charge, I would allow the appeal upon this 
count and not merely grant a new trial but direct 
an acquittal. 

The judgment of Martland, Judson, Ritchie, 
Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz and de Grandpré JJ. was 
delivered by 

DE GRANDPRE J.—Appellant was convicted at 
Toronto, on June 30, 1972, by His Honour Judge 
Moore of the following charges: 

(1) possession, without lawful justification or excuse, 
of six counterfeit Bank of Canada $10 notes, contrary 
to the Criminal Code, section 408; 

(2) possession of a weapon, to wit, a .25 calibre pistol 
for a purpose dangerous to the public peace, contrary 
to the Criminal Code, section 83; 

(3) possession of a restricted weapon, to wit, a .25 
calibre pistol for which he did not have a registration 
certificate issued to him, contrary to the Criminal 
Code, section 91. 

qui s'éteignit après un procès historique en 1912-
60 ans avant que le document ne soit découvert 
dans la demeure de l'appelant. Je ne puis imaginer 
un fondement d'argument plus fragile que celui 
voulant que l'appelant soit relié à une organisation 
criminelle vague et innommée. S'il y avait de nos 
jours des écrivains Viking ou, encore mieux, s'il y 
en avait eus au 19ième  siècle, est-ce que le fait qu'un 
individu possède quelques-unes de ces sagas dé-
montre non pas un intérêt pour les choses ancien-
nes mais plutôt son association avec un groupe de 
criminels d'aujourd'hui? Comment une preuve 
aussi mince peut-elle constituer une preuve hors de 
tout doute raisonnable? La simple énonciation de 
cette proposition entraîne son rejet. 

Pour ce motif, même si l'on avait prouvé que la 
pièce n° 5 était en la possession de l'appelant, je 
suis d'avis qu'elle ne possède aucune valeur pro-
bante pour démontrer que l'appelant avait cette 
arme en sa possession dans un dessein dangereux 
pour la paix publique. Par conséquent, je partage 
l'avis du juge Arnup que le ministère public n'a 
pas présenté une preuve suffisante à première vue 
à l'égard de l'accusation en question. 

Puisque sans cette preuve l'accusation formulée 
par le ministère public devient sans fondement, 
j'accueillerais le pourvoi interjeté à l'encontre de 
ce chef d'accusation et j'ordonnerais non pas un 
nouveau procès mais un verdict d'acquittement. 

Le jugement des juges Martland, Judson, Rit-
chie, Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz et de Grandpré a été 
rendu par 

LE JUGE DE GRANDPRÊ—Le 30 juin 1972, à 
Toronto, son honneur le juge Moore a déclaré 
l'appelant coupable des accusations suivantes: 

(1) possession, sans justification ou excuse légitime, 
de six billets contrefaits de $10 de la Banque du 
Canada, contrairement aux dispositions de l'article 
408 du Code criminel; 
(2) possession d'une arme, à savoir un pistolet de 
calibre .25, dans un dessein dangereux pour la 
paix publique, contrairement aux dispositions de l'ar-
ticle 83 du Code criminel; 
(3) possession d'une arme à autorisation restreinte, à 
savoir un pistolet de calibre .25, pour laquelle il 
n'avait pas de certificat d'enregistrement émis en sa 
faveur, contrairement aux dispositions de l'article 91 
du Code criminel. 
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Following these convictions, sentence was passed 
as follows: 

(1) Twelve months; 
(2) Six months, to be served consecutively to the 
previous sentence; 
(3) $150 or, in the alternative, two weeks imprison-
ment consecutive to the terms previously referred to. 

The Court of Appeal was unanimous in dismiss-
ing the appellant's appeal with respect to counts 1 
and 3. It is to be noted that, as to count 3, 
appellant had pleaded guilty at the trial but had 
argued that the introduction of exhibit 5, of which 
more later, vitiated the whole trial. 

Before we turn to the examination of count 2, 
which is the only one at issue before this Court, it 
should be noted that appellant's wife, Rosa Cac-
camo, had been convicted with him of possession 
of counterfeit money, a conviction unanimously set 
aside by the Court of Appeal which directed that a 
verdict of acquittal be entered in her case. 

To establish that the possession by appellant of 
a .25 calibre pistol was for a purpose dangerous to 
the public peace, the Crown relied on the following 
circumstances which were accepted by the trial 
judge: 

(1) the possession by the accused of the six $10 
counterfeit bills which were the basis of the 
conviction under count 1; 

(2) the possession of a loaded pistol on top of a 
wardrobe in his bedroom, in a box with eight 
additional rounds of ammunition, which was the 
basis of the conviction under count 3; 

(3) the possession by the accused in his trouser 
pocket of $1,713 in cash; 

(4) the discovery on the first shelf of a kitchen 
cupboard of handwritten notes in Italian which 
were filed as exhibit 5. 

The circumstances of this discovery and the 
impact of those notes on the case are summarized 

A la suite de ces déclarations de culpabilité, la 
sentence suivante a été prononcée: 

(1) Douze mois; 
(2) Six mois, peine à être purgée consécutivement à 
la sentence précédente; 
(3) $150 ou deux semaines d'emprisonnement à être 
purgées consécutivement aux périodes mentionnées 
précédemment. 

Au regard des chefs d'accusation 1 et 3, la Cour 
d'appel a unanimement rejeté l'appel de l'appelant. 
Relativement au 3ième  chef d'accusation, il faut 
souligner que l'appelant avait plaidé coupable lors 
du procès mais qu'il avait fait valoir que le dépôt 
de la pièce 5, dont nous reparlerons plus loin, avait 
vicié tout le procès. 

Avant d'examiner le Vine chef d'accusation, le 
seul en litige devant cette Cour, il convient de 
noter que Rosa Caccamo, l'épouse de l'appelant, 
avait été déclarée coupable avec lui de possession 
de monnaie contrefaite mais que cette déclaration 
de culpabilité a été unanimement infirmée par la 
Cour d'appel qui a ordonné qu'un verdict d'acquit-
tement soit rendu à son égard. 

Afin de démontrer que l'appelant avait en sa 
possession un pistolet de calibre .25 dans un des-
sein dangereux pour la paix publique, le ministère 
public s'est appuyé sur les circonstances suivantes 
qui ont été admises par le juge du procès: 

(1) la possession par l'accusé de six billets con-
trefaits de $10 d'où la déclaration de culpabilité 
sous le ler  chef d'accusation; 

(2) la possession d'un pistolet chargé, trouvé 
dans sa chambre à coucher, sur le dessus d'une 
armoire à linge dans une boîte avec huit cartou-
ches additionnelles, d'où la déclaration de culpa-
bilité sous le 3`éme chef d'accusation; 

(3) la possession par l'accusé, dans la poche de 
son pantalon, de la somme de $1,713 en argent 
comptant; 

(4) la découverte, sur la première tablette d'une 
armoire de cuisine, de notes manuscrites en 
italien qui ont été déposées comme pièce n° 5. 

Les circonstances de cette découverte ainsi que 
l'impact de ces notes sur la présente affaire ont été 
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by Gale, C.J.O., whose judgment is reported at 11 
C.C.C. (2d) 249 (p. 253): 

The accused's house was searched by the police pursuant 
to a warrant alleging that certain firearms were suspect-
ed of being present there. During that search, the coun-
terfeit money and a .25-calibre pistol were both found in 
the dresser in the accused's bedroom. In a kitchen 
cupboard, the police also found the handwritten notes, in 
Italian, which at the trial became ex. 5. They seized the 
notes without the appellant's knowledge and without 
asking him for any explanation as to what they were. At 
trial, the Crown introduced the notes as an exhibit and 
called two expert witnesses to explain their significance 
and meaning. One witness was an R.C.M.P. officer with 
extensive experience in Italy as an assistant to Canadian 
immigration officials, which duties had given him 
knowledge of the workings of secret criminal organiza-
tions in Italy. The other witness, one Dr. Alberto Sabati-
no, was a senior Italian police official, with special 
knowledge of secret criminal organizations, such as the 
Mafia. Both men indicated that the document seized in 
the appellant's home was a type of constitution of a 
secret Italian criminal organization related to the Mafia 
and that anyone in possession of it almost certainly had 
to belong to the organization. The defence also called an 
expert witness, a Dr. Chandler, who stated that the 
organization described in the document was virtually 
extinct since 1912 and had no relationship to the Mafia. 
The Crown tendered this evidence, of which the defence 
had no prior notice, as relevant to the issue of whether 
the accused's possession of the pistol was for a purpose 
dangerous to the public peace. 

As to count 2, the question was expressed in the 
following terms by Gale, C.J.O., at p. 254: 

Did the mere possession of ex. 5 by the male accused so 
connect him with the organization about which it is 
written as to permit the inference that his possession of 
the gun was for a purpose dangerous to the public 
peace? 

An affirmative answer was given to that question 
by a majority of the Court, the dissenting view of  

résumés par le juge en chef Gale, de la Cour 
d'appel de l'Ontario, dont le jugement a été publié 
à 11 C.C.C. (2d) 249 (p. 253): 

[TRADUCTION] La maison de l'accusé a été fouillée par 
la police en exécution d'un mandat qui faisait état de 
certaines armes à feu dont on soupçonnait la présence à 
cet endroit. Lors de cette perquisition, la monnaie con-
trefaite et le pistolet de calibre .25 ont été trouvés dans 
la commode dans la chambre à coucher de l'accusé. 
Dans une armoire de cuisine, la police a également 
trouvé des notes manuscrites, en italien, qui ont été 
déposées au procès comme pièce N° 5. Ces notes ont été 
saisies à l'insu de l'appelant et sans qu'on lui demande 
aucune explication sur la nature de celles-ci. Au cours 
du procès, le ministère public a déposé ces notes comme 
pièce à conviction et a appelé deux témoins experts pour 
qu'ils en expliquent l'importance et la signification. Un 
de ces témoins était un agent de la G.R.C. qui connais-
sait très bien l'Italie pour y avoir vécu alors qu'il occu-
pait les fonctions d'adjoint aux agents d'immigration du 
Canada, lesquelles fonctions lui ont permis de se fami-
liariser avec le fonctionnement des organisations crimi-
nelles secrètes en Italie. L'autre témoin, un certain D' 
Alberto Sabatino, était un fonctionnaire supérieur de la 
police italienne et un spécialiste des organisations crimi-
nelles secrètes telles que la Mafia. Les deux témoins ont 
indiqué que le document saisi dans la maison de l'appe-
lant était un genre de constitution d'une organisation 
criminelle secrète italienne apparentée à la Mafia et 
qu'une personne ayant en sa possession un tel document 
devait presque à coup sûr appartenir à cette organisa-
tion. La défense a également appelé un témoin expert, 
un certain Dr  Chandler, qui a déclaré que l'organisation 
décrite dans le document n'existait plus pour ainsi dire 
depuis 1912 et qu'elle n'était pas apparentée à la Mafia. 
Le ministère public a soumis cette preuve, sans que la 
défense n'en ait été avisée au préalable, dans le but de 
démontrer que l'accusé avait le pistolet en sa possession 
dans un dessein dangereux pour la paix publique. 

Relativement au 2'èmC  chef d'accusation, le juge 
en chef Gale a formulé en ces mots la question 
litigieuse, à la p. 254: 

[TRADUCTION] Est-ce que la simple possession de la 
pièce N° 5 par l'accusé masculin le relie à tel point à 
l'organisation décrite dans cette pièce, que l'on puisse 
conclure qu'il avait le révolver en sa possession dans un 
dessein dangereux pour la paix publique? 

La majorité de la Cour d'appel a répondu affirma-
tivement à cette question et le juge Arnup a for- 
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Arnup J. being expressed in the following terms in 
the Order of February 14, 1973: 
there was no evidence upon which the trial judge could 
find that the possession of the weapon was for a purpose 
dangerous to the public peace. 

On the basis of that dissent, an appeal as of right 
was entered by appellant upon which the Crown 
moved to quash the appeal for lack of jurisdiction 
on the ground that there was no dissent in the 
Court of Appeal on a question of law. This 
application to quash was dismissed by five judges 
of this Court on April 30, 1973, without reasons. 

While the question of jurisdiction has not been 
pressed before us, I wish to underline that on the 
sole basis of the reasons for judgment delivered by 
Arnup J., I would hesitate to recognize that we 
have jurisdiction as of right, his reasons appearing 
to go to the weight of the evidence and not to its 
non-existence. Should these reasons be considered 
as having been completed by the Order of Febru-
ary 14, 1973, so as to bring into play the classic 
distinction between "no evidence" and "insuffi-
cient evidence", expressed again in two recent 
decisions of this Court: R. v. Caouette 3; Parnerkar 
v. The Queen 4? 

I am strongly inclined to the view that the 
thinking of Arnup J. is to be found in his reasons 
and not in the Order and that accordingly we have 
no jurisdiction as of right. Be that as it may, I am 
ready to adopt the pragmatic approach taken by 
this Court in Steinberg v. The Kings and to exam-
ine the merits of the admissibility of exhibit 5. 

In the case at bar, there is a second point at 
issue by special leave of this Court, namely the 
following question of law: 
Did the failure of the Crown to disclose to the defence 
the existence of exhibit 5 until after the trial had 
commenced constitute a miscarriage of justice? 

I—Admissibility of exhibit 5 

The Crown, of course, had the burden of prov-
ing that the exhibit in question had been found in 

3  [1973] S.C.R. 859. 
4  [1974] S.C.R. 449. 
5  [1931] S.C.R. 421. 

mulé son opinion dissidente comme suit dans l'or-
donnance du 14 février 1973: 
[TRADUCTION]' aucune preuve ne permettait au juge du 
procès de conclure que l'arme était possédée dans un 
dessein dangereux pour la paix publique. 

En se fondant sur cette dissidence, l'appelant a 
interjeté de plein droit un pourvoi que le ministère 
public a cherché à faire annuler pour défaut de 
juridiction en alléguant que la dissidence en Cour 
d'appel ne portait pas sur une question de droit. Le 
30 avril 1973, cinq juges de cette Cour rejetaient 
sans motif cette requête en annulation. 

Bien que l'on n'ait pas insisté devant nous sur la 
question de juridiction, je désire souligner qu'en 
me fondant uniquement sur les motifs de jugement 
exprimés par le juge Arnup, j'hésiterais à recon-
naître que nous avons juridiction de plein droit, car 
ses motifs semblent porter sur le poids de la preuve 
et non sur son absence. Doit-on considérer ces 
motifs comme ayant été complétés par l'ordon-
nance du 14 février 1973 de façon à mettre en jeu 
la distinction classique entre «l'absence de preuve» 
et «l'insuffisance de preuve» qui a été de nouveau 
énoncée dans deux arrêts récents de cette Cour: R. 
c. Caouette 3, Parnerkar c. La Reine 4? 

Je suis fortement d'avis que le raisonnement du 
juge Arnup est contenu dans ses motifs et non dans 
l'ordonnance et que, par conséquent, nous n'avons 
pas juridiction de plein droit. Quoi qu'il en soit, je 
suis prêt à adopter la méthode pragmatique utili-
sée par cette Cour dans Steinberg c. Le Rois et à 
examiner le bien-fondé de l'admissibilité de la 
pièce n° 5. 

Sur permission spéciale de cette Cour, un second 
point litigieux doit être examiné en l'espèce, à 
savoir la question de droit suivante: 
Est-ce que le défaut par le ministère public de divulguer 
à la défense l'existence de la pièce n° 5 avant le début 
du procès a constitué une erreur judiciaire grave? 

I—Admissibilité de la pièce n° 5 

Naturellement, il incombait au ministère public 
de prouver que la pièce en question avait été 

[1973] R.C.S. 859. 
4  [1974] R.C.S. 449. 
5 [1931] R.C.S. 421. 
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the possession of the appellant. The courts below 
undoubtedly came to the conclusion that this point 
had been established because all of the judges 
examined the question of admissibility in the light 
of such a possession. Indeed, Arnup J., in his 
dissent, writes that "the mere possession of the 
document" does not connect the accused with the 
mafia organization. Such concurrent findings in 
the courts below cannot be the result of an over-
sight considering that the provisions of s. 3(4) of 
the Criminal Code had been argued at length in 
connection with another aspect of the case. 

In the circumstances, appellant cannot succeed 
on this ground. The possession of s. 3(4) of the 
Criminal Code is a question of fact capable of 
proof by inference. The courts below having 
reached a unanimous conclusion on that basis the 
matter must end there, because the facts proved 
are sufficient to support that inference. 

It is not necessary therefore to invoke in support 
of the conclusion that the appellant was in posses-
sion of exhibit 5 the principle that "when a hus-
band and wife live together, it is a presumption of 
law that the husband is in possession and control 
of the premises in which they reside". See R. v. 
Lawson6, (British Columbia Court of Appeal); R. 
v. Mandzuk7, (British Columbia Court of Ap-
peal); R. v. Tokarek 8  (British Columbia Court 
of Appeal). 

Possession of exhibit 5 by appellant having been 
established, it remains to be seen whether, in the 
circumstances, the mere possession of a document 
of this sort, in the absence of further evidence 
connecting the appellant with a criminal organiza-
tion, did in law entitle' the magistrate to draw the 
inference that appellant was a member of such 
organization and therefore had possession of the 
weapon for a purpose dangerous to the public 
peace. In my view, this submission has been 
answered fully by the majority in the Court of  

trouvée en possession de l'appelant. Les cours 
d'instance inférieure ont indubitablement conclu 
que ce point avait été prouvé parce que tous les 
juges ont étudié la question de l'admissibilité à la 
lumière d'une telle possession. En effet, dans ses 
motifs de dissidence, le juge Arnup écrit que [TRA-
DUCTION] «la simple possession du document» ne 
relie pas l'accusé à la Mafia. De pareilles conclu-
sions concordantes en cour de première instance et 
en cour d'appel ne peuvent résulter d'une inadver-
tance puisque les dispositions du par. (4) de l'art. 3 
du Code criminel avaient été longuement plaidées 
relativement à un autre aspect de la cause. 

Dans les circonstances, l'appelant ne peut avoir 
gain de cause sur ce point. La possession au sens 
du par. (4) de l'art. 3 du Code criminel est une 
question de fait que l'on peut prouver par déduc-
tion. La conclusion des tribunaux d'instance infé-
rieure ayant été unanime sur cette base, l'affaire 
doit s'arrêter là car les faits prouvés suffisent à 
appuyer cette déduction. 

Par conséquent, il n'est pas nécessaire d'invo-
quer à l'appui de la conclusion que l'appelant était 
en possession de la pièce n° 5 le principe voulant 
que [TRADUCTION] «lorsque les conjoints vivent 
sous le même toit, il existe une présomption légale 
que l'époux a la possession et le contrôle des 
lieux de leur résidence». Voir R. v. Lawson 6, 
(Cour d'appel de la Colombie-Britannique); R. v. 
Mandzuk 7, (Cour d'appel de la Colombie-Britan-
nique); R. v. Tokarek 8  (Cour d'appel de la 
Colombie-Britannique). 

La possession de la pièce n° 5 par l'appelant 
ayant été établie, il reste à voir si, dans les circons-
tances, la simple possession d'un tel document 
permettait légalement au magistrat, en l'absence 
de toute autre preuve reliant l'appelant à une 
organisation criminelle, de déduire que ce dernier 
était membre d'une telle organisation et que, par 
conséquent, il était en possession de l'arme dans un 
dessein dangereux pour la paix publique. À mon 
avis, la majorité de la Cour d'appel a donné une 
réponse complète à cette allégation et je me rallie 

6  (1944), 81 C.C.C. 139. 6  (1944), 81 C.C.C. 139. 
7  [1945] 3 W.W.R. 280. 7  [1945] 3 W.W.R. 280. 
8  (1967), 58 W.W.R. 691. 8 [1967] 58 W.W.R. 691. 
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Appeal and I would adopt on this point the reasons 
of Gale, C.J.O. 

Counsel for appellant, however, has referred us 
to a number of authorities which, in his submis-
sion, establish that exhibit 5 was not admissible 
because not relevant. In my view, the major deci-
sions to which we have been referred do not bear 
out this conclusion. 

In Thompson v. The King9, the prosecution on a 
charge of gross indecency tendered evidence that 
on the occasion of his arrest the appellant was 
carrying powder puffs and that in his rooms were 
found indecent photographs of boys. The House of 
Lords held that, in the special circumstances of the 
case, the evidence was admissible on the issue of 
identity. However, the speeches of the learned 
Lords indicate that in fact, in other circumstances, 
documents found either on the person or in the 
room occupied by an accused person could very 
well be accepted in evidence for other purposes. 

In Picken v. The Kingi0, a decision of this 
Court, a new trial was ordered because there had 
been produced before the jury in a case of abortion 
various articles found in the home of the accused 
by the police, acting on a search warrant, when 
these articles had no real pertinency between the 
Crown and the accused. However, Duff, C.J., 
speaking for the Court, was careful to point out 
that he was making an exception for the "knitting 
needle and the bicycle spoke". 

Emkeit v. The Queen11, does not add to the 
above, the problem being of a very different 
nature, namely the reading of an inflammatory 
poem by Crown counsel in presence of the jury. 

More to the point, it seems to me, is our decision 
of Prosko v. The King12  where three judges 

9  [1918] A.C. 221. 
10 [1938] S.C.R. 457. 
11 [1974] S.C.R. 133. 
12  (1922), 63 S.C.R. 226. 

aux motifs exprimés par le juge en chef Gale à cet 
égard. 

Cependant, l'avocat de l'appelant nous a ren-
voyé à un certain nombre de précédents qui, selon 
lui, démontrent l'inadmissibilité de la pièce n° 5 
parce que non pertinente. Selon moi, les décisions 
importantes auxquelles nous avons été renvoyés ne 
justifient pas cette conclusion. 

Dans Thompson v. The King9, où l'appelant 
était accusé de grossière indécence, la poursuite 
avait fait la preuve que l'appelant, lors de son 
arrestation, était en possession de houppes à pou-
drer et que des photographies indécentes de gar-
çons avaient été trouvées dans ses chambres. La 
Chambre des Lords décida qu'en raison des cir-
constances spéciales de l'affaire, la preuve était 
admissible sur la question de l'identité. Cependant, 
les propos des savants lords nous indiquent qu'en 
réalité, dans d'autres circonstances, les documents 
trouvés soit sur la personne de l'accusé ou dans la 
chambre occupée par ce dernier pourraient fort 
bien être acceptés en preuve pour d'autres fins. 

Dans Picken c. Le Roi, i° une décision de cette 
Cour, un nouveau procès avait été ordonné parce 
que l'on avait produit devant le jury, dans cette 
cause qui traitait d'avortement, divers objets que 
la police avait trouvés dans la maison de l'accusé 
grâce à un mandat de perquisition, alors que ces 
articles n'avaient aucune pertinence réelle au 
débat. Cependant, le juge en chef Duff, qui s'ex-
primait au nom de la Cour, a pris soin de souligner 
qu'il faisait une exception pour [TRADUCTION] 
«l'aiguille à tricoter et le rayon d'une roue de 
bicyclette». 

L'affaire Emkeit c. La Reine" n'ajoute rien à ce 
qui précède puisqu'il s'agissait d'un litige de 
nature très différente, à savoir la lecture d'un 
poème de nature incendiaire par le procureur du 
ministère public en présence du jury. 

Beaucoup plus pertinente, il me semble, est 
notre décision dans l'affaire Prosko c. Le Roi, 12  où 

9  [1918] A.C. 221. 
10  [1938] R.C.S. 457. 
11 [1974] R.C.S. 133. 
12  (1922), 63 R.C.S. 226. 
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expressed no hesitation to accept that it was proper 
for the Crown to produce the articles found in the 
room of the appellant charged with murder. Iding-
ton J. had this to say at p. 235: 

The only other question upon which counsel for appel-
lant rested his appeal was the fourth question on the 
stated case, which reads as follows: 

Was there error in permitting the Crown to produce 
before and exhibit to the jury as exhibits certain 
objects which were found in the possession of one or 
other of the accused on or in the premises occupied by 
one or other of them? 

I, with great respect, find it difficult to treat such a 
question seriously. Some of the articles found were not 
worthy of serious consideration by the jury, but the false 
moustache and flashlight, for example, were important 
items well worthy of consideration in a case such as this 
dependent to so great an extent as it was upon circum-
stantial evidence. 
That which was incapable of being fitted into the chain 
of circumstances to be relied upon, of course, would be 
discarded by the jury to whom we must attribute 
common sense. 
It became the duty of the crown officer to present the 
suit-case contents as found and let the jury determine 
what was relevant and what was not. And then not leave 
the impression that accused was so intent in pursuit of 
easy money that he could think of nothing else, and 
hence carried only false moustaches, flashlights or glass 
cutters. 

As to what constitutes admissible evidence, I 
cannot do any better than to refer to R. v. Wray 13. 

II—Miscarriage of justice 

It is common ground that exhibit 5 

(a) was not mentioned at all during the prelim-
inary enquiry; 

(b) was not disclosed to the defence prior to the 
beginning of the trial; 

(c) was mentioned for the first time during the 
second day of the trial. 

It is, of course, now settled law that the sole 
purpose of the preliminary enquiry is to satisfy the 

13  [1971] S.C.R. 272. 

trois juges ont convenu sans hésitation que le 
ministère public pouvait régulièrement déposer en 
preuve les objets trouvés dans la chambre de l'ap-
pelant qui était accusé de meurtre. Le juge Iding-
ton s'est exprimé ainsi, à la p. 235: 

[TRADUCTION] La seule autre question sur laquelle 
l'avocat de l'appelant a fait reposer son pourvoi est la 
quatrième question de l'exposé de cause, à savoir: 

A-t-on commis une erreur en permettant au procureur 
du ministère public de déposer en preuve et à titre de 
pièces à conviction, devant le jury, certains objets qui 
ont été trouvés en la possession de l'un ou l'autre des 
accusés dans les lieux occupés par l'un ou l'autre de 
ces derniers? 

Avec respect, il m'est difficile de traiter sérieusement 
une telle question. Certains des articles trouvés ne méri-
taient pas de retenir l'attention du jury, mais la fausse 
moustache et la lampe de poche, par exemple, étaient 
des articles importants, dignes de considération dans une 
cause comme celle-ci qui repose en grande partie sur une 
preuve indirecte. 
Ce qui ne peut se rattacher aux circonstances invoquées 
doit être évidemment rejeté par le jury à qui nous devons 
faire confiance. 

Il incombait au fonctionnaire du ministère public de 
déposer tel que trouvé le contenu de la valise et de 
laisser au jury le soin de déterminer ce qui était perti-
nent et ce qui ne l'était pas, afin de ne pas laisser 
l'impression—qu'à cela, de sorte—que l'accusé était si 
assoiffé d'argent qu'il ne pensait qu'à cela, de sorte qu'il 
ne portait sur lui que de fausses moustaches, des lampes 
de poche et des coupe-verre. 

Relativement à ce qui constitue une preuve 
admissible, l'arrêt R. c. Wray, 13  y répond par-
faitement. 

II—Erreur judiciaire grave 

Concernant la pièce n° 5, il est reconnu que 

a) elle n'a pas du tout été mentionnée au cours 
de l'enquête préliminaire; 

b) elle n'a pas été divulguée à la défense avant 
le début du procès; 

c) elle a été mentionnée pour la première fois au 
cours de la seconde journée du procès. 

Bien sûr, il est maintenant bien établi en droit 
que l'enquête préliminaire vise uniquement à satis- 

13 [1971] R.C.S. 272. 
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magistrate that there is sufficent evidence to put 
the accused on trial and that, therefore, the Crown 
has the discretion to present only that evidence 
which makes out a prima facie case. Patterson v. 
The Queen 14; R. v. Epping 15 

However, counsel for the accused has put to us 
the following question: 
Was the prosecution under a duty prior to the start of 
the trial to inform the defence of the existence of exhibit 
5 and of its intention to introduce into evidence that 
exhibit? 

In my opinion, the answer to that question must be 
in the negative. 

The basic rule is that expressed in Lemay v. The 
King, 16  where it was held 

that counsel acting for the prosecution has full discre-
tion as to what witnesses should be called for the 
prosecution and the Court will not interfere with the 
exercise of that discretion unless it can be shown that 
the prosecutor has been influenced by some oblique 
motive (of which there is here no suggestion). This is not 
to be regarded as lessening the duty of the prosecutor to 
bring forward evidence of every material fact known to 
the prosecution whether favourable to the accused or 
otherwise. The appeal should be dismissed since there 
was no obligation on the Crown to call either Powell or 
Lowes at the trial. 

It is within the framework of the adversary system, 
under which our criminal law is administered, that 
the accused must be guaranteed a fair trial. 

In that light, if the introduction of new evidence 
at the trial takes the accused by surprise, obviously 
he is entitled to a postponement. Here this post-
ponement was accorded to the accused to the point 
that when the trial did proceed, he was in a 
position to adduce the evidence of his own expert 
as to the import of exhibit 5, namely Professor 
Chandler. 

Appellant, however, submits that he has been 
prejudiced on two counts: 

14  [1970] S.C.R. 409. 
15 (1972), 57 Cr. App. R. 499. 
16  [1952] 1 S.C.R. 232. 

faire le magistrat qu'il existe suffisamment de 
preuve pour faire subir à l'accusé un procès et que, 
par conséquent, le ministère public a la faculté de 
n'y présenter que ce qui constitue une preuve 
suffisante à première vue. Patterson c. La Reine 14; 

R. v. Epping's 

Cependant, l'avocat de l'accusé a soumis la 
question suivante: 

[TRADUCTION] Est-ce que la poursuite avait le devoir 
de dévoiler à la défense, avant le début du procès, 
l'existence de la pièce N° 5 ainsi que son intention de 
déposer en preuve cette pièce à conviction? 

À mon avis, il faut répondre négativement à cette 
question. 

La règle fondamentale à cet égard a été énoncée 
dans Lemay c. Le Roi 16  où il a été décidé 
[TRADUCTION] que l'avocat de la poursuite est complè-
tement libre de décider quels témoins doivent être cités 
pour la poursuite et la Cour ne doit pas entraver l'exer-
cice de cette discrétion à moins qu'on puisse démontrer 
que le poursuivant a agi ainsi pour des motifs détournés 
(ce qui n'a pas été suggéré ici). Ceci ne doit pas être 
interprété comme un amoindrissement du devoir du 
poursuivant de prouver chaque fait pertinent connu de la 
poursuite qu'il soit favorable ou défavorable à l'accusé. 
Le pourvoi doit être rejeté puisque le ministère public 
n'était aucunement obligé d'assigner Powell ou Lowes. 

C'est dans le cadre du système contradictoire sur 
lequel est fondée l'administration de notre droit 
criminel, que la garantie d'un procès équitable doit 
être accordée à l'accusé. 

À la lumière de ce qui précède, il est manifeste 
que l'accusé a droit à un ajournement si, au cours 
du procès, le dépôt d'une nouvelle preuve le prend 
par surprise. En l'espèce, cet ajournement a été 
accordé à l'accusé si bien qu'à la reprise du procès, 
il était en mesure de faire entendre son propre 
témoin expert, le professeur Chandler, relative-
ment à la portée de la pièce n° 5. 

Cependant, l'appelant allègue avoir subi deux 
préjudices: 

14  [1970] R.C.S. 409. 
15 [1972], 57 Cr. App. R. 499. 
16 [1952] 1 R.C.S. 232. 
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(1) his cross-examination of Detective Turner 
would have been conducted in a different light; 

(2) it is possible that, had he known of the 
existence of exhibit 5 and of the intention of the 
Crown to use it, he would have maintained his 
option to be heard by a judge and jury. 

As to the first point, we have been referred to 
the following questions and answers at the begin-
ning of Detective Turner's cross-examination: 

Q. Now, Detective Turner, just to recap, you said 
that you arrived at about 5:50 p.m. on August 1st 
at the Caccamo home? 

A. 5:50, yes, sir. 

Q. Right. And your purpose in going there was to 
conduct a search? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. In accordance with the warrant which has been 
introduced as an exhibit? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And that was to search for firearms? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Now, was the presence of counterfeit money con-
templated at all in the mind of the people execut-
ing the warrant? 

A. Not in my mind, no, sir. 

Q. Have you any previous knowledge before execut- 
ing that warrant of Mr. Caccamo? 

A. None that I know of, no, sir. 

Q. Or Mrs. Caccamo? 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Are you aware whether or not there are any 
records or if there is any information on file about 
him in the Police Department? 

A. Not to my knowledge, sir. 

Q. Did you check that before such time as you execu- 
ted the warrant? 

A. No, sir. 

I fail to see what prejudice has been suffered by 
the appellant as a result of this cross-examination. 
His character was not put into question by any of 
the answers given by Detective Turner and it is 
difficult to imagine that any harm has been done. 
It is true that in a general way the character of the 
appellant was at stake but until exhibit 5 was 
offered in evidence on the second day of the trial, 
nothing had taken place that, in my view, would 

(1) son contre-interrogatoire du détective 
Turner aurait été mené différemment; 

(2) s'il avait eu connaissance de l'existence de la 
pièce n° 5 et de l'intention du ministère public 
de s'en servir, il est possible qu'il aurait main-
tenu son choix d'un procès devant juge et jury. 

Concernant le premier point, on nous a renvoyé 
aux premières questions et réponses du contre-
interrogatoire du détective Turner: 

[TRADUCTION] Q. Maintenant, détective Turner, 
pour récapituler, vous avez dit que vous êtes 
arrivé, au cours de cette journée du P' août, à la 
maison de Caccamo vers 17h30? 

R. À 17h30, oui, monsieur. 

Q. Bien. Et vous y alliez pour y faire une 
perquisition? 

R. Oui, monsieur. 

Q. En exécution du mandat qui a été déposé comme 
pièce à conviction? 

R. Oui, monsieur. 

Q. Et vous deviez chercher des armes à feu? 
R. Oui, monsieur. 

Q. Maintenant, est-ce que les gens qui ont exécuté le 
mandat pensaient y trouver de la monnaie 
contrefaite? 

R. Je n'y ai pas pensé, non, monsieur. 

Q. Et que saviez-vous au sujet de M. Caccamo avant 
de procéder à l'exécution du mandat? 

R. Rien, monsieur. 

Q. Ou au sujet de M°'° Caccamo? 
R. Rien, monsieur. 

Q. Savez-vous s'il existe ou non, à la Sûreté, des 
dossiers ou des fiches de renseignements sur lui? 

R. Pas que je sache, non monsieur. 

Aviez-vous vérifié cela avant de procéder à l'exé- 
cution du mandat? 

R. Non, monsieur. 

Je ne vois pas quel préjudice a subi l'appelant en 
conséquence de ce contre-interrogatoire. Aucune 
des réponses fournies par le détective Turner n'a 
porté sur la réputation de l'appelant et il est 
difficile d'imaginer qu'un tort a pu être causé. Il 
est vrai que, de façon générale, la réputation de 
l'appelant était en jeu, mais jusqu'à ce que la pièce 
n° 5 soit déposée en preuve le deuxième jour du 
procès, il ne s'était rien passé qui, à mon avis, 

Q. 
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have given another direction to the examination or 
cross-examination of the witnesses heard till that 
time. 

The second consideration, namely the option, we 
are told by counsel, has never been examined by 
any court. The right to the proper forum is indeed 
a major one belonging to the accused. That forum 
is determined by statute and, in the cases spelled 
out in the Criminal Code, the accused had a 
choice. Of course, the Code does not state that in a 
case like the one at bar, the choice is vitiated if 
made before the accused learns at least the sub-
stance of all the evidence to be adduced against 
him. We are asked here to decide that such is the 
result of the Crown's failure to supply the accused 
with at least a summary of the substance of the 
evidence before the expiry of the delays governing 
the option. 

To help us in reaching a decision, we have to 
keep in mind what has been underlined above, 
namely 

(1) that the Crown does not have the obligation 
to show all of its evidence at the preliminary 
enquiry; 
(2) that, in conducting its case, the Crown has 
the discretion defined in the Lemay case above; 

(3) that, over the years, the sole effect of the 
introduction of new evidence at trial has been to 
allow the accused to obtain a postponement of 
the trial. 

Against this background, it becomes obvious that 
when the accused makes its option to be tried by a 
judge alone or by a judge and jury, the law does 
not expect him to make that decision in the light of 
the evidence but rather in the light of the charge. 

Of course, I do not deny that there could be 
cases where the option made could be set aside if 
in fact there has been a miscarriage of justice. 
Such was not the case here. 

On this point, I adopt the reasons of Gale, 
C.J.O., at p. 252, who, although he was then 
speaking of count 1, expressed comments equally 
applicable to count 2:  

aurait pu donner une autre orientation à l'interro-
gatoire ou au contre-interrogatoire des témoins 
entendus jusqu'alors. 

Selon l'avocat de l'appelant, les cours ne se sont 
pas encore penchées sur le second point à considé-
rer, c'est-à-dire l'option. Le droit d'être entendu 
par le tribunal approprié est effectivement un droit 
fondamental de l'accusé. La loi détermine ce tribu-
nal, et dans certains cas prévus au Code criminel, 
l'accusé peut faire un choix. Bien sûr, le Code ne 
prescrit pas que dans une cause comme celle-ci le 
choix sera vicié s'il est fait avant que l'accusé ne 
connaisse au moins l'essentiel de toute la preuve 
qui sera présentée contre lui. On nous demande ici 
de décider que le ministère public a entraîné pareil 
résultat en ne fournissant pas à l'accusé au moins 
un résumé du contenu de la preuve avant l'expira-
tion des délais qui régissent le choix du procès. 

Pour nous aider à décider, nous devons retenir 
ce qui a été mentionné précédemment, à savoir 

1) que le ministère public n'est pas obligé de 
dévoiler toute sa preuve au cours de l'enquête 
préliminaire; 
2) que le ministère public peut, dans sa pour-
suite, exercer la discrétion définie dans l'affaire 
Lemay susmentionnée; 
3) que, par le passé, la production d'une nou-
velle preuve au cours du procès n'a eu pour effet 
que d'accorder à l'accusé la possibilité d'obtenir 
un ajournement du procès. 

Compte tenu de ces facteurs, il devient évident que 
lorsque l'accusé choisit d'être jugé par un juge seul 
ou par un juge et un jury, on ne s'attend pas 
d'après la loi, à ce que l'accusé prenne cette déci-
sion à la lumière de la preuve mais plutôt à la 
lumière du chef d'accusation. 

Bien sûr, je ne nie pas le fait qu'il pourrait y 
avoir des cas où le choix pourrait être écarté s'il y 
avait effectivement eu erreur judiciaire grave. 
Mais tel n'est pas le cas en l'espèce. 

Sous ce rapport, je me rallie aux motifs du juge 
en chef Gale, à la p. 252, qui, même s'il traitait 
alors du premier chef d'accusation, a exprimé cer-
tains commentaires également applicables au 
deuxième chef d'accusation: 
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It was also argued, with respect to count 1, that the 
introduction of ex. 5, which is apparently one of the rare 
statements or codes of the Mafia organization, without 
prior disclosure by the Crown to defence counsel, ren-
dered the trial abortive, particularly when counsel had 
already re-elected for a trial by Judge alone, without 
knowledge that this evidence existed and would be ten-
dered by the Crown. We do not agree that such non-dis-
closure gave a right to the accused to have the trial 
declared abortive and to re-elect for a trial by Judge and 
jury. Nor did it detract from or prejudice the action of 
defence counsel in re-electing trial by Judge alone. It 
does not seem to us to be right to say that a trial 
becomes abortive because evidence in the possession of 
the Crown is not disclosed to the defence prior to the 
opening of the trial. In this case, the Crown might have 
revealed its possession of the document, although I do 
not think this Court is able to pass on that. However, the 
failure to do so did not produce a mistrial, particularly 
because the defence, after the disclosure of the docu-
ment, was given ample opportunity—indeed, as much 
opportunity as they wished—to see the document, exam-
ine it and take whatever position they wished in that 
regard. In my opinion, there was no prejudice to the 
accused, because really what the claim to a right 
re-election amounts to is an assertion that there was 
some prejudice, or that it was a miscarriage of justice, to 
allow the trial to proceed before the County Court 
Judge without a jury. We do not agree that amounts to 
prejudice in any sense of the word. 

I might a that in reaching a conclusion as to 
whether or not a miscarrage of justice exists, the 
courts are entitled to take into account the fact 
that the accused did not testify, which is the 
situation in the case at bar. I would refer on this 
point to R. v. Boucher et al.". a decision of the 
Court of Appeal of British Columbia; R. v. 
Cipolla 16,  a decision of the Court of Appeal of 
Ontario; R. v. Greenlaw (No. 1 ) 19, a decision of the 
Court of Appeal of New Brunswick. 

For all these reasons, I would dismiss the 
appeal.  

[TRADUCTION] Relativement au premier chef d'accusa-
tion, on a également allégué que la production de la 
pièce N° 5, qui est apparemment un de ces rares énoncés 
ou codes de la Mafia, sans que le ministère public n'en 
avise au préalable l'avocat de la défense, a entaché le 
procès d'un défaut de procédure, surtout lorsque l'avocat 
avait déjà fait un nouveau choix et opté pour un procès 
devant un juge seul, sans qu'il soit au courant de l'exis-
tence de cette preuve et de sa production par le minis-
tère public. Nous ne croyons pas que cette absence de 
divulgation ait accordé à l'accusé le droit de faire décla-
rer ce procès entaché d'un défaut de procédure et de 
choisir maintenant d'être jugé par un juge et un jury, ni 
qu'elle ait nui ou porté préjudice à la décision de l'avo-
cat de la défense de choisir un procès devant un juge 
seul. Il ne nous semble pas juste d'affirmer que le procès 
devient entaché d'un défaut de procédure parce qu'une 
preuve en possession du ministère public n'est pas dévoi-
lée à la défense avant le début du procès. En l'espèce, le 
ministère public aurait pu dévoiler le fait qu'il possédait 
ce document, bien que je ne crois pas que cette Cour soit 
en mesure de se prononcer là-dessus. Cependant, le 
défaut de ce faire n'a pas entraîné un vice de procédure, 
pour la principale raison que la défense, après la divul-
gation du document, a eu l'occasion—en fait, elle a eu 
toute la liberté voulue—de voir le document, de l'exami-
ner et d'adopter à son égard l'attitude voulue. A mon 
avis, l'accusé n'a subi aucun préjudice parce qu'en réa-
lité, la prétention au droit de faire un nouveau choix 
équivaut à affirmer qu'un préjudice a été causé ou qu'il 
y a eu erreur judiciaire grave en permettant que le 
procès ait lieu devant le juge de la Cour de comté sans 
un jury. Nous ne croyons pas que cela constitue un 
préjudice dans toutes les acceptations du terme. 

Je ferais remarquer qu'en concluant à l'exis-
tence ou à l'inexistence d'une erreur judiciaire 
grave, les tribunaux ont le droit de tenir compte du 
fait que l'accusé n'a pas témoigné, ce qui est 
présentement le cas. A cet égard, je m'en reporte à 
R. v. Boucher et al" un arrêt de la Cour d'appel 
de la Colombie-Britannique; R. v. Cipolla 18,  un 
arrêt de la Cour d'appel de l'Ontario; R. v. Green-
law (No 1)19, un arrêt de la Cour d'appel du 
Nouveau-Brunswick. 

Pour tous ces motifs, je suis d'avis de rejeter le 
pourvoi. 

17 [1963] 2 C.C.C. 241. 17 (1963), 2 C.C.C. 241. 
18  [1965) 2 O.R. 673. ' [1965] 2 O.R. 673. 
19 [1968] 3 C.C.C. 200. 19  [1968] 3 C.C.C. 200. 
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Appeal dimissed, LASKIN C.J. and SPENCE J. 	Appel rejeté, le juge en chef LASKIN et le juge 
dissenting. 	 SPENCE dissidents. 

Solicitor for the appellant: Arthur Maloney, 	Procureur de l'appelant: Arthur Maloney, 
Toronto. 	 Toronto. 

Solicitor for the respondent: Attorney General 	Procureur de l'intimée: Attorney General of 
of Ontario, Toronto. 	 Ontario, Toronto. 
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Canadian Pacific Limited Appellant; 

and 

The Governments of the Provinces of Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario, and 
the Atlantic Provinces Transportation 
Commission Respondents; 

and 

The Government of the Province of British 
Columbia, the Attorney General of Canada, 
and the Canadian Transport Commission 
Intervenants. 

Canadian National Railway Company 
Appellant; 

and 

The Governments of the Provinces of Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario, and 
the Atlantic Provinces Transportation 
Commission Respondents; 

and 

The Government of the Province of British 
Columbia, the Attorney General of Canada, 
and the Canadian Transport Commission 
Intervenants. 

1975: April 24, 25; 1975: May 20. 

Present: Laskin C.J. and Martland, Judson, Ritchie, 
Spence, Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz and de Grandpré JJ. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE FEDERAL COURT OF 

APPEAL 

Railways—Canadian Transport Commission—Pro-
posed toll increases—Power of Commission to extend 
period of notice after effective date—Railway Act, 
R.S.C. 1970, c. R-2, s. 275(2)(4). 

Statutes—Interpretation—Requirement of filing and 
publication of proposed toll increases for 30 days 
before becoming effective—Power of Canadian Trans-
port Commission to reduce proposed toll increases and 
postpone effective date—Power of Canadian Transport 
Commission to extend period of notice after effective 
date—Order declared invalid by Court, ultra vires ab  

Canadien Pacifique Limitée Appelante; 

et 

Les gouvernements des provinces de l'Alberta, 
de la Saskatchewan, du Manitoba et de 
l'Ontario et The Atlantic Provinces 
Transportation Commission Intimés; 

et 

Le gouvernement de la province de la 
Colombie-Britannique, le procureur général 
du Canada et la Commission canadienne des 
transports Intervenants. 

La Compagnie des chemins de fer nationaux 
du Canada Appelante; 

et 

Les gouvernements des provinces de l'Alberta, 
de la Saskatchewan, du Manitoba et de 
l'Ontario et The Atlantic Provinces 
Transportation Commission Intimés; 

et 

Le gouvernement de la province de la 
Colombie-Britannique, le procureur général 
du Canada et la Commission canadienne des 
transports Intervenants. 

1975: Les 24 et 25 avril; 1975: Le 20 mai. 

Présents: Le juge en chef Laskin et les juges Martland, 
Judson, Ritchie, Spence, Pigeon, Dickson, Beetz et 
de Grandpré. 

EN APPEL DE LA COUR D'APPEL FÉDÉRALE 

Chemins de fer—Commission canadienne des trans-
ports—Augmentation proposée des taux Pouvoir de 
la Commission de proroger le délai d'avis après la date 
d'entrée en vigueur—Loi sur les chemins de fer, S.R.C. 
1970, c. R-2, art. 275(2)(4). 

Lois—Interprétation—L'augmentation proposée des 
taux doit être déposée et publiée 30 jours avant son 
entrée en vigueur—Pouvoir de la Commission cana-
dienne des transports de réduire l'augmentation propo-
sée des taux et de retarder la date d'entrée en vigueur—
Pouvoir de la Commission canadienne des transports de 
proroger le délai d'avis après la date d'entrée en 
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initio—Railway Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. R-2, s. 275(2) 
(4)—National Transportation Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. 
N-17, s. 64(5). 

The appellant railway companies filed with the 
Canadian Transport Commission and published notice 
of tariff increases, the effective date of which was fixed 
as January 1, 1975, all in accordance with regulations, 
orders and directions made by the C.T.C. pursuant to s. 
275 of the Railway Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. R-2. Thereafter 
on December 24, 1974, several of the respondents 
applied to the Railway Transport Committee of the 
C.T.C. for an order to suspend or postpone the tolls 
provided in the tariff increases and to prevent the com-
panies from charging the increased rates. The other 
respondents intervened in support of the application to 
suspend the new rates before the Committee which, on 
December 31, 1974, made an order granting part of the 
relief sought by the respondents, postponing 50 per cent 
of the increases until March 1, 1975. The companies 
appealed to the Federal Court of Appeal contending 
that the action of the Committee was ultra vires. It was 
held that the order should be set aside, and this judg-
ment was the subject of the cross-appeals to the 
Supreme Court, and further that the C.T.C. had power 
under s. 275(2) to enlarge the minimum thirty day 
period mentioned therein and that on its order being set 
aside the C.T.C. could and should consider whether an 
order as contemplated by s. 275(2) should be made, and 
this latter part of the judgment, on which the Commit-
tee acted, was the subject of the appeals to the Supreme 
Court. 

Held: The appeals should be allowed and the cross-
appeals should be dismissed. 

On the cross-appeal, while respondents contended that 
the order postponing the tariff increases to the extent of 
50 per cent was made in exercise of the powers given to 
the C.T.C. by s. 275(2), that section could not be read 
as empowering the C.T.C. to make the order that it 
purported to make. The repeal of s. 382 of the former 
act (the Railway Act, R.S.C. 1952, c. 234) and the 
adoption of the wording of s. 275(4) of the Railway Act 
were effected with a view to achieving the purpose 
stated in s. 3(a) of the National Transportation Act, 
that regulation of all modes of transport would not  

vigueur—Ordonnance déclarée invalide par la Cour, 
ultra vires ab initio—Loi sur les chemins de fer, S.R.C. 
1970, c. R-2, art. 275 (2)(4)—Loi nationale sur les 
transports, S.R.C. 1970, c. N-17, art. 64(5). 

Les compagnies de chemin de fer appelantes ont 
déposé auprès de la Commission canadienne des trans-
ports et publié un tarif comportant d'importantes majo-
rations. La date de son entrée en vigueur avait été fixée 
au ler janvier 1975. Le tarif a été déposé et publié et 
l'avis en a été donné conformément aux règlements, aux 
ordres et aux instructions établis par la C.C.T. confor-
mément à l'art. 275 de la Loi sur les chemins de fer, 
S.R.C. 1970, c. R-2. Un peu plus tard, le 24 décembre 
1974, plusieurs des intimés ont présenté une demande au 
Comité des transports par chemin de fer de la C.C.T. en 
vue d'obtenir une ordonnance pour suspendre ou retar-
der l'entrée en vigueur des taux décrétés au tarif majoré 
et interdire aux compagnies de chemin de fer d'exiger 
les taux fixés dans ce tarif. Les autres intimés sont 
intervenus pour appuyer la demande de suspension des 
nouveaux taux présentée au Comité qui, le 31 décembre 
1974, a rendu une ordonnance accordant en partie la 
demande des intimés, en retardant jusqu'au ler mars 
1975 cinquante pour cent de l'augmentation. Les com-
pagnies ont interjeté appel à la Cour d'appel fédérale 
alléguant que le Comité avait outrepassé ses pouvoirs en 
rendant cette ordonnance. Cette Cour-là a décidé d'in-
firmer l'ordonnance, et c'est cette partie du jugement 
qui fait l'objet des pourvois incidents interjetés à la Cour 
suprême, et elle a également décidé que la C.C.T. était 
autorisée en vertu du par. (2) de l'art. 275 de proroger la 
période minimale de trente jours y mentionnée et elle a 
statué qu'à la suite de l'annulation de l'ordonnance de la 
C.C.T., il incombait à celle-ci d'examiner si une ordon-
nance de la catégorie prévue au par. (2) de l'art. 275 
devait être rendue, et c'est contre cette dernière partie 
du jugement, à la base de l'ordonnance du Comité, que 
les compagnies de chemin de fer se pourvoient devant la 
Cour suprême. 

Arrêt: Les pourvois doivent être accueillis et les pour-
vois incidents doivent être rejetés. 

Relativement au pourvoi incident, même si les intimés 
ont prétendu que l'ordonnance retardant la mise en 
vigueur de 50 pour cent de l'augmentation prévue au 
tarif a été faite conformément au pouvoir conféré à la 
C.C.T. par le par. (2) de l'art. 275, cet article ne peut 
être interprété comme conférant à la C.C.T. le pouvoir 
de rendre une telle ordonnance. L'abrogation de l'art. 
382 de l'ancienne loi (la Loi sur les chemins de fer, 
S.R.C. 1952, c. 234) et l'adoption du par. (4) de l'art. 
275 visent à réaliser l'objectif énoncé à l'al. a) de l'art. 3 
de la Loi nationale sur les transports, c'est-à-dire que la 
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restrict the ability of any mode of transport to compete 
freely with any other modes of transport. The C.T.C. 
did not therefore have any general power to do what it 
purported to do. 

The appeal was also concerned with s. 275(2) and (4), 
however, even assuming that the C.T.C. had power to 
extend the thirty-day period required by s. 275(2) and 
even assuming that such extension could be required 
after the tariff had been filed, the extension of the 
period of notice would have to have been made before 
the effective date, because, otherwise, the tariff would 
have come into effect upon that date. What the C.T.C. 
attempted to do was to postpone the effective date i.e. to 
do indirectly what it had no power to do directly. 

The requirement in s. 64(5) of the National Trans-
portation Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. N-17, for the certifying 
by the Federal Court of Appeal of its opinion to the 
C.T.C. and for the Commission to make an order in 
accordance with such opinion does not mean that an 
order which the Court has declared to be invalid has the 
same effect as a valid order until it is set aside. Subsec-
tion (5) merely provides a procedure for implementing 
the opinion of the Court in respect of an appeal. To 
construe otherwise would run counter to the legal doc-
trine of ultra vires. 

Hoffmann-La Roche v. Secretary of State for Trade 
and Industry, [1974] 2 All E.R. 1128, referred to. 

APPEALS and CROSS-APPEALS from a 
judgment of the Federal Court of Appeal allow-
ing an appeal from the Railway Transport Com-
mittee of the Canadian Transport Commission 
granting an application postponing the effective 
date of certain proposed freight tariffs. Appeals 
allowed, cross-appeals dismissed. 

C. R. O. Munro, Q. C., and Gordon Miller, Q. C., 
for the appellant, Canadian Pacific Limited. 

John Schiller, for the appellant, Canadian Na-
tional Railway, Company. 

Gordon Blair, Q.C., François Lemieux, and 
Martin Kay, for the Attorneys General of Alberta, 
Saskatchewan and Manitoba, respondents. 

~ [1975] F.C. 171. 

réglementation de tous les moyens de transport ne sera 
pas de nature à restreindre la capacité de l'un d'eux de 
faire librement concurrence à tous les autres moyens de 
transport. La C.C.T. n'avait donc pas le pouvoir de faire 
ce qu'elle visait par son ordonnance. 

Le pourvoi a également trait aux par. (2) et (4) de 
l'art. 275. Même dans l'hypothèse que la C.C.T. avait le 
pouvoir de proroger la période de trente jours prescrite 
par le par. (2) de l'art. 275, et même dans l'hypothèse 
qu'une telle prorogation pourrait être prescrite après le 
dépôt du tarif, la prorogation de la période de pré-avis 
devait être décrétée avant la date d'entrée en vigueur 
puisque, autrement, le tarif deviendrait en vigueur à 
cette date. En fait, la C.C.T. a tenté de remettre à plus 
tard l'application du tarif, c.-à-d. de faire indirectement 
ce qu'elle ne peut faire directement. 

L'exigence prévue au par. (5) de l'art. 64 de la Loi 
nationale sur les transports, S.R.C. 1970, c. N-17, 
portant que la Cour d'appel fédérale doit transmettre 
son opinion certifiée à la C.C.T. et que celle-ci doit 
rendre une ordonnance conformément à cette opinion ne 
signifie pas qu'une ordonnance invalide a le même effet 
qu'une ordonnance valide entre le moment où elle a été 
rendue et celui où elle a été infirmée. Le par. (5) ne fait 
rien d'autre que prescrire une procédure d'exécution de 
l'opinion rendue par la Cour saisie de l'appel. Interpré-
ter différemment cette disposition irait à l'encontre de la 
doctrine juridique de l'ultra vires. 

Arrêt mentionné: Hoffmann-La Roche v. Secretary 
of State for Trade and Industry, [1974] 2 All E.R. 
1128. 

POURVOIS et POURVOIS INCIDENTS 
interjetés à l'encontre d'un arrêt de la Cour d'ap-
pel fédérale' qui a accueilli l'appel d'une ordon-
nance rendue par le Comité des transports par 
chemin de fer de la Commission canadienne des 
transports selon laquelle la date d'entrée en 
vigueur d'un tarif augmentant les taux de fret était 
retardée. Pourvois accueillis, pourvois incidents 
rejetés. 

C. R. O. Munro, c.r., et Gordon Miller, c.r., 
pour l'appelante, Canadien Pacifique Limitée. 

John Schiller, pour l'appelante, la Compagnie 
des chemins de fer nationaux du Canada. 

Gordon Blair, c.r., François Lemieux, et Martin 
Kay, pour les procureurs généraux de l'Alberta, de 
la Saskatchewan et du Manitoba, intimés. 

~ [1975] C.F. 171. 
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D. Burtnick, for the Attorney General of 
Ontario, respondent. 

J. M. Davison, and G. T. Hayes, for the Atlan-
tic Provinces Transport Commission, respondent. 

G. W. Ainslie, Q.C., and André Garneau, for the 
Attorney General of Canada, intervenant. 

W. G. Burke-Robertson, Q.C., for the Attorney 
General of British Columbia, intervenant. 

The judgment of the Court was delivered by 

MARTLAND J.—On November 22, 1974, the 
appellants, hereinafter referred to as "the railway 
companies", filed and published C.F.A. Tariff No. 
1005, which involved substantial tariff increases. 
The effective date was fixed as January 1, 1975. It 
is admitted that filing, publication and notice of 
this tariff had been effected in accordance with 
regulations, orders or directions made by the 
Canadian Transport Commission, hereinafter 
referred to as "the Commission", pursuant to s. 
275 of the Railway Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. R-2, 
which provides as follows: 

275. (1) Every freight tariff and every amendment of 
a freight tariff shall be filed and published, and notice of 
the issue thereof and of cancellation of any such tariff or 
any portion thereof shall be given in accordance with 
regulations, orders or directions made by the 
Commission. 

(2) Unless otherwise ordered by the Commission, 
when any freight tariff advances any toll previously 
authorized to be charged under this Act, the company 
shall in like manner file and publish such tariff at least 
thirty days before its effective date. 

(3) A freight tariff that reduces any toll previously 
authorized to be charged under this Act may be acted 
upon and put into operation immediately on or after the 
issue of the tariff and before it is filed with the 
Commission. 

(4) Where a freight tariff is filed and notice of issue 
is given in accordance with this Act and the regulations, 
orders and directions of the Commission, the tolls there-
in shall, unless and until they are disallowed by the 
Commission, be conclusively deemed to be the lawful 
tolls and shall take effect on the date stated in the tariff 
as the date on which it is to take effect, and the tariff 
supersedes any preceding tariff, or any portion thereof, 

D. Burtnick, pour le procureur général de l'On-
tario, intimé. 

J. M. Davison, et G. T. Hayes, pour The Atlan-
tic Provinces Transportation Commission, intimée. 

G. W. Ainslie, c.r., et André Garneau, pour le 
procureur général du Canada, intervenant. 

W. G. Burke-Robertson, c.r., pour le procureur 
général de la Colombie-Britannique, intervenant. 

Le jugement de la Cour a été rendu par 

LE JUGE MARTLAND—Le 22 novembre 1974, 
les appelantes, ci-après appelées «les compagnies 
de chemin de fer» ont déposé et publié le tarif 
C.F.A. n° 1005 qui comportait d'importantes 
majorations. La date de son entrée en vigueur 
avait été fixée au ler  janvier 1975. Il est admis que 
le tarif a été déposé et publié et que l'avis en a été 
donné conformément aux règlements, ordres ou 
instructions établis par la Commission canadienne 
des transports, ci-après appelée «la Commission», 
conformément à l'art. 275 de la Loi sur les che-
mins de fer, S.R.C. 1970, c. R-2, qui se lit comme 
suit: 

275. (1) Tout tarif de marchandises et chaque modi-
fication d'un tarif de marchandises doivent être déposés 
et publiés, et un avis de leur émission et de l'annulation 
de tout semblable tarif ou partie de tarif doit être donné 
conformément aux règlements, ordres ou instructions 
édictés par la Commission. 

(2) Sauf ordre contraire de la Commission, lorsqu'un 
tarif-marchandises majore une taxe dont l'imposition 
était antérieurement autorisée sous le régime de la pré-
sente loi, la compagnie doit de la même manière déposer 
et publier ce tarif au moins trente jours avant la date de 
son entrée en vigueur. 

(3) Un tarif-marchandises qui réduit une taxe dont 
l'imposition était antérieurement autorisée sous le 
régime de la présente loi peut devenir applicable et être 
appliqué dès l'émission du tarif avant même d'avoir été 
déposé à la Commission. 

(4) Lorsqu'un tarif de marchandises est déposé et 
qu'un avis de son émission est donné conformément à la 
présente loi et aux règlements, ordres et instructions de 
la Commission, les taxes y prévues, à moins que la 
Commission ne les rejette, et tant qu'elle ne l'aura pas 
fait, sont péremptoirement censées être les taxes licites 
et doivent prendre effet à la date mentionnée dans le 
tarif comme étant la date où elles doivent prendre effet, 
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in so far as it reduces or advances the tolls therein; and 
the company shall thereafter, until such tariff expires, or 
is disallowed by the Commission, or is superseded by a 
new tariff, charge the tolls as specified therein. 

On December 24, 1974, the Governments of the 
Provinces of Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manito-
ba, hereinafter referred to as "the respondents", 
applied to the Railway Transport Committee of 
the Commission, hereinafter referred to as "the 
Committee", for an order to suspend or postpone 
the tolls provided in Tariff No. 1005 and to enjoin 
the railway companies from charging the rates 
specified in that tariff. 

Hearings were held by the Committee on 
December 30 and 31, 1974. Interventions in sup-
port of the application were filed by the Govern-
ment of the Province of Ontario and by the Atlan-
tic Provinces Transportation Commission. 

On December 31, 1974, the Committee made an 
order granting part of the relief sought by the 
respondents. Paragraph 1 of the order provided: 

1. CFA Tariff No. 1005 and all other relevant tariffs 
to become effective January 1st, 1975 are to go into 
effect as aforesaid as to 50 per cent each of the increases 
in tolls contained therein and the effective date thereof 
as to the remaining 50 per cent is postponed until March 
1st, 1975. 

From this order the railway companies, with 
leave, appealed to the Federal Court of Appeal, 
hereinafter referred to as "the Court", contending 
that the Commission had no power to postpone the 
operation of a freight tariff duly filed and pub-
lished under s. 275 of the Railway Act. On the 
hearing before the Court the Government of the 
Province of British Columbia and the Attorney 
General of Canada were intervenants. 

The Court unanimously decided that the appeals 
should be allowed. In the reasons it is stated that s. 
275(2), on which the respondents relied as author-
ity to support the order, could not be read "as 
empowering the Commission to make an order 
postponing the effective date of the whale or part  

et le tarif remplace tout tarif antérieur ou toute partie 
d'un tel tarif dans la mesure où il réduit ou majore les 
taxes y prévues; et la compagnie doit par la suite 
imposer les taxes qui y sont spécifiées jusqu'à ce que 
ledit tarif expire, ou que la Commission le rejette ou 
qu'un autre tarif le remplace. 

Le 24 décembre 1974, les gouvernements des 
provinces de l'Alberta, de la Saskatchewan et du 
Manitoba, ci-après appelés «les intimés», ont pré-
senté une demande au Comité des transports par 
chemin de fer de la Commission, ci-après appelé 
«le Comité», en vue d'obtenir une ordonnance pour 
suspendre ou retarder l'entrée en vigueur des taxes 
décrétées au tarif n° 1005 et interdire aux compa-
gnies de chemin de fer d'exiger les taux fixés dans 
ce tarif. 

Le Comité a procédé à l'audition de la demande 
les 30 et 31 décembre 1974. Le gouvernement de 
la province de l'Ontario et l'Atlantic Provinces 
Transportation Commission sont intervenus à l'ap-
pui de la demande. 

Le 31 décembre 1974, le Comité a rendu une 
ordonnance accordant en partie la demande des 
intimés. Le paragraphe 1 de l'ordonnance prévoit: 

1. Les taxes figurant au tarif CFA 1005 et autres 
tarifs applicables, devant entrer en vigueur le 1" janvier 
1975, seront majorées à cette date de 50 p. cent, la 
seconde étape de l'augmentation étant retardée jusqu'au 
1" mars 1975. 

Les compagnies de chemin de fer ont interjeté 
appel de cette ordonnance à la Cour d'appel fédé-
rale, ci-après appelée «la Cour», avec l'autorisation 
de celle-ci, alléguant que la Commission n'avait 
pas le pouvoir de retarder la mise en vigueur d'un 
tarif de marchandises régulièrement déposé et 
publié conformément à l'art. 275 de la Loi sur les 
chemins de fer. Le gouvernement de la province de 
la Colombie-Britannique et le Procureur général 
du Canada sont intervenus lorsque l'affaire a été 
soumise à la Cour. 

A l'unanimité, la Cour a décidé d'accueillir les 
appels. Dans les motifs, on dit que le par. (2) de 
l'art. 275, que les intimés invoquaient comme con-
férant l'autorité pour rendre l'ordonnance, ne pou-
vait pas être interprété «comme conférant à la 
Commission le pouvoir de rendre une ordonnance 
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of a tariff which has been regularly filed and 
published or to set a new date for the coming into 
effect of the whole or part of such a tariff'. It was 
held that the order should be set aside. From this 
judgment the respondents have cross-appealed to 
this Court. 

Three of the judges of the Court, constituting 
the majority of the Court, went on to hold that the 
Commission had power, under s. 275(2), to 
enlarge the minimum thirty-day period mentioned 
therein, and stated that, upon the order of the 
Commission being set aside, the Commission could 
and should consider whether, on the application 
before it, an order of the kind contemplated by s. 
275(2) ought to be made. 

Two of the judges of the Court dissented on this 
issue. 

The judgment of the Court was made on Janu-
ary 25, 1975. On February 5, 1975, the Committee 
made an order setting aside its order of December 
31, 1974. The order then went on to provide as 
follows: 

2. The period of notice of filing and publication of 
Tariff CFA 1005, and all other relevant tariffs, shall be 
and the same is hereby enlarged from November 22, 
1974, being the date of filing, to February 28, 1975, a 
total of 98 days in all. 

It is from the latter part of the judgment of the 
Court that the railway companies, with leave, have 
appealed to this Court. 

I will deal first with the respondents' cross-
appeal. On this issue I am in agreement with the 
unanimous decision of the Court. The respondents 
contended that the order of the Committee, post-
poning until March 1, 1975, the coming into effect 
of the tariff increases as to 50 per cent thereof, 
was made in the exercise of the powers given to it 
by s. 275(2) of the Railway Act. Dealing with this 
submission Thurlow J.A. said, for the Court: 

I do not think it can be read as empowering the Com-
mission to make an order postponing the effective date 
of the whole or part of a tariff which has been regularly  

retardant la date d'entrée en vigueur d'une partie 
ou de l'ensemble d'un tarif dûment déposé et 
publié et de fixer une nouvelle date pour l'entrée 
en vigueur de l'ensemble ou d'une partie de ce 
tarif». L'arrêt ayant conclu à l'annulation de l'or-
donnance, les intimés interjettent devant cette 
Cour un appel incident. 

Trois des juges de la Cour, qui constituaient la 
majorité, ont conclu que la Commission avait le 
pouvoir, en vertu du par. (2) de l'art. 275, de 
proroger la période minimale de trente jours y 
mentionnée et statué qu'à la suite de l'annulation 
de l'ordonnance de la Commission, il incombait à 
celle-ci d'examiner si, sur présentation d'une 
demande à cet effet, une ordonnance de la catégo-
rie prévue au par. (2) de l'art. 275 devait être 
rendue. 

Deux des juges de la Cour ont été dissidents sur 
ce dernier point. 

Le jugement a été rendu le 25 janvier 1975. Le 5 
février 1975, le Comité a rendu une ordonnance 
infirmant son ordonnance du 31 décembre 1974. 
L'ordonnance décrète ensuite ce qui suit: 

2. Le délai de pré-avis de dépôt et de publication du 
tarif CFA 1005, et de tous les autres tarifs pertinents, 
est reporté du 22 novembre 1974, soit la date du dépôt, 
au 28 février 1975, ce qui représente en tout 98 jours. 

C'est contre la dernière partie du jugement de la 
Cour que les companies de chemin de fer se pour-
voient avec autorisation. 

Je traiterai d'abord de l'appel incident des inti-
més. Sur ce point, je suis d'accord avec la décision 
unanime de la Cour. Les intimés prétendent que 
l'ordonnance du Comité, retardant au lei  mars 
1975 la mise en vigueur de 50 pour cent de l'aug-
mentation prévue au tarif, a été faite conformé-
ment au pouvoir conféré à la Commission par le 
par. (2) de l'art. 275 de la Loi sur les chemins de 
fer. A ce sujet, le juge d'appel Thurlow dit, au nom 
de la Cour: 

Je ne pense pas possible de l'interpréter comme confé-
rant à la Commission le pouvoir de rendre une ordon-
nance retardant la date d'entrée en vigueur d'une partie 
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filed and published or to set a new date for the coming 
into effect of the whole or part of such a tariff. 

The Court also said, after considering the rele-
vant provisions of the Railway Act, that the Com-
mission did not have any general power to suspend 
or postpone the coming into effect of tariffs. 

Prior to the enactment of the National Trans-
portation Act, Statutes of Canada 1966-7, c. 69, 
the Railway Act, R.S.C. 1952, c. 234, did give 
such powers to the Commission's predecessor, the 
Board of Transport Commissioners. Section 328 of 
that Act provided that: 

328. (1) The Board may disallow any tariff or any 
portion thereof that it considers to be unjust or unrea-
sonable, or contrary to any of the provisions of this Act, 
and may require the company, within a prescribed time, 
to substitute a tariff satisfactory to the Board in lieu 
thereof, or may prescribe other tolls in lieu of the tolls so 
disallowed. 

(2) The Board may designate the date at which any 
tariff shall come into force, and either on application or 
of its own motion may, pending investigation or for any 
reason, postpone the effective date of, or either before or 
after it comes into effect, suspend any tariff or any 
portion thereof. 

These provisions were repealed by the National 
Transportation Act and were not re-enacted. 

Subsection (4) of s. 275 of the present Railway 
Act provides that, where a freight tariff is filed 
and notice of issue is given in accordance with the 
Act and the regulations, orders and directions of 
the Commission, the tolls therein shall take effect 
on the date stated in the tariff as the date on which 
it is to take effect, and that the tolls shall be 
conclusively deemed to be the lawful tolls unless 
and until they are disallowed by the Commission. 

Section 333 of the earlier Act, in subs. (3), 
contained provisions practically identical with s. 
275(2) of the present Act, but subs. (5), which is 
the predecessor of s. 275(4), stated: 

ou de l'ensemble d'un tarif dûment déposé et publié ou 
de fixer une nouvelle date pour l'entrée en vigueur de 
l'ensemble ou d'une partie de ce tarif. 

La Cour mentionne aussi, après l'étude des dis-
positions pertinentes de la Loi sur les chemins de 
fer, que la Commission ne dispose d'aucun pouvoir 
général de suspendre ou retarder l'entrée en 
vigueur de tarifs. 

Avant l'adoption de la Loi nationale sur les 
transports, Statuts du Canada 1966-7, c. 69, la 
Loi sur les chemins de fer, S.R.C. 1952, c. 234, 
conférait de tels pouvoirs au prédécesseur de la 
Commission, la Commission des transports du 
Canada. L'article 328 de cette dernière loi 
prévoyait: 

328. (1) La Commission peut rejeter un tarif ou une 
partie de tarif qu'elle considère injuste ou déraisonnable, 
ou contraire à quelqu'une des dispositions de la présente 
loi, et exiger de la compagnie qu'elle y substitue, dans 
un délai prescrit, un tarif jugé satisfaisant par la Com-
mission, ou elle peut prescrire d'autres taxes pour rem-
placer celles qui ont été ainsi rejetées. 

(2) La Commission peut fixer la date à laquelle un 
tarif doit entrer en vigueur et, soit sur demande, soit de 
son propre chef, elle peut, en attendant une enquête ou 
pour une raison quelconque, retarder la date de son 
application effective, ou, soit avant, soit après son entrée 
en vigueur, suspendre un tarif ou une partie de tarif. 

Ces dispositions ont été abrogées par la Loi 
nationale sur les transports et n'ont pas été édic-
tées de nouveau. 

Le paragraphe (4) de l'art. 275 de l'actuelle Loi 
sur les chemins de fer prévoit que, lorsqu'un tarif 
de marchandises est déposé et qu'un avis de son 
émission est donné conformément à la loi et aux 
règlements, ordres et instructions de la Commis-
sion, les taxes y prévues doivent prendre effet à la 
date mentionnée dans le tarif comme étant la date 
où elles doivent prendre effet et que les taxes sont 
péremptoirement censées être les taxes licites, à 
moins que la Commission ne les rejette, et tant 
qu'elle ne l'aura pas fait. 

Le paragraphe (3) de l'art. 333 de la Loi de 
1952 renfermait des dispositions pratiquement 
identiques au par. (2) de l'art. 275 de la Loi 
actuelle, mais le par. (5), qui est le prédécesseur 
du par. (4) de l'art. 275, prévoyait: 
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(5) Where a freight tariff is filed and notice of issue 
is given in accordance with this Act and regulations, 
orders and directions of the Board, the tolls therein 
shall, unless and until they are disallowed, suspended, or 
postponed by the Board, be conclusively deemed to be 
the lawful tolls and shall take effect on the date stated in 
the tariff on which it is intended to take effect, and it 
shall supersede any preceding tariff, or any portion 
thereof, insofar as it reduces or advances the tolls there-
in, and the company shall thereafter, until such tariff 
expires or is disallowed or suspended by the Board or is 
superseded by a new tariff, charge the tolls as specified 
therein. 

When the present Act was passed, the refer-
ences to suspension or postponement were omitted 
from s. 275(4). 

In my opinion, the repeal of s. 328 of the old Act 
and the adoption of the wording of s. 275(4) of the 
present Act were effected with a view to achieving 
the purpose stated in s. 3(a) of the National 
Transportation Act, i.e.: 

(a) regulation of all modes of transport will not be of 
such a nature as to restrict the ability of any mode of 
transport to compete freely with any other modes of 
transport; 

My conclusion is that the Commission had no 
power to do what it purported to do by its order of 
December 31, 1974, namely, to postpone, as to 50 
per cent of the increase in tolls, the effective date 
of the tariff. I would dismiss the cross-appeal. 

The appeal, like the cross-appeal, is concerned 
with the meaning and effect of s. 275(2) and (4). • 
The first submission of the railway companies is 
that s. 275(2) means that the railway companies 
have to give at least thirty days' notice of any 
advance in tolls unless the Commission exempts 
them from that requirement. The respondents and 
the intervenants contend that the words "unless 
otherwise ordered by the Commission" enable the 
Commission to increase as well as to decrease the 
required period of notice. In the view which I take 
of the facts of this case it is not necessary to 
determine this issue. 

(5) Lorsqu'un tarif de marchandises est déposé et 
qu'un avis de son émission est donné conformément à la 
présente loi et aux règlements, ordres et instructions de 
la Commission, les taxes y prévues, à moins que la 
Commission ne les rejette, ou n'en suspende ou remette 
à plus tard l'application, et tant qu'elle ne l'aura pas 
fait, sont péremptoirement censées être les taxes licites 
et doivent prendre effet à la date mentionnée dans le 
tarif comme étant celle où on a l'intention de le mettre 
en vigueur, et un tel tarif doit remplacer tout tarif 
antérieur, ou une partie quelconque de ce dernier, dans 
la mesure où il réduit ou majore les taxes y prévues; et la 
compagnie doit, par la suite, imposer les taxes qui y sont 
spécifiées, jusqu'à ce que ledit tarif expire, ou que -la--
Commission le rejette ou en suspende l'application ou 
qu'un autre tarif le remplace. 

Lorsque la Loi actuelle a été adoptée, on a omis 
au par. (4) de l'art. 275, les mentions relatives à la 
suspension et à la remise à plus tard. 

A mon avis, l'abrogation de l'art. 328 de l'an-
cienne loi et l'adoption du par. (4) de l'art. 275 
visent à réaliser l'objectif énoncé à l'al. a) du par. 
(3) de la Loi nationale sur les transports; c.-à-d.: 

a) que la réglementation de tous les moyens de trans-
port ne sera pas de nature à restreindre la capacité de 
l'un d'eux de faire librement concurrence à tous les 
autres moyens de transport; 

Je conclus que la Commission n'avait pas le 
pouvoir de faire ce qu'elle visait par son ordon-
nance du 31 décembre 1974, à savoir, retarder la 
mise en vigueur de 50 pour cent de l'augmentation 
des taxes. Je suis d'avis de rejeter l'appel incident. 

L'appel, comme l'appel incident, a trait au sens 
et à l'effet des par. (2) et (4) de l'art. 275. Les 
compagnies de chemin de fer prétendent d'abord 
que le par. (2) de l'art. 275 signifie qu'elles doivent 
donner un pré-avis d'au moins trente jours de toute 
majoration de taxes, à moins que la Commission 
ne les en exempte. Les intimés et les intervenants 
prétendent que les mots «sauf ordre contraire de la 
Commission» autorisent la Commission à proroger 
ou à raccourcir la période prescrite pour l'avis. En 
raison de la façon dont j'envisage les faits en 
l'espèce, il ne m'est pas nécessaire de trancher 
cette question. 
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The railway companies, on November 22, 1974, 
duly filed and published C.F.A. Tariff No. 1005, 
effective on January 1, 1975, a date more than 
thirty days after the filing. Section 275(4) then 
became operative and provides that the tolls 
should take effect on the date stated in the tariff. 
Even assuming that the Commission had power to 
extend the thirty-day period required by s. 275(2), 
and even assuming that such extension of time 
could be required after the tariff had been filed (a 
point on which I do not need to express an opin-
ion), the extension of the period of notice would 
have to be made before the effective date, because, 
otherwise, the tariff would have come into effect 
upon that date by virtue of s. 275(4). 

The Commission did not purport to extend the 
period of notice prior to January 1, 1975. What it 
attempted to do was to postpone the effective date, 
which it had no power to do. An order of the 
Commission, made after the effective date of the 
tariff, to extend the notice required to be given by 
the railway companies when fixing the effective 
date, cannot be a genuine extension of the period 
of notice, but would be an attempt by the Commis-
sion to do indirectly what it had no power to do 
directly: i.e., to postpone the effective date of the 
tariff. 

It was submitted by the respondents that the 
Commission's order of December 31, 1974, con-
tinued to have effect until the Commission itself 
set aside the order on February 5, 1975, at which 
same time it made the order which the majority of 
the Court held that it had power to make. It was 
contended that, on February 5, the one order was 
replaced by the other, that there was no hiatus, 
and, consequently, C.F.A. Tariff No. 1005 never 
took effect. 

This proposition is based upon the provisions of 
s. 64(5) of the National Transportation Act. Sub-
section (2) of that section provides for an appeal 
from the Commission to the Federal Court of 
Appeal, with leave of that Court, on a question of 
law or of jurisdiction. Subsection (5) provides: 

Le 22 novembre 1974, les compagnies de chemin 
de fer ont dûment déposé et publié le Tarif C.F.A. 
n° 1005. Celui-ci devait entrer en vigueur le ler 
janvier 1975, soit plus d'un mois après la date du 
dépôt. Le paragraphe (4) de l'art. 275 s'applique 
alors: il prévoit que les taxes doivent prendre effet 
à la date mentionnée dans le tarif. Même dans 
l'hypothèse que la Commission avait le pouvoir de 
proroger la période de trente jours prescrite par le 
par. (2) de l'art. 275, et même dans l'hypothèse 
qu'une telle prorogation pourrait être prescrite 
après le dépôt du tarif (une question sur laquelle je 
n'ai pas à exprimer d'opinion), la prorogation de la 
période de pré-avis devrait être décrétée avant la 
date d'entrée en vigueur puisque autrement, le 
tarif deviendrait en vigueur à cette date conformé-
ment au par. (4) de l'art. 275. 

La Commission n'a pas voulu proroger la 
période de pré-avis avant le 1 e  janvier 1975. Elle a 
tenté de retarder la date de la mise en vigueur, ce 
qu'elle n'avait pas le pouvoir de faire. Une ordon-
nance de la Commission, rendue après la date de la 
mise en vigueur du tarif, visant à proroger la 
période de pré-avis que doivent donner les compa-
gnies de chemin de fer lorsqu'elles fixent la date 
d'entrée en vigueur du tarif, ne peut pas constituer 
véritablement une prorogation de cette période; ce 
serait une tentative de la Commission de faire 
indirectement ce qu'elle ne peut faire directement, 
c'est-à-dire remettre à plus tard l'application du 
tarif. 

Les intimés prétendent que l'ordonnance de la 
Commission, en date du 31 décembre 1974, est 
demeurée en vigueur jusqu'à ce que la Commission 
elle-même infirme son ordonnance, soit le 5 février 
1975, alors qu'elle a rendu l'ordonnance qu'elle 
était, selon la majorité de la Cour, habilitée à 
rendre. On prétend que, le 5 février, la nouvelle 
ordonnance remplaçant la première, il n'y a pas eu 
d'interprétation et que _.par conséquent le Tarif 
C.F.A. n° 1005 n'a jamais été en vigueur. 

Cette proposition s'appuie sur les dispositions du 
par. (5) de l'art. 64 de la Loi nationale sur les 
transports. Le paragraphe (2) de cet article pré-
voit qu'il y a appel d'une décision à la Cour 
d'appel fédérale sur une question de droit ou de 
compétence, avec l'autorisation de ladite Cour. Le 
paragraphe (5) prévoit: 
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(5) On the hearing of any appeal, the Court may 
draw all such inferences as are not inconsistent with the 
facts expressly found by the Commission, and are neces-
sary for determining the question of jurisdiction, or law, 
as the case may be, and shall certify its opinion to the 
Commission, and the Commission shall make an order 
in accordance with such opinion. 

Because this subsection provides for the certify-
ing of its opinion by the Court to the Commission, 
and the making of an order by the Commission in 
accordance with the opinion, it is argued that, in 
the present case, the order of December 31, 1974, 
remained in full force and effect until it was set 
aside by the later order of the Commission. I do 
not agree with this contention. The portion of the 
subsection with which we are here concerned does 
nothing more than to provide a procedure for the 
implementation of the opinion rendered by the 
Court in respect of an appeal. In the present case 
that opinion was that the order of the Commission 
under appeal was invalid and, for that reason, 
ought to be set aside. The Commission set it aside. 
In so doing it set aside an order which the Court 
had declared to be invalid. There is nothing in the 
subsection to support the proposition that the 
invalid order had the same effect as a valid order 
in the interval of time between its being made and 
its being set aside. To construe this provision in 
that way would run counter to the legal doctrine of 
ultra vires. 

Counsel for the Attorney General of Canada, in 
response to the submission of the railway compa-
nies that the order of December 31, 1974, was 
invalid, and could have no legal effect whatever, 
relied upon a statement by Lord Diplock in Hoff-
mann-La Roche v. Secretary of State for Trade 
and Industry2, at p. 1153: 

Under our legal system, however, the courts as the 
judicial arm of government do not act on their own 
initiative. Their jurisdiction to determine that a statu-
tory instrument is ultra vires does not arise until its 
validity is challenged in proceedings inter partes, either 
brought by one party to enforce the law declared by the 
instrument against another party, or brought by a party 
whose interests are affected by the law so declared 
sufficiently directly to give him locus standi to initiate 
proceedings to challenge the validity of the instrument. 

2 [1974] 2 All E.R. 1128. 

(5) Lors de l'audition d'un appel, la cour peut déduire 
toutes les conclusions qui ne sont pas incompatibles avec 
les faits formellement établis devant la Commission, et 
qui sont nécessaires pour déterminer la question de 
compétence ou de droit, suivant le cas; puis, elle trans-
met son opinion certifiée à la Commission, qui doit alors 
rendre une ordonnance conforme à cette opinion. 

Parce que ce dernier paragraphe prescrit que la 
Cour doit transmettre son opinion certifiée à la 
Commission et que celle-ci doit rendre une ordon-
nance conformément à cette opinion, on prétend, 
en l'espèce, que l'ordonnance du 31 décembre 1974 
demeurait en vigueur et s'appliquait tant qu'elle 
n'avait pas été infirmée par la dernière ordonnance 
de la Commission. Je ne suis pas d'accord avec 
cette prétention. Cette partie du paragraphe qui 
est ici en cause ne fait rien d'autre que prescrire 
une procédure d'exécution de l'opinion rendue par 
la Cour saisie de l'appel. En l'espèce, cette opinion 
était que l'ordonnance de la Commission dont il y 
avait eu appel était invalide et que, pour cette 
raison, elle devait être infirmée. La Commission l'a 
infirmée et, ce faisant, elle infirmait une ordon-
nance que la Cour avait déclarée invalide. Il n'y a 
rien dans le paragraphe pour appuyer la proposi-
tion que l'ordonnance invalide avait le même effet 
qu'une ordonnance valide entre le moment où elle 
a été rendue et celui où elle a été infirmée. Inter-
préter ainsi cette disposition irait à l'encontre de la 
doctrine juridique de l'ultra vires. 

En réponse à la prétention des compagnies de 
chemin de fer que l'ordonnance du 31 décembre 
1974 était invalide et ne pouvait avoir aucun effet 
légal, l'avocat du Procureur général du Canada 
s'est appuyé sur un énoncé de lord Diplock dans 
l'arrêt Hoffmann-La Roche v. Secretary of State 
for Trade and Industry 2, à la p. 1153: 

[TRADUCTION] Toutefois dans notre système juridi-
que, les tribunaux à titre de branche judiciaire du 
gouvernement n'agissent pas de leur propre initiative. Ils 
n'ont pas juridiction pour décider qu'un décret est ultra 
vires à moins que sa validité soit contestée dans des 
procédures inter partes intentées par une partie pour 
appliquer à l'autre la disposition décrétée ou par une 
partie dont les intérêts sont suffisamment touchés par le 
décret pour lui fournir directement le locus standi lui 
permettant d'en contester la validité. En l'absence d'une 

2 [1974] 2 All E.R. 1128. 
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Unless there is such challenge and, if there is, until it 
has been upheld by a judgment of the court, the validity 
of the statutory instrument and the legality of acts done 
pursuant to the law declared by it, are presumed. 

It should be noted, however, that this passage is, 
in the same paragraph, immediately followed by 
the following statement: 
It would, however, be inconsistent with the doctrine of 
ultra vires as it has been developed in English law as a 
means of controlling abuse of power by the executive 
arm of government if the judgment of a court in pro-
ceedings properly constituted that a statutory instru-
ment was ultra vires were to have any lesser conse-
quence in law than to render the instrument incapable of 
ever having had any legal effect on the rights or duties 
of the parties to the proceedings (cf Ridge v. Baldwin, 
[1963] 2 All E.R. 66). 

In the present case the Court, in proceedings 
properly constituted, gave its opinion that the 
Commission order of December 31, 1974, was 
invalid. 

I would allow the appeals. The judgments of the 
Federal Court of Appeal should be varied by 
deleting therefrom all that portion thereof subse-
quent to the words "is invalid and ought to be set 
aside". The railway companies, as against the 
Governments of the Provinces of Alberta, Sas-
katchewan and Manitoba, should have the costs of 
the appeals and of the cross-appeals and should 
have the costs of their appeals to the Federal 
Court of Appeal. There should be no costs payable 
by or to the intervenants. 

Appeals allowed, cross-appeals dismissed, with 
costs. 
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telle contestation et, s'il y en a une, tant qu'un tribunal 
n'en a pas reconnu le bien-fondé, il y a présomption de 
validité du décret et de légalité des actes faits conformé-
ment à ses dispositions. 

Cependant, il faut observer que ce passage est, 
dans le même alinéa, suivi immédiatement de 
l'énoncé suivant: 
[TRADUCTION] Il serait, toutefois, contraire à la doc-
trine de l'ultra vires, selon son évolution dans le droit 
anglais comme moyen de contrôle des abus du pouvoir 
exécutif, si la décision d'un tribunal dans des procédures 
régulièrement intentées et statuant qu'un décret est 
ultra vires, ne devait pas au moins, en nullifier tout effet 
juridique sur les droits et obligations des parties aux 
procédures (cf Ridge v. Baldwin, [1963] 2 All E.R. 66). 

En l'espèce, dans des procédures régulièrement 
intentées, la Cour a exprimé l'opinion que l'ordon-
nance de la Commission, en date du 31 décembre 
1974, était invalide. 

Je suis d'avis d'accueillir les appels. Les juge-
ments de la Cour d'appel fédérale doivent être 
modifiés en retranchant tout ce qui suit les mots 
«est invalide et doit être annulé». Les compagnies 
de chemin de fer ont droit aux dépens des appels et 
des appels incidents ainsi que de leurs appels à la 
Cour d'appel fédérale, à l'encontre des gouverne-
ments des provinces de l'Alberta, de la Saskatche-
wan et du Manitoba. Il n'y a pas d'adjudication de 
dépens en faveur des intervenants ni contre eux. 

Appels accueillis, appels incidents rejetés, avec 
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Kay, Calgary. 
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Burtnick, Downsview. 
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than the number of employees — Definition of "lay-off". 

AIR-CARE LTD. V. UNITED STEEL WORKERS OF AMERICA 
et al., 2. 

2. Collective agreement — Illegal strike — Plant closed by 
management — Whether employer-employee relationship ter-
minated — Whether employer bound by severance pay provi-
sions of collective agreement. 

MCGAVIN TOASTMASTER LIMITED V. AINSCOUGH et al., 
718. 

MECHANICS' LIENS 

Contracts abandoned by bankrupt contractor — Cost to 
complete exceeding contract prices less amounts paid on 
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MECHANICS' LIENS —Concluded 
account — Owner holding back more than required statutory 
holdback — Responsibility of owner to lien claimants — Mechan-
ics' Lien Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 238, ss. 6, 19(2), 21(1) and (6). 

NORANDA EXPLORATION CO. LTD. et al. V. SIGURDSON, 
296. 

MOTOR VEHICLES 
1. Gross negligence — Driver unduly fatigued — Res ipsa 

loquitur — The Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 202, s. 
132(3). 

JACKSON V. MILLAR, 225. 

2. Highway accident — Statutory duty of police to ensure 
safety of public after a previous accident — Liability of police 
officer in damages — Vicarious liability of Commissioner — The 
Police Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 351, ss. 3(3)(a), 46, 47. 

O'ROURKE et al. V. SCHACHT, 53. 

3. Negligence — Trucker driving in middle of highway to 
avoid freshly oiled strip — Failing to pull over for approaching 
vehicle because of probability truck would be splattered with oil 
— Driver of oncoming car veering to right and driving into ditch 
— Trucker solely at fault — The Vehicles Act, R.S.S. 1965, c. 
377, s. 137(1)(a) 

JORDAN V. COLEMAN et al., 126. 

4. Accident — Negligence — Vehicles not in contact — Motor-
ist stopping at intersection rather than stop sign — Negligence 
not established — Highway Victims Indemnity Act, R.S.Q. 
1964, c. 232, s. 3 — Highway Code, R.S.Q. 1964, c. 231, ss. 40, 
45. 

DUMESNIL V. SHEEHY, 152. 

MUNICIPAL LAW 

Mayor of city a major shareholder in building company — 
Shares sold at enhanced value after adoption by city of replot-
ting programme — Mayor involved in certain land transactions 
— City's claim to recover gain made upon sale of shares 
dismissed. 

HAWRELAK V. CITY OF EDMONTON, 387. 

NEGLIGENCE 
1. Householder's liability — Outer stairway in good condition 

— Guest on crutches fell on a patch of winter ice — Adequate 
clearing — Assistance refused by guest — Householder not 
bound to act so as to rule out any possibility of an accident — 
Civil Code, art. 1053. 

SWIFT V. MACDOUGALL, 240. 
2. Police — Department of Highways — Causation — Con- 

tributory negligence — Apportionment of liability. 
R. v. COTE, 595. 

3. Level crossing accident — Child waiting at crossing while 
slowly moving freight train engaged in switching operations — 

NEGLIGENCE—Concluded 

Whether special circumstances requiring railway company to 
take additional precautions commensurate with foreseable risk 
of harm. 

PASKIVSKI V. CANADIAN PACIFIC LTD., 687. 

PATENTS 

Validity — Reissue — Conductive cream for skin contact 
electrodes not a medicine — Interpretation of specification and 
claims in light of knowledge of man skilled in the art — Patent 
Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. P-4, s. 36(1) and 41(1). 

BURTON PARSONS CHEMICALS, INC. V. HEWLETT-PAC-
KARD (CANADA) LTD., 555. 

PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS 

Sale of medication to patient for duration of treatment — 
Whether a legal act — Medical Act, R.S.Q. 1964, c. 249, s. 59 — 
Pharmacy Act, R.S.Q. 1964, c. 255, ss. 21, 59. 

LAPORTE V. COLLEGE OF PHARMACISTS, (QUEBEC) 101. 

POLICE 

1. Duty of care after highway accident — Statutory duty — 
Failure to take adequate precautions to warn traffic of hazard — 
Failure to notify Highway Department timeously — The Police 
Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 351, ss. 3(3)(a), 46, 47. 

O'ROURKE et al. V. SCHACHT, 53. 

2. Report to degrade the Director of the Police Department 
— Standardization of rank asked for by Attorney General — 
Writ of evocation Commission is a quasi-judicial tribunal — 
Natural justice rules apply — Police Act, 1968 (Que.), c. 17, s. 
20 — Act to constitute the Montreal Urban Community Police 
Department, 1971 (Que.), c. 93, s. 31. 

SAULNIER V. QUEBEC POLICE COMMISSION, 572. 

PRACTICE 

Judgment obtained in mechanics' lien action — Execution 
stayed by trial judge pending appeal to Court of Appeal — 
Appeal dismissed — Stay of execution continues pending further 
appeal to Supreme Court of Canada — New fiat by Court of 
Appeal not required — Supreme Court Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. 
S-19, s. 71(2). 

FOUNDATION CO. OF CANADA LTD. V. PRINCE ALBERT 
PULP Co. LTD., 33. 
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RAILWAYS 

Canadian Transport Commission — Proposed toll increases 
— Power of Commission to extend period of notice after effec-
tive date — Railway Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. R-2, s. 275(2)(4). 

C.P. LTD. V. GOVERNMENT OF ALBERTA et al., 815. 

REAL PROPERTY 

Whether document an option or an agreement of purchase 
and sale — No mutuality of obligation — Application of rule 
against perpetuities — Whether purchaser entitled to specific 
performance of vendor's covenant notwithstanding interest in 
land created by agreement may vest beyond perpetuity period. 

POLITZER V. METROPOLITAN HOMES LTD., 363. 

STATUTES 

1. Interpretation — Ambiguity — Legislative history — For-
feiture of remission on revocation of parole — Penitentiary Act, 
1960-61 (Can.), ss. 22, 25 — Parole Act, 1958 (Can.), ss. 2, 16, 
18. 

MARCOTTE V. DEPUTY A.G. CANADA et al., 108. 

2. Interpretation — Requirement of filing and publication of 
proposed toll increase for 30 days before becoming effective — 
Power of Canadian Transport Commission to reduce proposed 
toll increases and postpone effective date — Power of Canadian 
Transport Commission to extend period of notice after effective 
date — Order declared invalid by Court, ultra vires ab initio — 
Railway Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. R-2, s. 275(2)(4) — National 
Transportation Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. 10 (2nd Supp.) s. 64(5). 

C.P. LTD. V. GOVERNMENT OF ALBERTA et al., 815. 

STATUTES 

1.—Act to constitute the Montreal Urban Community 
Police Department, f971 (Qué.), c. 93, s. 31 	 572 

See: POLICE 

2.—Aeronautics Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. A-3, s. 16, para. 8 751 
See: ADMINISTRATIVE LAW 

3.—Bankruptcy Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. B-3, s. 50(5) 	 341 
See: CREDITOR AND DEBTOR 

4.—Bankruptcy Act, R.S.C. 1952, c. 14, s. 64 	 426 
See: BANKRUPTCY 

5.—British North America Act, 1867, s. 91(24) 	 170 
See: CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 

6.—Canadian Bill of Rights, R.S.C. 1970 App. III, s 	 
1(b) 

	

	  170 
See: CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 

7.—Canadian Bill of Rights, ss. 1(b), 2(a), 2(e) 	 376 
See: IMMIGRATION 

8.—Carriage by Air Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-14 	 144 
See: DAMAGES 

9.—Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-34, ss. 465(c), 
543, 608.2 

	

	13 
See: CRIMINAL LAW 

STATUTES —Continued 
10.—Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-34, s. 688 	 39 

See: CRIMINAL LAW 

11.—Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-34, ss. 159(8), 
160 	  89 

See: CRIMINAL LAW 

12.—Criminal Code, ss. 234, 662.1 	  162 
See: CRIMINAL LAW 

13.—Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-34, s 	 
423(1)(d) 	  219 

See' EXTRADITION 

14.—Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-34, ss. 251(1), 
(4), 45, 613(4)(b), 603, 605 	  616 

See: CRIMINAL LAW 

15.—Criminal Code, s. 3(4) 	  786 
See: CRIMINAL LAW 

16.—Dependants' Relief Act, R.S.S. 1965, c. 128, ss 	 
14, 15, 16 	  353 

See: EXECUTORS AND ADMINISTRATORS 

17.—Education Act, R.S.Q. 1964, c. 235, s. 373 	 117 
See: TAXATION 

18.—Extradition Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. E-21 	 219 
See: EXTRADITION 

19.—Federal Court Act, R.S.C. 1970 (2nd Supp.), c 	 
10 	  170 

See: COURTS 

20.—Federal Court Act, R.S.C. 1970 (2nd Supp.), c. 
10, s. 28 	  453 

See: COURTS 

21.—Federal Court Act, s. 28 	  751 
See: ADMINISTRATIVE LAW 

22.—Fishermen's Assistance and Polluters' Liability 
Act, 1970 (Man.), c. 32 (Continuing Consolidation 
F100) 	  477 

See: CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 

23.—Highway Code, R.S.Q. 1964, c. 231, ss. 40, 45 	 152 
See: MOTOR VEHICLES 

24.—Highway Improvement Act, R.S.O. 1960, s 	 
33(1) 	  595 

See: HIGHWAYS 

25.—Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 202, s 	 
146(1) 

	
9 

See: HIGHWAYS 

26.—Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 202, s 	 
132(3) 	  225 

See: MOTOR VEHICLES 

27.—Highway Victims Indemnity Act, R.S.Q. 1964, c. 
232, s. 3 	  152 

See: MOTOR VEHICLES 

28.—Immigration Appeal Board Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. 
I-2, ss. 15, 21 	  376 

See: IMMIGRATION 

29.—Income Tax Act, R.S.C. 1952, c. 148, s. 11(1)(a). 245 
See: TAXATION 
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STATUTES—Concluded 

30.—Indian Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. I-6, ss. 4(3), 42, 43 	 
See: CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 

31.—Insurance Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 197, s. 100 	 
See: INSURANCE 

32.—Insurance Act, 1968 (N.B.), c. 6, s. 2 	 
See: INSURANCE 

33.—Interpretation Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. I-23, s. 37.4 	 
See: BANKRUPTCY 

34.—Logging Tax Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 225, s. 2(b) 	 
See: TAXATION 

	

35.—Mechanics' Lien Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 238, ss 	 
6, 19(2), 21(1)(6) 	  

See: MECHANICS' LIENS 

36.—Medical Act, R.S.Q. 1964, c. 249, s. 59 	 
See: PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS 

37.—National Transportation Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. 
N-17 	  

TAXATION 

170 	1. Valuation for school tax — Machinery declared non-tax- 
able by one municipality in the school territory — Basis of 

309 	valuation for entire school territory — Education Act, R.S.Q. 
1964, c. 235, s. 373. 

735 	COLD INDUSTRIES (CANADA) LTD. et al. V. SCHOOL COM- 
MISSIONERS, 117. 

426 	2. Income tax — Capital cost allowance — Mines — Passage- 
ways created by the mining of ore — Future re-use intended — 
Construction and extension expenditures not capital expenses — 
Income Tax Act, R.S.C. 1952, c. 148, s. 11(1)(a) — Income Tax 
Regulations, 1100(1)(a)(xii), Class 12, para. (f), Schedule B. 

DENISON MINES LTD. V. MINISTER OF NATIONAL REVE- 
296 	NUE, 245. 

3. Logging tax — Agreement fixing compensation for surren- 
101 	der of rights to cut timber — Agreement executed under threat 

of expropriation — Tax assessed on difference between amount 
of compensation received and price paid for acquisition of 

751 	cutting rights — Whether liability to pay tax — Logging Tax 
Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 225, s. 2(b), as re-enacted by 1969, c. 
35, s. 16(1)(b). 

THE MINISTER OF FINANCE V. KICKING HORSE FOREST 
PRODUCTS LTD., 711. 

711 

See: ADMINISTRATIVE LAW 

38.—National Transportation Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. 
N-17, s. 64(5) 

	

	  815 
See: STATUTES 

39.—Parole Act, 1958 (Can.), c. 38, ss. 2, 16, 18 	 108 
See: STATUTES 

TRADE MARKS 

Registration — Validity — Distinctiveness — Assignments of 

	

108 	manufacturer's trade mark to assignor, and from assignor to 
registered owner — Trade mark affixed by manufacturer to 

	

101 	product assembled by owner — Agreement with manufacturer 
assigning to owner exclusive distribution rights to the product 
with certain restrictions — Assigned trade mark does not identi-
fy goods as those of the assignee owner — Trade Marks Act, 

	

53 	1952-53 (Can.), c. 49, ss. 2(f), 18 and 47. 

BRECK'S SPORTING GOODS CO. LTD. V. MAGDER et al., 

	

572 	527. 

TRUSTS AND TRUSTEES 

Will creating trust for conversion notwithstanding powers 
to postpone — Trust covering all assets of estate including 
unproductive realty — Duty of trustee to act impartially be- 

170 	tween life tenant and remaindermen — Life tenant entitled to be 
credited with notional income on value of assets. 

THE PUBLIC TRUSTEE V. LAUER, 781. 
294 

40.—Patent Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. P-4, ss. 36(1), 41(1) 	555 
See: PATENTS 

41.—Penitentiary Act, 1960-61 (Can.), c. 53, ss. 22, 25 
See: STATUTES 

42.—Pharmacy Act, R.S.Q. 1964, c. 255, ss. 21, 59 	 
See: PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS 

43.—Police Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 351, ss. 3(3)(a), 46, 
47 

See: POLICE 

44.—Police Act, 1968 (Que.), c. 17, s. 20 	 
See: POLICE 

45.—Railway Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. R-2, s. 275 (2)(4) 	 815 
See: RAILWAYS 

46.—Supreme Court Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. S-19, s 	 
71(2) 	  33 

See: PRACTICE 

47.—Supreme Court Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. S-19, s. 47 	 
See: COURTS 

	

48.—Supreme Court Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. S-19, ss 	 
2(1), 38, 41 	  

See: APPEAL 

49.—Supreme Court Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. S-19, s. 41 	783 
See: CRIMINAL LAW 

50.—Trade Marks Act, 1952-53 (Can.), c. 49, ss. 2(f), 
18, 47 	  

See: TRADE MARKS 

51.—Vehicles Act, R.S.S. 1965, c. 377, s. 137(1)(a) 	 
See: MOTOR VEHICLES 

WILLS 

Interpretation — The prohibition against alienation does 
not necessarily establish a substitution — Husband andwife 

527 	having a joint share of immovable — Difference between the 
texts of two wills appointing the same son as legatee of the 

126 	immovable — Civil Code, arts. 968 et seq. and 975. 

O'NEILL et al. V. O'NEILL et al., 588. 
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ASSURANCE 

1. Assurance maritime de voiturier — Clause de responsabi-
lité en cas de transport de cargaison en pontée au risque de 
l'expéditeur — Contrat verbal entre expéditeur et voiturier — 
Voiturier serait responsable en cas de contrat écrit mettant 
cargaison en pontée au risque de l'expéditeur — Responsabilité 
de l'assureur. 

WESTERN ASSURANCE CO. C. DESGAGNÉS, 286. 

2. Police d'assurance générale de responsabilité d'entreprise 
commerciale — Effondrement d'une grue — Accident au sens de 
la police — Sinistre ou évènement inattendu — Insurance Act, 
1960, c. 197, art. 100. 

CANADIAN INDEMNITY CO. C. WALKEM MACHINERY & 

EQUIPMENT LTD., 309. 

3. Police d'assurance responsabilité — Responsabilité décou-
lant des actes de l'assuré — Intention de causer des blessures — 
Exclusion de responsabilité pour les actes posés «intentionnelle-
ment» par l'assuré — «Intention» — «Accident» — Loi sur les 
assurances, 1968 (N.-B.), c. 6, art. 2. 

CO-OPERATIVE FIRE & CASUALTY COMPANY C. SAINDON 

et al., 735. 

BREVETS 
Validité — Redélivrance — Crème conductrice pour électro-

des sur la peau non destinée à la médication — Interprétation du 
mémoire descriptif et des revendications en fonction des con-
naissances d'un homme de l'art — Loi sur les brevets, S.R.C. 
1970, c. P-4, art. 36(1) et 41(1). 

BURTON PARSONS CHEMICALS, INC. C. HEWLETT-PAC-

KARD (CANADA) LTD., 555. 

CHEMINS DE FER 

Commission canadienne des transports — Augmentation 
proposée des taux — Pouvoir de la Commission de proroger le 
délai d'avis après la date d'entrée en vigueur — Loi sur les 
chemins de fer, S.R.C. 1970, c. R-2, art. 275(2)(4). 

C.P. LIÉE C. GOUVERNEMENT DE L'ALBERTA et al., 815. 

CODE CIVIL 

1.—Articles 968 et seq. (Substitutions) 	  588 
Voir: TESTAMENTS 

2.—Article 1040 (Obligations) 	  426 
Voir: FAILLITE 

3.—Article 1053 (Obligations) 	  240 
Voir: NÉGLIGENCE 

4.—Article 1065 (Obligations) 	  541 
Voir: FAUTE 

CODE CIVIL—Fin 

5.—Article 1425 (Communauté de biens) 	  284 
Voir: REDDITION DE COMPTE 

6.—Articles 1684, 1688 (Louage) 	  541 
Voir: FAUTE 

CONTRAT 

1. Contrats de construction — Responsabilité de l'entrepre-
neur relativement aux matériaux décrits au contrat — Maté-
riaux impropres ou défectueux — Responsabilité du fournisseur 
en l'absence de liens contractuels avec le propriétaire. 

CCH CANADIAN LTD. C. MOLLENHAUER, 49. 

2. Hampes décoratives — Bris — Non-conformité au devis — 
Enlèvement et réinstallation — Dommages-intérêts — Droit du 
fournisseur au plein montant convenu — Règle de non-
intervention. 

ARGO CONSTRUCTION LTD. C. CUSTOMOLD FIBERGLASS 

LTD., 132. 

3. Contrat de construction — Dommages-intérêts — Fonde-
ment de la réclamation — Violation du contrat par le proprié-
taire — Travaux supplémentaires rendus nécessaires. 

PENVIDIC CONTRACTING CO. LTD. C. INTERNATIONAL 

NICKEL CO. OF CANADA Lm., 267. 

4. Clause restrictive — Mesure des dommages liquidés — 
S'agit-il d'une formule raisonnable ou d'une pénalité? — Inter-
prétation de la clause restrictive de commerce — Portée de la 
clause — Limitation d'application de la clause par interprétation 
ou par rectification. 

CLARKE (H.F.) LTD. C. THERMIDAIRE CORPORATION 
LTD., 319. 

5. Bris de contrat — Clause de force majeur — Interprétation 
— Règle ejusdem generis — Absence de marchés — Condition 
d'exonération. 

ATLANTIC PAPER STOCK LTD. C. ST.ANNE-NACKAWIC, 
580. 

COURS 

Pouvoir de surveillance — Libération conditionnelle — 
Ordonnance de révocation par la Commission des libérations 
conditionnelles — Ordonnance non soumise à un processus 
judiciaire ou quasi judiciaire — Ordonnance non sujette à 
examen par Cour d'appel fédérale — Loi sur la Cour fédérale, 
S.R.C. 1970 (2° Supp.), c. 10, art. 28. 

HOWARTH C. COMMISSION NATIONALE DES LIBÉRATIONS 
CONDITIONNELLES, 453. 
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CRÉANCIER ET DÉBITEUR 	 DROIT CONSTITUTIONNEL—Fin 

Cession — Faillite — Cession générale des créances à la 
banque — Interprétation — Règle ejusdem generis — Lois sur la 
faillite, S.R.C. 1970, c. B-3, art. 50(5). 

BANQUE CANADIENNE IMPÉRIALE DE COMMERCE C. 

CAMPBELL, 341. 

DOMMAGES 

1. Décès instantané dans écrasement d'avion — Réclamations 
par exécuteurs testamentaires — Aucun recours pour perte de 
jouissance de vie et de vacance, blessures, douleurs, appréhen-
sion de la mort — Loi sur le transport aérien, S.R.C. 1970, c. 
C-14. 

MACK et a/. C. AIR CANADA, 144. 

2. Quantum — Préjudice difficile à déterminer — Évaluation 
du préjudice. 

PENVIDIC CONTRACTING CO. LTD. C. INTERNATIONAL 

NICKEL CO. OF CANADA LTD., 267. 

3. Quantum — Dommages exemplaires — Faute délictuelle — 
Compagnie entraînant sciemment une rupture de contrat — 
Conspiration pour s'emparer d'une entreprise en attirant ses 
principaux employés et en sollicitant ses principaux clients. 

WEISS FORWARDING LTD. C. OMNUS, 776. 

DROIT ADMINISTRATIF 

Appels — Examen judiciaire — Aéronautique — Justice 
naturelle — Modification de permis — «Commodité et besoins du 
public» — Loi sur l'aéronautique, S.R.C. 1970, c. A-3, art. 16, 
par. (8) — Loi sur la Cour fédérale, art. 28 — Loi nationale sur 
les transports, S.R.C. 1970, c. N-17. 

COMMISSION CANADIENNE DES TRANSPORTS C. WORLD-

WAYS AIRLINES LTD., 751. 

DROIT CONSTITUTIONNEL 

1. Indiens — Fonctionnaire nommé administrateur d'une suc-
cession par le Ministère — Lois et règlements concernant les 
successions d'Indiens décédés — Validité — Aucun conflit avec la 
Déclaration des droits de l'homme — Sens des mots «réside 
ordinairement dans une réserve» — Loi sur les Indiens, S.R.C. 
1970, c. I-6, art. 4(3), 42 et 43 — Déclaration canadienne des 
droits de l'homme, S.R.C. 1970, App. III, art. lb) — Acte de 
l'Amérique du Nord britannique, 1867, art. 91(24). 

CANADA (P.G.) et a/. V. CANARD, 170. 

2. Polluant déversé dans des rivières de la Saskatchewan et 
de l'Ontario et charrié dans les eaux manitobaines — Dommages 
aux pêcheries du Manitoba — The Fishermen's Assistance and 
Polluters Liability Act, 1970 (Man.), c. 32 (Statuts révisés mis  

à jour F100) — La loi outrepasse-t-elle les pouvoirs de la 
Législature du Manitoba? 

INTERPROVINCIAL CO-OPERATIVES LTD. et al. C. LA 

REINE, 477. 

DROIT CRIMINEL 

1. Preuve — Témoins experts — Opinion des psychiatres — 
Recevabilité — Examen de l'accusé à la demande de la Cou-
ronne sans avis ni ordonnance de la Cour — Code criminel, art. 
465 c), 543, 608.2, 13. 

VAILLANCOURT C. LA REINE, 13. 

2. Vol — Acte d'accusation — L'acte d'accusation désigne 
«Westwood Jewellers Limited" comme propriétaire — La preuve 
établit que le propriétaire est une personne qui exerce des 
affaires sous la raison sociale de "Westwood Jewellers» — Cela 
entraîne-t-il un acquittement? 

LITTLE ET WOLSKI C. LA REINE, 20. 

3. Repris de justice — Dossier chargé d'infractions contre la 
propriété — Aucun crime de violence au dossier — Est-il oppor-
tun, pour la protection du public, de condamner à la détention 
préventive? — Code criminel, S.R.C. 1970, c. C-34, art. 688. 

HATCHWELL C. LA REINE, 39. 

4. Obscénité — Ordonnance de confiscation — Normes de 
tolérance admises dans la collectivité — Preuve — Code criminel, 
S.R.C. 1970, c. C-34, art. 159(8), 160. 

PROVINCIAL NEWS CO., et a/. C. LA REINE, 89. 

5. Interprétation — Une libération inconditionnelle ou sous 
condition peut-elle être accordée? — Code criminel, art. 234 et 
662.1. 

R. C. BRADSHAW, 162. 

6. Avortement illégal — Défenses erronément soumises au 
jury — «Nécessité» non prouvée — Exclusion de responsabilité 
criminelle en cas d'opérations chirurgicales non applicable — 
Verdict d'acquittement prononcé par jury — Verdict de culpabi-
lité consigné par Cour d'appel — Pouvoirs de la Cour d'appel — 
Code criminel, S.R.C. 1970, c. 34, art. 251(1), (4), 45, 
613(4)6), 603, 605. 

MORGENTALER C. LA REINE, 616. 

7. Preuve — Recevabilité — Auto-incrimination — Identifica-
tion — Recevabilité de la preuve du refus de participer à une 
parade d'identification. 

MARCOUX ET SOLOMON C. LA REINE, 763. 

8. Pourvoi — Avis de la part du ministère public d'une 
demande d'autorisation d'appel d'une sentence — Signature du 
substitut du procureur général apposée par un étudiant en droit 
— La Cour d'appel a fait droit à une objection selon laquelle 
l'avis de la demande n'était pas conforme aux exigences de la 
loi — Juridiction de la Cour suprême du Canada pour entendre 
le pourvoi — La demande d'autorisation d'appel est renvoyée à 
la Cour d'appel — Loi sur la Cour suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. 
S-19, art. 41. 

R. C. ARMSTRONG, 783. 
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DROIT CRIMINEL—Fin 	 FIDUCIES ET FIDUCIAIRES 

9. Preuve — Preuve inattendue présentée au cours du procès 
— Recevabilité — Pertinence du document — Le document était-il 
en la possession de l'accusé? — Divulgation avant le début du 
procès — Enquête préliminaire — Requête en vue d'un nouveau 
choix quant au mode de procès — Code criminel, art. 3(4). 

CACCAMO C. LA REINE, 786. 

DROIT MUNICIPAL 

Le maire d'une ville est un actionnaire principal d'une 
compagnie de construction — Actions vendues après que leur 
valeur eut augmentée suite au programme de relotissement 
adopté par la ville — Maire impliqué dans certaines transactions 
foncières — Rejet de la réclamation de la ville visant à recouvrer 
le profit sur la vente des actions. 

HAWRELAK C. VILLE D'EDMONTON, 387. 

EXÉCUTEURS ET ADMINISTRATEURS 

Partage des biens de la succession — Demande subsé-
quente de pension déposée par la veuve dans les délais prévus — 
Le tribunal peut rendre une ordonnance d'entretien — The 
Dependants' Relief Act, R.S.S. 1965, c. 128, art. 14, 15 et 16. 

GILLES C. ALTHOUSE et al., 353. 

EXTRADITION 

Crimes entraînant extradition — Complot visant importa-
tion de cocaïne aux États-Unis — Crime contre les lois relatives 
à la suppression du trafic des narcotiques — Loi sur l'extradi-
tion, S.R.C. 1970, c. 34, art. 423(1)d). 

COTRONI C. PROCUREUR GENERAL DU CANADA, 219. 

FAILLITE 

Paiements préférentiels — Requête du syndic en annula-
tion — Prescription de l'action paulienne inapplicable — Effet 
d'abrogation de la loi fédérale — Jurisprudence — Loi d'interpré-
tation, Code civil, art. 1040 — Loi sur la faillite, S.R.C. 1952, c. 
14, art. 64 — Loi d'interprétation, S.R.C. 1970, c. I-23, art. 
37.4. 

GINGRAS C. GENERAL MOTORS PRODUCTS OF CANADA 

Lm., 426. 

FAUTE 

Responsabilité d'entrepreneur — Contrat à forfait — Écrou-
lement d'édifice en construction — Sous-contrat pour coffrages 
et supports — Surcharge — Sous-traitant non responsable — Code 
civil, art. 1684, 1688, 1065. 

CONCRETE COLUMN CLAMPS (1961) LTD., C. DEMONTI-

GNY INC., 541. 

Testament créant une fiducie emportant conversion en 
espèces nonobstant les pouvoirs de différer cette conversion — 
Fiducie visant tous les biens de la succession y compris les biens 
improductifs — Obligation pour le fiduciaire d'agir avec impar-
tialité entre l'usufruitier viager et les appelés — L'usufruitier 
viager est en droit de recevoir un revenu spéculatif basé sur la 
valeur des biens. 

PUBLIC TRUSTEE C. LAUER, 781. 

IMMEUBLE 

Le document constitue-t-il une option d'achat ou une 
convention de vente et d'achat? — Aucune réciprocité d'obliga-
tions — Application de la règle contre la pérennité des droits 
contingents — L'acquéreur a-t-il le droit d'exiger l'exécution 
même de l'engagement du vendeur même si les droits sur le 
terrain créés par l'entente peuvent être attribués au-delà de la 
«perpetuity period»? 

POLITZER C. METROPOLITAN HomEs Lm., 363. 

IMMIGRATION 

Ordre d'expulsion — Pouvoir discrétionnaire de la Com-
mission d'appel de l'immigration de surseoir l'exécution de 
l'ordonnance — Privation de ce pouvoir en certains cas par dépôt 
de certificat signé par Ministre et solliciteur général invoquant 
l'intérêt national — Personne objet de l'ordonnance a-t-elle le 
droit d'être entendue avant la production du certificat? — 
Est-elle privée de son droit à l'égalité devant la loi par produc-
tion de ce certificat? — Est-elle sujette à la détention, l'empri-
sonnement ou l'exil arbitraire? — Loi sur la Commission d'appel 
de l'immigration, S.R.C. 1970, c. I-2, art. 15, 21 — Déclaration 
canadienne des droits, art. lb), 2a), 2e). 

PRATA C. MINISTRE DE LA MAIN-D'ŒUVRE ET DE L'IMMI-
GRATION, 376. 

LOIS 

1. Interprétation — L'augmentation proposée des taux doit 
être déposée et publiée 30 jours avant son entrée en vigueur — 
Pouvoir de la Commission canadienne des transports de réduire 
l'augmentation proposée des taux et de retarder la date d'entrée 
en vigueur — Pouvoir de la Commission canadienne des trans-
ports de proroger le délai d'avis après la date d'entrée en 
vigueur — Ordonnance déclarée invalide par la Cour, ultra vires 
ab initio — Loi sur les chemins de fer, S.R.C. 1970, c. R-2, art. 
275(2)(4) — Loi nationale sur les transports, S.R.C. 1970, c. 10 
(2° supp.), art. 64(5). 

C.P. LIÉE C. GOUVERNEMENT DE L'ALBERTA et al., 815. 

2. Interprétation — Ambiguïté — Historique de la législation 
— Annulation de réduction de peine par révocation de libération 
conditionnelle — Loi sur les pénitenciers, 1960-61 (Can.), art. 
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22, 25 — Loi sur la libération conditionnelle de détenus, 1958 
(Can.), art. 2, 16, 18. 

MARCOTTE C. LE SOUS-PROCUREUR GÉNÉRAL DU 

CANADA et al., 108. 

LOIS 
1.—Acte de l'Amérique du Nord britannique, 1867, 

art. 91(24) 

	

	  170 
Voir: DROIT CONSTITUTIONNEL 

2.—Code criminel, S.R.C. 1970, c. C-34, art. 465 c), 
543, 608.2 

	

	13 
Voir: DROIT CRIMINEL 

3.—Code criminel, S.R.C. 1970, c. C-34, art. 688 	 39 
Voir: DROIT CRIMINEL 

4.—Code criminel, S.R.C. 1970, c. C-34, art. 159(8), 
160 	  89 

Voir: DROIT CRIMINEL 

5.—Code criminel, art. 234, 662.1 	  162 
Voir: DROIT CRIMINEL 

6.—Code criminel, S.R.C. 1970, c. C-34, art. 423(1)d) 219 
Voir: EXTRADITION 

7.—Code criminel, S.R.C. 1970, c. C-34, art. 251(1), 
(4), 45, 613(4)b) 603, 605 	  616 

Voir: DROIT CRIMINEL 

8.—Code criminel, art. 3(4) 	  786 
Voir: DROIT CRIMINEL 

9.—Code de la route du Québec, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 231, 
art. 40, 45 

	

	  152 
Voir: VÉHICULE AUTOMOBILE 

10.—Déclaration canadienne des droits, S.R.C. 1970, 
App. III, art lb) 	  170 

Voir: DROIT CONSTITUTIONNEL 

11.—Déclaration canadienne des droits, S.R.C. 1970, 
App. III, art. lb), 2a), 2e) 	  376 

Voir: IMMIGRATION 

12.—Dependant's Relief Act, R.S.S. 1965, c. 128, art. 
14, 15, 16 	  353. 

Voir: EXÉCUTEURS ET ADMINISTRATEURS 

13.—Fishermen's Assistance and Polluters' Liability 
Act, 1970 (Man.), c. 32 (Statuts revisés mis à jour F100) 477 

Voir: DROIT CONSTITUTIONNEL 

14.—Highway Improvement Act, R.S.O. 1960, art. 
33(1) 	  595 

Voir: ROUTES 

15.—Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 202, art 	 
146(1) 	9 

Voir: ROUTES 

16.—Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 202, art 	 
132(3) 	  225 

Voir: VÉHICULE AUTOMOBILE 

17.—Insurance Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 197, art. 100 	 309 
Voir: ASSURANCE 

LOIS—Suite 

18.—Logging Tax Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 225, art. 2b) . 711 
Voir: TAXATION 

19.—Loi constituant le service de police de la 
Communauté urbaine de Montréal, 1971 (Qué.), c. 93, 
art. 31 	  572 

Voir: POLICE 

20.—Loi d'interprétation, S.R.C. 1970, c. I-23, art. 
37.4 	  426 

Voir: FAILLITE 

21.—Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu, S.R.C. 1952, c. 148, 
art. 11(1)a) 	  245 

Voir: REVENU 

22.—Loi de l'indemnisation des victimes d'accident 
d'automobile, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 232, art. 3 	  152 

Voir: VÉHICULE AUTOMOBILE 

23.—Loi de l'instruction publique, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 235, 
art. 373 	  117 

Voir: TAXATION 

24.—Loi de pharmacie, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 255, art. 21, 
59 	  101 

Voir: MÉDECIN ET CHIRURGIEN 

25.—Loi de police, 1968 (Qué.), c. 17 art. 20 	 572 
Voir: POLICE 

26.—Loi médicale, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 249, art. 59 	 101 
Voir: MÉDECIN ET CHIRURGIEN 

27.—Loi nationale sur les transports, S.R.C. 1970, c. 
N-17 	  751 

Voir: DROIT ADMINISTRATIF 

28.—Loi nationale sur les transports, S.R.C. 1970, c. 
N-17, art. 64(5) 	  

Voir: LOIS 

29.—Loi sur l'aéronautique, S.R.C. 1970, c. A-3, art. 
16, par. (8) 	  

Voir: DROIT ADMINISTRATIF 

30.—Loi sur l'extradition, S.R.C. 1970, c. E-21 	 219 
Voir: EXTRADITION 

31.—Loi sur la Commission d'appel de l'immigration, 
S.R.C. 1970, c. I-2, art. 15, 21 	  376 

Voir: IMMIGRATION 

32.—Loi sur la Cour fédérale, S.R.C. 1970 (2e Supp.), 
c. 10, art. 28 	  453 

Voir: COURS 

33.—Loi sur la Cour fédérale, S.R.C. 1970 (2e Supp.), 
c. 10 	  170 

Voir: TRIBUNAUX 

34.—Loi sur la Cour fédérale, art. 28 	  751 
Voir: DROIT ADMINISTRATIF 

35.—Loi sur la Cour suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, 
art. 71(2) 	33 

Voir: PRATIQUE 

36.—Loi sur la Cour suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, 
art. 47 	  170 

Voir: TRIBUNAUX 
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37.—Loi sur la Cour suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, 
art. 2(1), 38, 41 

	

	  294 
Voir: POURVOI 

38.—Loi sur la Cour suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, 
art. 41 

	

	  783 
Voir: DROIT CRIMINEL 

39.—Loi sur la faillite, S.R.C. 1970, c. B-3, art. 50(5) 	 341 
Voir: CRÉANCIER ET DÉBITEUR 

40.—Loi sur la faillite, S.R.C. 1952, c. 14, art. 64 	 426 
Voir: FAILLITE 

41.—Loi sur la libération conditionnelle de détenus, 
1958 (Can.), c. 38, art. 2, 16, 18 	  108 

Voir: LOIS 

42.—Loi sur le transport aérien, S.R.C. 1970, c. C-14 	 144 
Voir: DOMMAGES 

43.—Loi sur les assurances, 1968 (N.-B.), c. 6, art. 2 	 
Voir: ASSURANCE 

44.—Loi sur les brevets, S.R.C. 1970, c. P-4, art 	 
36(1), 41(1) 

	

	  555 
Voir: BREVETS 

45.—Loi sur les chemins de fer, S.R.C. 1970, c. R-2, 
art. 275(2)(4) 

	

	  815 
Voir: CHEMINS DE FER 

46.—Loi sur les Indiens, S.R.C. 1970, c. I-6, art. 4(3), 
42, 43 

	

	  170 
Voir: DROIT CONSTITUTIONNEL 

47.—Loi sur les marques de commerce, 1952-53 
(Can.), c. 49, art. 2d), 18, 47 	  527 

Voir: MARQUES DE COMMERCE 

48.—Loi sur les pénitenciers, 1960-61 (Can.), c. 53, ss 	 
22, 25 	  108 

Voir: LOIS 

49.—Mechanics' Lien Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 238, art 	 
6, 19(2), 21(1)(6) 	  296 

Voir: PRIVILÈGES DE CONSTRUCTEUR 

50.—Police Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 351, art. 3(3) a), 46, 
47 

	

	  53 
Voir: VÉHICULE AUTOMOBILE POLICE 

51.—Vehicles Act, R.S.S. 1965, c. 377, art. 137(1)a) 	 126 
Voir: VÉHICULE AUTOMOBILE 

MANDAT 

Commission — Action en recouvrement intentée par un 
courtier immobilier contre l'acheteur d'un immeuble — Contra-
diction quant aux faits — Le juge de première instance accepte 
la preuve apportée par la défense — Défendeur chargeant la 
demanderesse de faire une offre — Offre refusée — Action en 
recouvrement d'une commission rejetée. 

GINTER et al. C. OLDFIELD, KIRBY & GARDNER REAL 
ESTATE LTD., 292. 

MARQUES DE COMMERCE 

Enregistrement — Validité — Caractère distinctif — Ces-
sions de la marque du fabricant au cédant, et du cédant au 
propriétaire enregistré — Marque apposée par fabricant sur 
produit assemblée par propriétaire — Entente avec fabricant 
conférant au propriétaire droits exclusifs de distribution du 
produit avec certaines restrictions — La marque cédée n'identi-
fie pas marchandise comme celles du propriétaire cessionnaire 
— Loi sur les marques de commerce, 1952-53 (Can.), c. 49, art. 
2d), 18, 47. 

BRECK'S SPORTING GOODS Co. LTD. c. Magder et al., 
527. 

MÉDECIN ET CHIRURGIEN 

NÉGLIGENCE 

1. Responsabilité de propriétaire — Chute d'un invité en 
béquille sur plaque de glace l'hiver — Escalier extérieur en 
bonne condition — Nettoyage adéquat — Aide refusée par invité 
— Propriétaire non tenu de prévenir toute possibilité d'accident 
— Code civil, art. 1053. 

SWIFT C. MCDOUGALL, 240. 

2. Police — Ministère de la Voirie — Lien de causalité — 
Négligence contributive — Répartition de la responsabilité. 

R. C. COTE, 595. 

3. Accident survenue à un passage à niveau — Enfant qui 
attend à un passage pendant qu'un train de marchandises 
effectue lentement des manoeuvres d'aiguillage — Y avait-il des 
circonstances exceptionnelles demandant à la compagnie de 
chemin de fer de prendre des précautions supplémentaires 
proportionnelles aux risques de danger prévisible? 

PASKIVSKI C. CANADIEN PACIFIC LTÉE, 687. 

POLICE 

1. Obligation de diligence après un accident routier — Obli-
gation statutaire — Omission de prendre les précautions néces-
saires pour avertir les automobilistes du danger — Omission 
d'avoir averti le ministère de la Voirie avec célérité — The 
Police Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 351, art. 3(3)a), 46 et 47. 

O'ROURKE et al. C. SCHACHT, 53. 

2. Rapport à l'effet de dégrader directeur du service de 
police — Normalisation de grade demandée par procureur géné-
ral — Bref d'évocation — Commission, tribunal quasi-judiciaire — 
Règles de justice naturelle — Loi de police, 1968 (Qué.), c. 17, 

Vente de médicament au patient pour durée du traitement 
735 	— Légalité — Loi médicale, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 249, art. 59 — Loi de 

Pharmacie, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 255, art. 21, 59. 

LAPORTE C. COLLÈGE DES PHARMACIENS (QUÉBEC), 101. 
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POLICE—Fin 

art. 20 — Loi constituant le service de police de la Communauté 
urbaine de Montréal, 1971 (Qué.), c. 93, art. 31. 

SAULNIER C. COMMISSION DE POLICE DE QUEBEC, 572. 

POURVOI 

1. Loi sur la Cour suprême donnant à cette Cour le pouvoir 
d'accorder l'autorisation d'interjeter un pourvoi à l'égard de 
tout jugement définitif ou autre de la plus haute cour de dernier 
ressort dans une province — Jugement interlocutoire - Autorisa-
tion d'interjeter un pourvoi est refusée — Loi sur la Cour 
suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, art. 41. 

VANDERLAAN et al. C. EDINBURGH DEVELOPMENTS LTD. 
et al., 294. 

2. Loi sur la Cour suprême donnant à la plus haute cour de 
dernier ressort en une province le pouvoir d'accorder l'autorisa-
tion d'interjeter un pourvoi à la Cour suprême dans le cas d'un 
jugement définitif — Autorisation d'interjeter un pourvoi donné 
à l'égard d'un arrêt qui confirmait une injonction interlocutoire 
— Il ne s'agit pas d'un jugement définitif. La Cour n'avait pas 
juridiction pour accorder l'autorisation — Loi sur la Cour 
suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, art. 2(1) et 38. 

VANDERLAAN et al. C. EDINBURGH DEVELOPMENTS Lm. 
et al., 294. 

PRATIQUE 

Jugement obtenu à la suite d'une action sur privilège de 
constructeur — Sursis d'exécution de jugement jusqu'à conclu-
sion de l'appel accordé par le juge de première instance — Appel 
rejeté — Le sursis d'exécution de jugement demeure jusqu'à 
l'issue du pourvoi devant la Cour suprême du Canada — Autre 
fait de la Cour d'appel non nécessaire — Loi sur la Cour 
suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, s. 71(2). 

FOUNDATION CO. OF CANADA Lm. C. PRINCE ALBERT 
PULP Co. Lm., 33. 

PREUVE 

Membre de la faculté requis de donner son opinion sur un 
collège — Déclaration faite dans un document confidentiel — Le 
conseil d'arbitrage a commis une erreur en droit en considérant 
les déclarations faites par un membre de la faculté comme 
motif de son licenciement. 

SLAVUTYCH C. BAKER et al., 254. 

PRIVILÈGES DE CONSTRUCTEUR 

Contrats abandonnés par l'entrepreneur en faillite — Coût 
pour compléter les travaux dépassant le prix des contrats 
diminué des montants payés en acompte — Somme retenue par 
le propriétaire supérieur à la retenue légale obligatoire — Res-
ponsabilité du propriétaire envers les réclamants de privilèges — 

PRIVILÈGES DE CONSTRUCTEUR—Fin 

Mechanics' Lien Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 238, art. 6, 19(2), 
21(1) et (6). 

NORANDA EXPLORATION CO. LTD. et al. C. SIGURDSON, 
296. 

REDDITION DE COMPTE 

Débat de compte — Le mari est-il tenu à la représentation 
des fruits consommés jusqu'à la dissolution du mariage — Code 
civil, art. 1425, maintenant abrogé. 

MORAND V. PAQUIN, 284. 

RELATIONS DE TRAVAIL 

1. Convention collective — Manque temporaire d'ouvrage — 
Droit de la compagnie de réduire les heures de travail plutôt 
que le nombre des employés — Définition de "mise-à-pied". 

AIR-CARE Lm. C. UNITED STEEL WORKERS OF AMERICA 
et al., 2. 

2. Convention collective — Grève illégale — Fermeture de la 
boulangerie décrétée par la direction — A-t-on mis fin aux 
relations employeur-employé? — L'employeur est-il tenu de 
s'acquitter de l'obligation de payer l'indemnité de cessation 
d'emploi prévue à la convention collective? 

MCGAVIN TOASTMASTER LIMITED C. AINSCOUGH et al., 
718. 

REVENU 

Impôt sur le revenu — Allocation de coût en capital — 
Mines — Galeries créées par extraction du minerai — Réutilisa-
tion ultérieure prévue — Dépenses de construction et prolonge-
ment des galeries non dépenses de capital — Loi de l'impôt sur 
le revenu, S.R.C. 1952, c. 148, art. 11(1)a) — Règlements de 
l'impôt sur le revenu, règle 1100(1)a)(xii), catégorie 12, annexe 
B, par. f). 

DENISON MINES LTD. C. MINISTRE DU REVENU NATIO-
NAL, 245. 

ROUTES 

1. Prescription — Transporteur public — Dommages à la 
cargaison — Collision avec un pont peu élevé — The Highway 
Traffic Act, 1970 R.S.O., c. 202, art. 146(1). 

BRUELL FLOAT SERVICE LTD. C. ONTARIO HYDRO, 9. 

2. Danger précis — Connaissance du danger et signalisation 
de ce dernier — Le ministère de la Voirie a l'obligation de 
remédier au danger ou de signaler sa présence — The Highway 
Improvement Act, R.S.O. 1960, art. 33(1). 

R. C. C®TE„ 595. 



INDEX 	 839 

TAXATION 

1. Evaluation pour taxe scolaire — Machinerie déclarée non 
imposable par une municipalité du territoire scolaire — Base 
d'évaluation pour tout le territoire scolaire — Loi de l'instruc-
tion publique, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 235, art. 373. 

COLT INDUSTRIES (CANADA) LTD. et al. C. COMMISSAI-
RES D'ÉCOLES, 117. 

2. Impôt sur les opérations forestières — Accord prévoyant le 
paiement d'une indemnité en retour d'une cession des droits de 
coupe — Accord signé sous la menace de l'expropriation — Impôt 
prélevé sur la différence entre le montant de l'indemnité reçue 
et le prix payé pour acquérir les droits de coupe — La compa-
gnie est-elle tenue de payer cet impôt? — Logging Tax Act, 
R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 225, art. 2b), modifié par 1969, c. 35, art. 
16(1)6). 

LE MINISTRE DES FINANCES C. KICKING HORSE FOREST 
PRODUCTS LTD., 711. 

TESTAMENTS 

Interprétation — Prohibition d'aliéner ne constitue pas 
nécessairement substitution — Époux ayant part indivise dans 
immeuble — Différence dans le texte des deux testaments 
constituant le même fils légataire de l'immeuble — Code civil, 
art. 968 et suiv., 975. 

O'NEILL et al. C. O'NEILL et al., 588. 

TRIBUNAUX 

Compétence de la Cour suprême du Canada — Loi sur la 
Cour suprême, S.R.C. 1970, c. S-19, art. 47 — Loi sur la Cour 
fédérale, S.R.C. 1970 (2° Supp.), c. 10. 

CANADA (P.G.) et al. V. CANARD, 170. 

VÉHICULE AUTOMOBILE 
1. Accident routier — Obligation statutaire d'un policier 

d'assurer la sécurité du public après un accident antérieur — 
Policier tenu à réparer le préjudice subi — Responsabilité civile 
du Commissaire — The Police Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 351, art. 
3(3)a), 46 et 47. 

O'ROURKE et al. C. SCHACHT, 53. 
2. Négligence — Conducteur d'un camion roulant au milieu 

de la route pour éviter une lisière d'huile fraîche — Omission de 
se ranger devant un véhicule venant en sens inverse parce que le 
camion serait probablement éclaboussé d'huile — La conduc-
trice de la voiture venant en sens inverse braque à droite et 
tombe dans le fossé — Conducteur du camion seul responsable — 
The Vehicles Act, R.S.S. 1965, c. 377, art. 137(1)a). 

JORDAN C. COLEMAN et al., 126. 
3. Accident — Faute — Absence de contrat entre les véhicules 

— Automobiliste arrêtant à l'intersection plutôt qu'au signal 
d'arrêt — Faute non prouvée — Loi de l'indemnisation des 
victimes d'accident d'automobile, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 232, art. 3 — 
Code de la route du Québec, S.R.Q. 1964, c. 231, art. 40, 45. 

DUMESNIL C. SHEEHY, 152. 
4. Négligence grossière — Conducteur très fatigué — Res ipsa 

loquitur — The Highway Traffic Act, R.S.O. 1970, c. 202, art. 
132(3). 

JACKSON C. MILLAR, 225. 
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